



User Manual

Edition January 2014

Copyright © Atos IT Solutions and Services GmbH 2014

Microsoft, MS, MS-DOS and Windows are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

The reproduction, transmission, translation or exploitation of this document or its content is not permitted without express written authority. Offenders will be liable for damages. All rights reserved, including rights created by patent grant or registration of a utility model or design.

Right of technical modification reserved.

Contents

1	Overview	4
2	Introduction	5
3	Description of Use	9
4	TEMPPO Manager	234
5	TEMPPO Administrator	239
6	JUnit	266
7	TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)	285
8	Command Line	291
9	Plug-ins	293
10	Literature	294
11	Terms	295
12	Abbreviations	297
13	Appendix	298
14	Index	310

1 Overview

Managing the test process involves a large number of engineering disciplines like project management, risk management, high and low level design, development, and metrics collection. Normally testers manage their test cases with Word tables or Excel sheets. The main disadvantages are that test cases cannot be maintained easily, groups of test cases cannot be divided flexibly, no statistics can be provided automatically, etc.

TEMPPO (**T**est **E**xecution, **M**anagement, **P**lanning and re**P**orting and **O**rganizer) was developed to make the test process and test management easier and to provide methods for test case design and development as well as test case execution and integration of test automation tools.

TEMPPO consists of

- TEMPPO Test Manager: the test management application
- **TEMPPO Requirement Manager**: the requirement management application
- **TEMPPO Designer**: the application for test case and test data generation
- **TEMPPO Administrator**: the application for meta data maintenance
- **TEMPPO Manager**: the application for database migration

The main parts of **TEMPPO Test Manager** are:

- Editing and administrating automated and manual test cases including version control
- Integration of automated test case execution with WinRunner, SilkTest, TestPartner, QuickTest Professional, Ranorex or any other tool that supports a command line interface
- Flexible manual test case execution (even with unplugged notebooks)
- Professional analysis, statistics and reporting

This manual described the way of working with TEMPPO Test Manager.

2 Introduction

When we talk about testing, we consider a **test case** to be the basic unit of discussion. A test case is defined by:

- 1. a descriptive name (e.g. "Create new customer account")
- 2. a single, well delineated **test goal** (e.g. "create a new customer account in the data base")
- 3. a sequence of **test steps** (e.g. "1. Log in, 2. Open customer creation dialog, ..."),

consisting of instruction, input data and expected result.

Additionally, attributes may be defined for test cases, like

- 1. test situation (does it test a normal operation or an error condition)
- 2. state (is the test case still in work or ready for execution)
- 3. priority (how important is it to execute this test case before the product is released)
- 4. type (manual, i.e. test steps have to be performed by a human operator, or automated)

User Manual
Edition January 2014

The Test Process

All testing activities deal with planning, designing, implementing, executing and managing a sometimes quite big amount of test cases. TEMPPO supports a well-defined approach to these activities. We can distinguish five phases in the test process:



Figure 1 - Test Process with TEMPPO

Test Planning. This phase covers mainly writing the test plan and a project plan, typically in a planning tool like MS project. A test plan template can be found in the TEMPPO installation directory under /doc and it takes into account the following issues:

- test requirements (baselined requirements in TEMPPO Requirement Manager)
- test management (responsibilities, planning and organization, CM, etc.)
- preparations for the test (e.g. setting up the test infrastructure, creating test aids, conventions, etc.)
- tests to be performed (including test goals, end-of-test criteria, test procedures, sequences, etc.)
- test cases
- test documentation
- error reporting procedure

TEMPPO supports the issues test cases (planning, design, implementation, execution) and test documentation (evaluation), i.e. you can refer to TEMPPO in your test plan for these topics.

Although your testing activities just started in the phase of test planning, you might already anticipate the situation as it will be at the beginning of the test case execution or evaluation phase: by that time you will have a lot of test cases. However you have to consider now, how test cases should be designed, to make it easy to

- 1. select a specific subset of your test cases for test execution
- 2. verify the test goals or end-of-test criteria

For this purpose a test case in TEMPPO can have several attributes, which enable flexible filtering and the creation of analysis charts and reports under specific aspects. And you should check during the test design phase whether the attributes provided by default are sufficient. Otherwise, you would define additional ones such that your needs will be fulfilled.

Test design. Test design is either done with TEMPPO Designer (available as Add-on, please refer to chapter 3.3.20.2.9) or with TEMPPO Test Manager. With **TEMPPO Test Manager** you will think about organizing your (future) test cases in some way. Since a simple list of dozens of items is not easy to survey, a hierarchical grouping of test cases seems adequate. TEMPPO supplies the concept of **test packages**, which may contain test cases or, for building up hierarchical structures, again test packages. The whole tree of test packages and test cases is called **test structure**. According to the various implementation levels during a development process - from coding the components and assembling them (integration) to completing the system – the test process has various **test levels**, where you may test the stand-alone components (*module test*), "the growing application" (*integration test*) and finally the complete system (system test). Furthermore your customer might execute an acceptance test for verifying whether the delivered product agrees with the ordered features. You have to decide, how many test structures you want to build: one for all test levels or different ones for different test levels. Especially for the system test, it is highly recommended to build a test structure that closely resembles the structure of chapters in your requirement specification. For that sake, TEMPPO supports the automatic creation of test structures out of RTF-formatted text documents.

Now that you have prepared everything to organize and execute test cases, you are ready to start with their design. During test case design only test case

names, test goals and the links to the requirements are fixed. This is useful, because you will quickly get an overview of the number of test cases and their distribution to test packages. And it is still early enough to set corrective measures if e.g. the number of planned test cases turns out to be way too high (or even too low). For a high rate of error finding it's suggested to make use of well-tried test case design methods like Equivalence Class Partitioning or Boundary Value Analysis (for details refer to /2/).

Test Case Implementation. In this phase, three main tasks have to be accomplished: (i) writing manual test cases (test step definition), (ii) writing automated test cases (test script programming), (iii) implementing test frameworks. Only the first task can be covered by a test management tool like TEMPPO. For test script programming, several tools exist on the market. The role of TEMPPO in this context is to provide a connection between a test case designed within a test package and the implementation of its test steps as a test script on the file system. The implementation of test frameworks is completely outside the scope of TEMPPO.

Test Case Execution. Now you can reap the benefits of hard test case implementation work and you are ready to create collections of test cases for test execution (so called **test suites**) by means of combining the attributes defined above. So the appropriate test cases can be filtered from the pool of all available ones. Therefore the number of test cases of a test suite is always a subset of those of the corresponding test structure. For each test structure you can create as many test suites as you like. E.g. you have the possibility to separate test execution tasks by creating special test suites for each tester. Accordingly it is important to write a good test plan, especially to plan attributes, which are used here (see planning phase). If you recognize in the execution phase, that there is an attribute missing, this will cost some time to add it for *each* test case.

Evaluation. This is the final phase of your test cycle. After executing the tests and recording their results, you will analyze them and provide reports, which illustrate your testing activities and the quality of the tested product. For this reason TEMPPO offers features, which allow the creation of analysis charts and detailed, customizable reports of test structures and test suites.

3 Description of Use

3.1 The Test Process Phases

As stated in the introduction chapter, the whole process of testing software products can be split up into five phases:

- 1. Test Planning
- 2. Test Design
- 3. Test Case Implementation
- 4. Test Case Execution
- 5. Evaluation

The following chapters describe in detail, how the tasks of these phases can be solved more efficiently by using the TEMPPO test management tool. During all chapters a pseudo system test for the MS Windows Notepad application will illustrate the usage of TEMPPO more clearly.

3.1.1 Test Planning

The definition phase covers the tasks of

- Writing the Test Plan
- Writing the Project Plan
- Defining Test Case Attributes
- Baselining / Importing requirements

3.1.1.1 Writing the Test Plan

The test plan is a process document and writing is outside the scope of TEMPPO. However, it's the base document for all test topics during the development process and covers subjects like test requirements, test management, test documentation, test goals, end-of-test criteria, etc. Its contents are obligatory for all members of the test team.

3.1.1.2 Writing the Project Plan

As an output of the test plan a Project Plan (e.g. MS Project) is written that contains tasks for all test activities. Input for the plan is given by the

- general budget for testing activities
- estimated number of test cases to be developed
- number of resources, milestones
- estimated effort of executing a test case
- bug analysis
- regression testing (testing fixed bugs) effort

3.1.1.3 Defining Test Case Attributes

After the implementation phase you will have a lot of test cases (even in small projects) and it's very likely, that you want to have just a few of your test cases bundled for test execution, because

- you don't have the time to execute all of them and therefore you decide to execute the high priority ones only.
- there are several testers, each of which should execute several test cases.

Furthermore we could consider, that you want to get a survey of your test cases or test results under certain criteria. For example it could be interesting for you,

- how many test cases have the implementation state ready (which means, they can be executed).
- how many high priority test cases are failed.

TEMPPO offers features for both situations, namely the filtering of test cases for test execution (see 3.1.4.1) and the creation of analysis charts (see 3.1.5.1). But for being able to use these features, it is indispensable to define attributes. The following test case attributes are predefined in TEMPPO:

- Type (Manual, Automated)
- Situation (Regular, Error)
- Priority (Top, High, Medium, Low)
- State (Designed, In Work, Ready for Review, Ready, Approved)
- Test case type (Verification, Validation)
- Test Level (Module Test, Integration Test, System Test, Acceptance Test, Regression Test)

In most cases the predefined attributes will fulfill your needs and you just have to decide, which ones to use (defined in the test plan). If you cannot come along with them, you have the possibility to define your own ones, so called user defined attributes. For detailed information on how this is done in TEMPPO, see 5.4.4.

3.1.1.4 Baseline / Import Requirements

SiTEMPPO Requirement Manager is used for requirement engineering or for importing and updating your requirements in TEMPPO's database from external tools like DOORS or RequisitePro.

If the requirements are ready for test case creation the requirements are baselined using also the view concept. The requirement engineer defines a filter from requirement attribute (e.g. All requirements that are implemented and of high priority) and freezes that requirements to a baseline.

On the other hand the requirement engineer imports and later updates the requirements from the external tools.

For details refer to **TEMPPO Requirement Manager's User Manual.**

3.1.2 Test Design

Test Design covers the tasks of

- Working with Projects
- Building the Test Structure
- Extending the Test Structure (adding more test packages)
- Designing Test Cases (<u>test case design</u>)

3.1.2.1 Working with Projects

A project is the starting point in TEMPPO and contains one or more test structures. You can either start by creating a new project or opening an existing one. Deleting a project can only be done with the TEMPPO Administrator (see 5).

If you are an advanced user, you can skip this step and directly choose a previously opened test structure in the Test Structure menu (see 3.1.2.2.3).

3.1.2.1.1 Creating a Project

A new project can only be created in TEMPPO Administrator. Log on to TEMPPO Administrator and choose the tab Projects. Then press the button "New". Figure 2 is displayed.

Project properties contains 4 tabs:

- -General
- -Roles
- -Test Case Template
- -Test Result Template

In the tab **"General"** user specifies a unique name, description and the possibility to determine if the testers have to add a mandatory comment for each save operation of a test case.

In the tab **"Roles"** the test manager configures the roles for each tester. If a user has no role in a project, he won't see it.

In the tab **"Test Case Template"** the test manager appoints defines a basic test case. He can configure standard attributes, define mandatory attributes or determines if a test case has to be at least one link to a requirement. If these conditions are not fulfilled the test case cannot be saved. For details see chapter 5.5.1.

In the tab **"Test Result Template"** the test manager configures result attributes for test case. If a tester records a result and a test result template is activated, he has to add a value for the mandatory attribute. For details see chapter 3.3.3.2.

After pressing the button "OK", the user is asked if he wants to assign immediately meta data. If the user presses "Yes", Figure 341 is shown.

📝 Project Properties	×
General 🧕 Roles Test Case template Test Result template	
New Project	
Created: 15.02.2012 12:58:18 Mandatory history comm	ent
Owner: Testmanager	
Type: TEMPPO Project	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Description	
This project is used for user documentation.	
ок	Cancel

Figure 2 - Project Properties – TEMPPO Administrator

3.1.2.1.2Opening an Existing Project

📝 Open Project			×
🔽 Open "Open Test Structure"	dialog immediately		
Name 🔺	Owner	Created	
📝 Demo Notepad	Testmanager	14.02.2012 10:50:01	
🗾 User documentation	Testmanager	14.02.2012 11:08:07	
			-11
	[Open Cancel	

Figure 3 - Open Project

When activating the menu item **Project > Open**, the window **Open Project** (Figure 3) with project **name**, **owner** and **creation date** is displayed.

Exactly one project can be selected and is opened by clicking the **OK** button. The name of the project is shown in the title bar of the main window (see Figure 4)

Cancel closes the window and no project is opened.



Figure 4 - Main Window (project opened)

3.1.2.2 Building the Test Structure

A test structure contains test packages and test cases, which can refer to requirements. This can be established in 2 ways (and/or):

- Referring to (chapters) in documents
- Referring to requirement numbers or names

3.1.2.2.1 Creating a test structure

TEMPPO allows opening only one test structure at a time, which means, that a test structure can only be created, if no other one is already open. Furthermore test structures are related to projects, so the project, which shall own the test structure to be created, must be open too.

3.1.2.2.1.1 Creating an empty test structure

When activating **Test Structure > New... > Empty Test Structure** the window shown in Figure 5 is displayed. You may enter a **name** and a **description**. Also a **test level** has to be related to the new test structure.

Ø	Test Structure Properties		x
	General		
	Name:	Notepad System @ Acceptance Test	
	Owner:	Testmanager Updator:	
	Created:	19.05.2010 14:03:04 Updated:	
	Type:	Test Structure	
	SITEMPPO Designer (IDATG):		
	Test level:	System Test	
	Description:	This test structure	
		OK Cancel]

Figure 5 - Test Structure Properties

By clicking **OK**, Figure 6 is shown. The test structure is opened in the main window. In the title bar of the test structure its name, test level and version are displayed. In the left pane an empty tree is displayed and in the right part the test structure properties are documented.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluat	tion T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp
> Test Structure [Notepad System & Acceptance Test] -	[System Test] - [V1]
Notepad System & Acceptance Test	Notepad System & Acceptan
Ge	neral Plan Requirements
	Name: Notepad System & Acceptance Test
	Owner: Testmanager Updator:
	Created: 15.02.2012 13:26:40 Updated:
	Type: Test Structure
т	EMPPO Designer (IDATG):
	Test level: System Test
	Description: This test structure is used for
	Lock Apply Discard
	<u>9</u> 7

Figure 6 - Empty Test Structure (General)

3.1.2.2.1.2 Creating a test structure based on a requirement structure

This feature allows you to create the same structure like in a requirement structure. For each requirement a test package and a dummy test case is created plus automatic link to the requirement.

When activating **Test Structure > New... > Based on a requirement structure** the window shown in is displayed. All requirement structures are shown which are assigned to the opened project and checked in (see also Figure 7).

D	Select Requirement Str	ructure			×
	Name 🔬	Owner	Created	Туре	Version
	≫ New Requirement Str	atw10905	25.08.2009 10:55:13	Manual	🎾 V1 [version 1]

Figure 7 – Select Requirement Structure

After selecting one requirement structure another window is shown, see Figure 8. You may enter a name and description. Also a test level has to be related to the new test structure.

Test Structure Properties		
General		
Name:	New Requirement Stru	ucture added
Owner:	Testmanager	Updator:
Created:	19.05.2010 14:06:10	Updated:
Туре:	Test Structure	
SITEMPPO Designer (IDATG):		
Test level:	Integration Test	
Description:		
	I	
		OK Cancel

Figure 8 – Test Structure Properties

By clicking **OK**, the test structure is created based on the requirement structure: For each requirement, a test package and a test case is created. Both have a reference to the requirement, described in 3.1.2.3.4. The test structure is opened in the main window, see Figure 9.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Windows Help
Sy Test Structure [Notepad - generated] - [System Test] - [V1]
Image: Second

Figure 9 – Generated Test Structure

3.1.2.2.20pening a Test Structure

Using **Test Structure > Open...** will display the dialog in Figure 10. This menu item is only enabled, if a project is opened. Exactly one item can be selected and will be opened after pressing the button Open.

Additionally a test structure version (see 3.3.10) can be selected, if a non latest **version** should be loaded.

Name 🔺	Owner	Created	Test Level	Version
Link test cases to requirem	Testmanager	14.02.2012 11:14:48	System Test	V1 [editable version]
Notepad – generated	Testmanager	15.02.2012 15:07:22	System Test	V2 [editable version]
Notepad System & Accepta	Testmanager	15.02.2012 13:26:40	System Test	V1 [] V1.1.1 [editable version] V2 [editable version]

Figure 10 - Open Test Structure

3.1.2.2.3 Reopen a test structure

A faster way to open a test structure (and the according project as well) is to use **Test Structure > Reopen**, which displays the 4 last opened test structures. It will only be enabled, if no project is open.



Figure 11 - Reopen a test structure

3.1.2.2.4 Importing an RTF-formatted document

TEMPPO is able to generate test packages and test cases from headings within RTF-formatted documents. You can either generate a basic test structure containing just test packages and no test cases or even a complete test structure with test cases.

3.1.2.2.4.1 Generating a basic test structure

If requirements are specified in Software Requirement Specification (SRS) documents, they can be used to generate a basic test structure. The obvious advantage of creating a test structure according to the structure of a base document is that the test case-to-requirement relation is evident every time. This enables the test responsible to easily verify, which requirements are covered by test cases.

W Mic	rosoft V	√ord	- sw	regsp.rtf																		_ 🗆 🗡
1 🖉	atei <u>B</u> e	arbeit	en i	<u>A</u> nsicht <u>E</u>	infüger	n Fori	na <u>t</u> Eg	<u>(</u> tras	Tabelle	e <u>F</u> er	nster	2										_ 8 ×
	🕈 🏟	€	♣	+ -	1	2 3	34	5	6 7	Alle	=	A <u>A</u> 🗉]									
Über	schrift 4		۲	Arial			v 11		• F	ĸ	U		Ē		jΞ	∃ ∰	€≡	•	2	A	-	
	¢	1⊣	Int	roduc	tion	P																
2						••						Seiter	wechs	el								
	¢	2⊣	Ge	eneral	des	criț	otior	1 of	the	pro	odu	I Ct¶ …Seiter	werhs	:el								
6	¢	3⊣	De	tailed	des	scri	otio	n of	the	ree	aui	redi	oroc	luci	t fea	ture	s¶					
R			¢	3.1+S	cope	ofc	lelive	erv¶														
ABC			¢	3.2+S	eque	nce	s (sc	ena	rios)	ofi	nte	ractio	ns v	vith	the e	nviro	onmo	ent¶	i			
			¢	3.3 → U	ser g	oals	ſ															
ð			ۍ	3.4 → R	iupe	red f	unct	ions	oft	he p	orod	luct¶										
₽ <u>₽</u>				¢	3.4.1	→File	Adn	ninis	tratio	n¶												
8						3.4	1.1.1-	•Nev	1													
1						3.4	1.1.2-	•Ope	n¶													
						3.4	4.1.3- 1 1 4	•Sav	ell													
K J +				д	2 1 2	3.4 . Edi	4.1.4- • Eure		 nc¶													
C≍ ÷				v	3.4.Z	ום⊒+ ענ	191	l Ind	ns∥ o¶													
۵.					_	34	12.1- 122-	Cut	σ _Π													
~						3.4	1.2.3-	ιΟαι ιΟορ	″ √¶													
						3.4	1.2.4-	Pas	te¶													
H2						3.4	1.2.5-	•Dele	ete¶													
						3.4	1.2.6-	•Sele	ect All	¶												
						3.4	1.2.7-	•Tim	e/Dat	:e¶												
==						3.4	1.2.8-	•Wor	rd Wr	ap¶												
==				-	~ ~ ~	3.4	1.2.9-	Set	Font													
				¢	3.4.3	+Pri	ntru	nctio	ons¶													
- 🚸 -						- J.4 - J.4	+.3.I- 1 9 9	•Pag . Drin	e ວຍເ #¶	.up¶												
				ሌ	344	میں محمد	t.a.z- arch l	Fund	tion	e¶												_
						34	1.4.1-	Ren	lace	- II 												*
ų,						3.4	1.4.2-	Finc	IN IN													<u> </u>
			•	1 -	3 A E	U -			ä													
S 11	Ab 3		11	/19 B	ei 5,5 d	m Ze	9 5	Sp 13	i I	1AK	ÄND	ERW	ĴB]						

Figure 12 – Sample Software Requirements Specification for MS Notepad

Before starting the import process, an empty test structure (see 3.1.2.2.1) has to be created. Then the menu item **Test Structure > Import Document Structure** has to be activated, which will cause the Import Settings dialog to be displayed.

Import Settings
Document: C:ttemp\Pflichtenheft_Notepad.rtf Image: Generate document path
Heading Mask: Heading #
Limit test structure depth to: 4
Generate numbers and start with:
Generate test packages
Generate test cases
limport test goal
Fixed test step columns
A test case is identified by a table with following headers:
Evnerted
Ignore empty table rows (do not create empty test steps)
User defined test step columns
Comment
Expected image
OK Cancel

Figure 13 - Import Settings for generating a basic test structure

For the generation of a basic test structure following settings can be applied:

- **Generate document path**: The path of the imported document is set for each test package in tab **Details**.
- **Heading mask**: Specify the name of the heading (if it is different to the standard one: [Heading | Überschrift] 1,2,3,...). It is initialized with "*Heading* #".
- **Limit test structure depth to**: If checked, limits the imported document hierarchy to the specified level. This means, that headings with a level higher than the specified will not be imported.
- **Generate numbers and start with**: If checked, a hierarchical numbering will be generated for each test package and added as a prefix to its name (like heading numbering in MS Word).
- Generate test packages: If checked, test packages will be generated. Test packages will be generated from document paragraphs, which are formatted with the standard formats "Heading 1" "Heading 9" (or "Überschrift 1" "Überschrift 9" in German documents). Their hierarchical position in the test structure will correspond to the heading level in the document.
- **Import description**: enabled, if checkbox '"**Generate Test Packages**" is checked. If checked, the test package description will be imported. Tables and graphics are not considered.

All other settings are not relevant when generating a basic test structure and will be explained later.

Importing the document displayed in Figure 12 with settings displayed in Figure 13 will generate the test structure displayed in Figure 14.

(i) Please consider that importing is applied on the selected test package!

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	<u>v</u> aluation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp
System - [Notepad - RTF Import] - [System -	Test] - [V1]
Notepad - RTF Import 1. Introduction 2. General description of the product 3. Detailed description of the required p 3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of inter 3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4.1. Size Administration 3.4.1. Size Administration 3.4.1.3. Save 3.4.1.3. Save	File Administration - tp401 Locked by Testmanager General Attributes Details Requirements History Plan Document: C:temp\Pflichtenheft_Notepad.rtf Name: Chapter: Precondition: Path Precondition
	Detailed description of Required functions of t Postcondition:
	Path Postcondition Detailed description of Image: Constraint of the second
	Lock Apply Discard
	2 7

Figure 14 - Generated basic test structure

Headings above level 3 (e.g. 3.4.1.1 - 3.4.1.4) were not imported, due to limiting the test structure depth to 3. A numbering was added to the test package names, because of checking *generate numbers and start with.* A reference to the imported document was applied to all generated test packages, which made them be displayed with the yellow folder icon.

TEMPPO generates test packages for the whole document structure. Of course you'll never create any test case for chapters like Introduction, Annex ... so you should delete the corresponding test packages.

Such an initial test structure may be extended by adding more test packages, if necessary. For each package that is a leave in the test structure tree, at least one test case should be defined.

(i) TIP for an import: If an rtf-document gets very huge (e.g. embedded graphical objects: 50MB), TEMPPO is not able to read in such a huge WORD document. Replace all the graphical objects with "nothing" and the import of this rtf document will work!

3.1.2.2.4.2 Generating a complete test structure

In certain circumstances you may have already written down your test cases in a document (e.g. test case specification). This happens if you don't have a "test

management tool" other than a text editor. When the time has come to introduce TEMPPO to your project, obviously you don't want to create the test structure and test cases in your document a second time. For this purpose TEMPPO offers an additional importing feature that enables the generation of test cases.

When generating test cases from RTF documents, you mix the phases design and implementation. It's very important to consider this fact, because you still have to carry out tasks from the design phase after test case import!



Figure 15 – Test Case Specification

Like described in 3.1.2.2.4.1 open the **Import Settings** by activating **Test Structure > Import Document Structure**.

Timport Settings
Document: C:ttemp\Pflichtenheft_Notepad_withTC.rtf
Heading Mask: Heading #
Generate numbers and start with:
Generate test packages
✓ Generate test cases ✓ Import test goal Fixed test step columns A test case is identified by a table with following headers: ✓ Instruction: Action Input: ✓ Expected: Output ✓ Ignore empty table rows (do not create empty test steps) User defined test step columns ✓ Comment ✓ Action image
OK Cancel

Figure 16 - Import Settings for generating a complete test structure

Additionally to the settings illustrated in Figure 13 you can do the following:

Generate test cases: If checked, test cases will be generated. Test cases will be generated from document paragraphs, which are formatted with the standard formats "Heading 1" – "Heading 9" (or "Überschrift 1" – "Überschrift 9" in German documents). Additionally the paragraph after the heading which should become a test case must contain a test step table. This table must contain columns which describe instruction, input and expected output of test steps. These columns may have arbitrary headers, like "Action" for the instruction (see Figure 16). Furthermore you can suppress the generation of empty test steps in case of empty table rows by checking "ignore empty table rows".

The hierarchical position of the test case in the test structure will correspond to the heading level in the document.

- **Import test goal**: Enabled, if checkbox "**Generate test cases**" is checked. If checked, all the text after the heading until the next heading will be imported to the test case's **Test goal**.
- User defined test step columns: Since TEMPPO offers not only the 3 standard columns, user can define additional columns that are also used for import.

Importing the document displayed in Figure 15 with settings displayed in Figure 16 will generate the test structure displayed in Figure 17.

Please consider that importing is applied on the selected test package!



Figure 17 – Generated complete test structure

Test cases were generated due to the tables in the chapters 2.1.1.1 and 2.1.1.2. The data in column **Action** was used for test step **Instruction**, the data in column **Output** for **Expected**, the image for column **Action Image**. The column **Comments** was ignored. A reference to the imported document was applied to all generated test packages, which made them be displayed with the yellow folder icon.

This test structure can still be extended by adding more test packages or test cases, if necessary. For each package that is a leaf in the test structure tree, at least one test case should be defined.

(i) Of course, TEMPPO is not able to verify the correctness of your document. So please ensure, that you've done the correct settings and your document fulfills the needs for importing, such as headings formatted with "Heading 1" – "Heading 9" (or "Überschrift 1" – "Überschrift 9" in German documents) and proper test step tables.

3.1.2.2.5Import Test Cases from Excel

TEMPPO is able to import test cases from an Excel list. First you have to save your Excel file as csv and select a test package.

1	Import Structure	From RTF Document
	Update •	From XML Document
2	Export Structure	From Ranorex Document
	Apply requirement updates	From CSV

Figure 18 - Menu - Import Test Cases from Excel

When activating the menu Test Structure -> Import Structure -> From CSV Figure 19 is displayed. In that dialog you can assign Excel to TEMPPO attributes.

Mandatory attributes: Name and ID have to be assigned, otherwise an import cannot be performed.

Fixed attributes like test goal, state...: can be assigned to any Excel attributes. Attribute values have to be identically. If they're different, the default value will be set.

If the **owner** is selected and the user is not available in TEMPPO, the current importer is used as owner.

Test step: The 3 attributes Instruction, Expected, Input can be assigned with exactly 1 step.

User Defined Attributes: Any UDAs can be assigned with Excel attributes. If a value to be assigned doesn't exist, it will be created automatically.

To assign the attributes above, please click the checkbox.

ttribute and as:	sign one	by selecting an it	tem from the com	oobox.	inding checkbox of all TEM	FFO
lemark: New at est Case	tribute vi	alues of UDAs w	ill be automatically	created in TEMPPO	's meta data	
Name:*	Title		▼]	User defined ID	* [ID	•
V Test	Goal:	Path	•]	Owner:	Created By	•
Preco	ondition:		*	Planned to	ester:	¥
Posto	ondition:		*	Planned to	est execution time:	¥
Priori	ty:	Priority	•	Validation	Verification	•
State	: [*	Regular/E	irror	•
est Step						
Instru	iction:		Ŧ	Input:		•
Expe	cted:		*			
ttributes						
Versi	on [tem Type	•			

Figure 19 - Assign Excel to TEMPPO attributes

After pressing OK the user is informed about errors of the import.

I test cases were importiert. For the following test cases, a problem was detected and	l a default value was us	ed
Test Case	TEMPPO Attribute	Error
Example Testcase Document Properties Example Testcase Document Properties	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Create Devroom for Product Create Devroom for Product	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Assign Members to Devroom Assign Members to Devroom	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Assign Group to DevRoom Assign Group to DevRoom	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
import Masterplant Incremental Import Masterplant Incremental	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Import Masterplant Incremental Import Masterplant Incremental	Priority:	Normal is an invalid value for this field so the default value was used.

Figure 20 - CSV Import Result

3.1.2.2.6Build manually

If the requirement specification is not imported to TEMPPO, the user has to create test packages manually (activate the menu item **Edit > New > Test Package**). It is strongly recommended for each test package to specify a document chapter, where the respective requirement is defined. Therefore in the next chapters only a test structure based on a requirement specification is considered.

3.1.2.2.7XML Import

TEMPPO is able to generate a whole test structure with test packages, test cases, metadata (requirements, attributes) and all the information of test cases etc. by importing an XML file.

The XML-Import can be started by pressing the menu item **Test Structure > Import Structure > From XML Document...**. This menu item is only enabled when a test structure is open and selected or a test package is selected.

The XML-document to be imported can then be chosen in a file dialog. The XML document is checked against the DTD (Document Type Definition) (See 13.1). Your XML file has to have the first line

<!DOCTYPE TEMPPO_EXCHANGE SYSTEM "Test-structure.dtd" > whereas Teststructure.dtd is the DTD file (See 13.1). Otherwise the import will fail.

(i) In your TEMPPO installation directory there is a subdirectory XML, where you'll find the DTD (Test-structure.dtd) together with an XML example.

Before the importing process can start, you have to decide if the requirement assignments should be imported, too.

XML Imp	orter 🔀
?	Do you want to import the requirment assignments too ?
	<u>Yes</u> <u>N</u> o

Figure 21 – Import with requirement assignments

Before you can import a test structure with requirement assignments correctly, the requirement structure already has to exist in the database. Import the requirement structure before.

Stages of Import:

(i)

- 1. Parsing and validation of XML-file, checking of semantics and creation of new objects
- 2. Saving new or modified objects to the database
- 3. Reloading of the whole test structure from database

Each stage has its own progress bar.

When the import is finished, the following information dialog comes up:

SITEMPPO		×
?	Test structure successfully imported.	
	OK I	

The imported test packages and cases are placed below the selected node.

Errors	Reaction
XML file doesn't match DTD schema.	Nothing is written to the database, a message is shown and the project status before the import is loaded from database.
Required attribute exists but is zero- length.	a) Test case name, Test package name: a name is generated automatically ("New Test Package", "New Test Case"). No Message is shown.
	b) User defined attributes: Message is shown. The user can continue the import (invalid element ignored) or stop import and return to the previous state.
The requirement structure can't be found in the database.	A message is shown. The name of the requirement structure which released an error is written in the error file. If the requirement structure doesn't exist in the database, you have to import it before importing the test structure. If the name of the requirement structure isn't defined correctly in the input file, you have to correct it. Now try it again.
A requirement can't be found in database.	A message is shown (see Figure 22). The user defined id of the requirement which released an error is written in the error file. Please correct the name in the input file and then try it again.

3.1.2.2.7.1 Possible errors during the import:

Figure 22 – Information message – error with requirements

3.1.2.2.7.2 Special cases

Special cases	Reaction
Name of test package, test case or user-defined ID exists.	Unique name is generated like "1", " 2". No message is shown. (See Figure 23)
Test level, category, attribute name or values doesn't exist.	Object is created. No message is shown.
Attribute name exists, new value in XML file	Value is added to attribute



Figure 23 – name of test package already exists

3.1.2.2.7.3 Transfer data via XML

Import the test structure from one project P1 to another project p2, same database

- Export the test structure via XML (TEMPPO Test Manager)
- Assign the needed requirement structures of the test structures to the project P2 (TEMPPO Administrator)
- Import the test structure via XML (TEMPPO Test Manager)

Import the test structure from one database d1(export) to another database d2 (project p2, import)

- Export the test structure via XML (TEMPPO Test Manager)
- Export the requirement structures in the needed (!!) version (TEMPPO Requirement Manager)

- Import the requirement structures via XML into database d2 (TEMPPO Requirement Manager)
- Check In the requirement structures (TEMPPO Requirement Manager)
- Assign the needed requirement structures of the test structures to the project P2 (TEMPPO Administrator)
- Import the test structure via XML (TEMPPO Test Manager)

3.1.2.3 Extending the Test Structure

Sometimes quite a few chapters in the requirement specification contain a lot of information. During test structure generation you will of course get just one test package for each such chapter. The problem is, that you will have to create a lot of test cases for these test packages (due to the abundant information), which will lead to a badly arranged test structure. The solution is to split them up. Such a refinement can be done by adding further test packages.

3.1.2.3.1Adding Test Packages

New sub-test packages can be added by activating the menu item **Edit > New > Test Package** or **Edit > New > Test Package before**. A new child node is created below or before the selected one and a new name has to be entered. The default name is **New Test Package**.

Let's consider the following example:

The test structure is created manually. The requirement **Search Functions** consists of 2 sub-requirements, each described in exactly one chapter. Therefore, 2 sub-test packages are necessary that refer to these requirements.



Figure 24 - Create new test package

In Figure 25 such a test package **Search Functions** was identified and split up into **Search Up** and **Search Down**. A reference to the document containing the

description (e.g. a use case document) of the respective requirement was applied to the new test packages, which made them be displayed colored yellow.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	_	
<u>Project</u> Test Structure <u>E</u> dit Test Execution Evalu	uation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
➢Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import] - [System Test	st] - [V1]	۶×
Image: Notepad - RTF Import Image: Notepa	General Attributes Details Requirements History Plan	_
Sequences (scenarios) of interactions w	with the environment	
→ → → 3.3. User goals	Name: Search Functions	-
⊕	Owner: Testmanager Updator: Testmanager	
3.4.3. Print Functions 3.4.4. Search Functions	Created: 15.02.2012 16:28:59 Updated: 16.02.2012 08:37:12 Type: Test Package	
3.4.4.2. Search down	Number of TCs: 0	
.5. External interfaces of the product	Test Category:]] [
	Description:	
	Lock Apply Discard	x
		2 7

Figure 25 - Adding new test packages that are directly related to requirements

Now consider the opposite situation:

The functionalities for searching up or down are not described in separate chapters of the requirements specification.

In this case, you also have the possibility to "split" the requirement (e.g. "Search Functions") into two test packages. This is the suggested way to create a "good" test structure. Test packages will keep their red color, since there is no chapter that is directly related to them.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evalu	ation Tools Windows Help	
Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [Sy	stem Test] - [V1]	_ 8 ×
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1. Introduction 2. General description of the product 3. Detailed description of the required produ- 3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of interactive 3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4. Required functions 3.4.2. Edit Functions 3.4.4. Search Functions 3.4.4.2. Replace 3.4.4.1. Find 3.4.4.2. Replace 3.4.4.1. Product features required 4. Specifications for project management 6. Obligations of the client 6. Literature	Search Functions Locked by Testmanager General Attributes Details Requirement Document: C:temp\Pflichtenheft_Note Name: Chapter: 34.4 Precondition: Path Detailed description of the requir Required functions of the product Search Functions Postcondition:	s - tp554 nts History Plan pad_withTC.rtf Precondition file test.btt opened v
- Z /. Annex	Path	Postcondition
	Detailed description of the requi	A
	Required functions of the product	
	Search Functions	file test.txt closed
()		Lock Apply Discard

Figure 26 – Adding new test packages without direct relations to document chapter

(i) You can add test packages that do or don't refer to requirements in random hierarchical order. It is up to you, if the structure remains comprehensible.

When activating the tab **Details**, a special **precondition** and a special **postcondition** for this test package may be specified. This is suggested, if all contained test cases have a common "setup" phase.

In the table below all preconditions and postconditions of the parent test packages are listed.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	ation Tools Windows Help	<u>_ ×</u>
Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [Sy	stem Test] - [V1]	_ & ×
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1. Introduction 2. General description of the product 3. Detailed description of the required produ 3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of interactic 3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4.2. Edit Functions 3.4.3. Print Functions	General Attributes Details Requireme Document: C:ttemp\Pflichtenheft_Note Name: Chapter: Precondition:	nts History Plan
🖻 📹 3.4.4. Search Functions	Path	Precondition
3.4.4.2. Replace	Search Functions	file test.txt opened
3.4.5. Help System 3.5. External interfaces of the product 0.3.6. Other product features required	Find	find dialog open
	Postcondition:	
25	Path	Postcondition
	Detailed description of the requi	<u> </u>
	Required functions of the product	
	Search Functions	file test.txt closed
	Find	
		Lock Apply Discard
		- 27

Figure 27 – Precondition and Postcondition for test package

3.1.2.3.2Categorizing Test Packages

After creating a test package you can select a **test category**. Here all categories are available that are connected to the current test level (for further details of test categories see 5.4.3.). These are some typical test categories:

- Task-Based Test
- GUI-Layout Test
- State-Based Test

In Figure 28 the test category **Task-Based Test**" was assigned to a test package. After assigning a test category the node looks like **B**.

At first sight assigning test categories seems to be superfluous, because they have no further influence on the test structure than being a flag for a test package. A closer inspection makes their purpose plain. Firstly, you can obtain statistical information from your test structure or test suite, like:

- "How many functional or performance test cases does my test structure contain?"
- "How many functional test cases are failed?"

For further details on analyses see 3.1.5.1.

Secondly, you are able to create test suites based on test categories, e.g. one for all functional test cases (see 3.1.4.1).



Figure 28 - Assigning a test category

When creating test packages, you may determine appropriate test categories. Normally you start test case design with the chapter **Required functions of the product** that should cover all task-based tests.

In further steps of test case design, you identify GUI-layout tests in chapter "External interfaces – User interface". Such test packages should be given the test category **GUI-layout test**. They pursue the aim to cover tests for input syntax, check completeness of GUI-masks etc.

Furthermore you categorize the test packages below "Other product features required" that cover mandatory quality attributes like performance, mass or stress test.

The result of the steps above is displayed in Figure 29.



Figure 29 – Complete Test Structure with Test Categories

3.1.2.3.3Referring to documents

Test packages can refer to a chapter in some document (e.g. Software Requirement Specification), which usually defines some requirement(s).

A test package is initially colored red, but as soon as it refers to a document, its color changes to yellow. This happens, if at least one of the following attributes is specified:

- document file
- document name
- chapter

eMPPU - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad] of Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evalu	ation Tools Windows Hein	
est Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [Sy	/stem Test] - [V1]	
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1. Introduction 2. General description of the product 3. Detailed description of the required pr 3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of inters 3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4.1. File Administration 3.4.2. Edit Functions	General Attributes Details Requirements Document: Name: Chapter: Precondition:	}
⊕	Path	Precondition
3.4.4.2. Replace	Detailed description of the requir	*
- 2.4.5. Help System	External interfaces of the product	
🖹 🔄 3.5. External interfaces of the produ		
🖻 🖶 3.5.1. User interfaces	Editor Done	
3.5.1.1. Editor Pane 3.5.1.2. Search Dialog 3.5.2. System interfaces B- 3.6. Other product features required	Postcondition:	<u></u>
3.6.1. Performance	Path	Postcondition
	Detailed description of the requi	
	External interfaces of the product	
- 📑 3.6.5. Portability		
	Editar Dava	
- 📇 3.6.7. Maintenance		<u> </u>
		1 1
		and the second sec

Figure 30 - Test package without reference to a document, name or chapter

First of all you create a new test structure or open an existing one. After this the test structure can be filled in the following ways:

- Importing an RTF-formatted document
- Import Test Cases from Excel

TEMPPO is able to import test cases from an Excel list. First you have to save your Excel file as csv and select a test package.

1	Import Structure	From RTF Document
1	Update Export Structure	From XML Document
1	Apply requirement updates	From CSV

Figure 18 - Menu - Import Test Cases from Excel

When activating the menu Test Structure -> Import Structure -> From CSV Figure 19 is displayed. In that dialog you can assign Excel to TEMPPO attributes.

Mandatory attributes: Name and ID have to be assigned, otherwise an import cannot be performed.

Fixed attributes like test goal, state...: can be assigned to any Excel attributes. Attribute values have to be identically. If they're different, the default value will be set.

If the **owner** is selected and the user is not available in TEMPPO, the current importer is used as owner.

Test step: The 3 attributes Instruction, Expected, Input can be assigned with exactly 1 step.

User Defined Attributes: Any UDAs can be assigned with Excel attributes. If a value to be assigned doesn't exist, it will be created automatically.

To assign the attributes above, please click the checkbox.

ttribute and assign one by selecting	an item from the combobox.	
est Case	as will be automatically created in TEMP	PO's meta data
Name:* Title	▼ User defined	ID.* ID 💌
V Test Goal: Path	▼ Owner	Created By
Precondition:	• Planne	ed tester:
Postcondition:	* Planne	ed test execution time:
Priority: Priority	Validat	ion/Verification
State:	▼ Regula	ar/Error 💌
est Step		
Instruction:	▼ Input:	•
Expected:	*	
ttributes		
Version Item Type	•	

Figure 19 - Assign Excel to TEMPPO attributes

After pressing OK the user is informed about errors of the import.

It test cases were importiert. For the following test cases, a problem was detected and	l a default value was us	ed
Test Case	TEMPPO Attribute	Error
Example Testcase Document Properties Example Testcase Document Properties	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Create Devroom for Product Create Devroom for Product	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Assign Members to Devroom Assign Members to Devroom	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Assign Group to DevRoom Assign Group to DevRoom	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Import Masterplant Incremental Import Masterplant Incremental	Owner:	No user with the name nn1 exists.
Import Masterplant Incremental Import Masterplant Incremental	Priority:	Normal is an invalid value for this field so the default value was used.

Figure 20 - CSV Import Result

- Build manually
- XML-Import

3.1.2.3.4Referring to requirement numbers or names

On the other hand there is the possibility to link requirements to test packages (as well as test cases). In some projects it might be necessary to track the requirements or rather their IDs from defining until executing test cases.

But before linking those to test packages it might be necessary to define and assign them for the project (see chapter 5.4.6).

In TEMPPO Requirement Manager you can create requirement structures. In TEMPPO Administrator requirement structures are assigned to TEMPPO projects. After that you can link the test cases to these requirements.

You have two possibilities to relate requirements to test packages or cases: **Add** and/or **inherit from parent test packages**.

3.1.2.3.4.1 Add Requirement

For adding a requirement you press the button **Add requirement** and Figure 31 is shown. At first you have to select the **requirement structure** and its requirements are listed. The requirement selection dialog allows you to link one, more or all requirement(s) to the package.

If more requirements are linked, they will be displayed in alphabetical order. All requirements selected before are shown grey.

Requirement selection				×
Notepad Find:	×]	ID ▲ Name	Requirement Structure
ID 🔺	Name			
👫 Func_req22	Sequences (scenarios) of interac	1 –		
🏟 Func_req23	User goals			
🏟 Func_req24	Required functions of the product			
🏟 Func_req25	File Administration	•		
🏟 Func_req26	New			
🏟 Func_req27	Open			
🏟 Func_req28	Save			
🕅 Func rea29	Exit	J		
				OK Cancel

Figure 31 - Requirements: Selection

After pressing **OK** the requirement(s) are linked to the test package.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Note	pad]				<u>- 0 ×</u>
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution	i E <u>v</u> aluation T <u>o</u> ols <u>)</u>	<u>M</u> indows <u>H</u> elp			
❤ Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with T	Cs] - [System Test] - [V1]			- 8 X
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs Notepad - RTF Import with TCs C. General description of the prc 3. Detailed description of the prc 3. Detailed description of the rec 3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) 3.3. User goals 3.3. User goals 3.4.1. File Administration 3.4.2. Edit Functions 1.3.4.2. Edit Functions 1.3.4.4.2. Replace 3.4.5. Help System 3.5. External interfaces of th 3.5.1.2. Search Diak 3.5.1.2. Search Diak 3.5.2. System interfaces 1.1. Editor Pane 3.5.1.2. Search Diak 3.5.2. System interfaces	General Attributes	Pane - tp663 Details Requirements His It ID Requirement Name Required functions of the product	story Plan Plan Requirement Structure Notepad	Version V1 [All implemented requirements]	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
					<u>9</u> 7

Figure 32 - Test package - linked requirements

The button **Add requirement** is always enabled, if the test package is locked.

3.1.2.3.4.2 Delete requirement

If a test package is locked and at least one linked requirement is selected, the button **Delete requirement** is enabled.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notep	ad]						- U ×
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution	E <u>v</u> aluatio	n T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indo	ws <u>H</u> elp				
Sector Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System Test] - [V1]							
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1. Introduction 2. General description of the prc 3. Detailed description of the rec 3. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios)	Ceneral Attributes Details Requirements History Plan						
3.3. User goals	Path	Requirement ID	Requirement Name	Requirement Structure	Version		
		Func_req24	Required functions of the product	Notepad	V1 [All implemented requirements]		
3.4.4. Search Functions	—	Func_req26	New	Notepad	V1 [All implemented requirements]	Delete	requirement
3.4.5. Help System	•	Func_req28	Save	Notepad	V1 [All implemented requirements]	T	
3.5.1.2. Search Diak	,			Loc	k Apply	Discard	
							S 1

Figure 33 - Test Package - Delete requirement(s)

3.1.2.3.4.3 Inherit from parent test packages

If you associate requirements to test packages, we assume that the sub test package or children nodes may also refer to the same requirement. It would be very time consuming to relate always the same requirements as many times as
you have children test packages. Therefore TEMPPO offers you to inherit requirements from parent test packages.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]									
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution	E <u>v</u> aluation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp								
STest Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TC:	s] - [System Test] - [V1]				- 8 ×				
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1. Introduction 2. General description of the prc 3. Detailed description of the prc 3. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios)	General Attributes Details Requireme	563 ents History Pla	n]	-					
- 🛄 3.3. User goals	Path	Requirement ID	Requirement Name	Requirement Structure					
34. Required functions of th 3.4. Required functions 3.4.2. Edit Functions 3.4.2. Edit Functions	External interfaces of the product	Func_req24	Required functions of the product	Notepad					
3.4.4. Search Functions 3.4.4.1. Find 3.4.4.2. Replace 3.4.5. Help System	Editor Pane	Func_req22	Sequences (scenarios) of interactions with the environment	Notepad					
3.5. External interfaces of th 3.5.1. User interfaces 3.5.1. Editor Pane 3.5.1.2. Search Diak 3.5.2. System interfaces	.								
Solar System menaces V				Lock Apply	Discard				
					S a				

Figure 34 – Requirement: Inherited

Figure 34 shows the selected test package **3.5.1.1 Editor Pane** and an activated checkbox **inherit**, which has the effect, that the test package inherits the requirements from its parent or its parent **External interfaces of the product**. Inherited requirements are displayed disabled so no selecting or deleting can be done. The inherited requirements are grouped by the test package names and within each group by the requirements in alphabetical order. After that the enabled – not inherited – but also alphabetically ordered part is displayed (see Figure 34). If a user defines one requirement for two different levels within the inheritance tree both requirements are displayed within the requirement list. It is not possible to define one requirement more than once within one inheritance level.

You might ask about the reason of linking the requirements to the tests and test packages. The answer is quite easy and will improve your whole process. On one hand you can analyze your test structure regarding to test coverage (e.g. how many test cases are related to the each requirement) and on the other hand you can make a statement about the quality of the SUT (e.g. how many bugs are related to a special requirement?).

3.1.2.3.4.4 Apply requirement updates

Requirement structures and test structures live in fully separated environments. So it can be that a latest test structure version works with a not latest requirement structure version. This is always the case after an update of a requirement structure. An automatic update of the current test structure version to the latest requirement structure version may not be wanted by the user and would cause problems anyway, e.g. if more than one user work on this version. It's only possible to update to the latest requirement structure version.

So an update to the latest requirement structure version can only be made manually initiated. Open the TEMPPO test management environment and open the project and test structure. The menu item **Test**

Structure > Apply requirement updates... is only enabled if the main/LATEST version of the test structure is opened. By Pressing the menu **Test Structure > Apply requirement updates...** Figure 35 is shown. All assigned and updated requirement structures are shown in the list. Select the requirement structures when the assignments should be updated. By clicking **Apply**, the test structure is checked in and then propagation is executed.

Apply requirement upda	ites			1
Name	Owner	Created	Туре	Version
learning Project - Use	Testmanager	14.02.2012 14:54:30	IBM Requisite	V4 []
			Apply	Cancel

Figure 35 – Apply requirement updates

All links are changed to the new version of the requirements: Deleted requirements are unassigned from the test cases.

Updating a requirement structure does not cause that a task list is created, a task list (3.3.18) is created internally if the test structure is updated to the latest requirement structure version.

If there is no implicit propagation to the latest requirement structure version, Figure 36 is shown.

TEMPPO Note							
(į)	There are no newer (checked-in) requirement structures versions!						
	ОК						

Figure 36 – No requirement structure for updating

3.1.2.4 Designing Test Cases

Since there is an integration of TEMPPO Test Manager and TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) there are 2 possibilities for designing test cases. On the one hand the traditional one with TEMPPO Test Manager and the one with TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) (see chapter 7).

The last step of the design phase is the design of test cases. Note that test case design does not include the implementation (writing test steps or test scripts). The conceptual work of test case design has to be accomplished outside of TEMPPO. E.g. if you apply an equivalence partitioning technique, you will usually create a table with classes of input values and test cases covering different combinations of those. A unique name must be applied to the resulting test cases and they are ready to be inserted into the appropriate test package in the TEMPPO test structure.

With the menu item **Test Structure > New > Test Case**, a new test case is created below the selected test package. This menu item is enabled, if a test structure is opened and a test package is selected. It can be activated by the menu or a right mouse click.

A new child node \square (manual) or \square (automated) is created below the selected one and a new name has to be entered. The default name is **New Test Case**.

The test cases tab consists of the tabs **General**, **Attributes**, **Preconditions** and **Postconditions**, **Test Steps**, **Automated**, **Requirements**, **History**,

Execution History and **Plan**. During design you just use General, Attributes Requirements and Plan.

General:

You have to specify the **name**, **type** (either **manual** or **automated**) and the **goal** of the test case. The test case developer should be able to implement test steps based on this description. The automation tab is only enabled, in case of automated test cases.

Furthermore a **User Defined ID** is suggested by the system that can be edited. In many projects, requirements get unique IDs. It is recommended to use these IDs (plus some serial number) as test case IDs.

J You can search for test cases by ID or name by with TEMPPO's find feature.



Figure 37 – Manual Test Case, General

j) It is also possible to design automated test cases without having any script.

Attributes

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	Tasla Windows Hale			
Figlet: Test Structure Foil Test Execution Egalation	100is <u>miniows n</u> ep est]-[V1]		- 8 ×	
No filter	New (file opened, no changes) - tc536 Locked by Testmanager Automation General Attributes Inherit attributes Regular Regular Validation Validation State: In Work			
3.5. External interfaces of the product 3.5.1. User interfaces 3.5.1. Lettor Pane 3.5.1.2. Search Dialog 3.5.2. System interfaces 3.6.0. ther product features required 3.6.1. Performance 3.6.2. Resource 3.6.3. Security 3.6.4. Safety	Additional Test Levels	Attribute Values Attribute Values Milestone - M1 Platform - Windows 7 64 bit Regressiontest - yes Test location - Offshore	Discard	
			21	

Figure 38 – Attributes

You have to specify, whether the test case is a **regular** one or tests an **error condition**. A regular test case pursues the aim to test a specified requirement. On the other hand an error case checks the application if e.g. a faulty input is rejected.

You may also select the purpose of test case execution: for **verification** or **validation**.

Furthermore you can select a value of the attribute **priority**, which mirrors the topic of risk oriented testing. Each test case is given a priority attribute, which reflects the test case's importance either from the customer point of view or from the complexity point of view. It is important to note that risk oriented testing is no substitute for a complete run of all test cases. However it should be taken as a guideline telling which tests have to be performed prior to shipment even when time is short. After shipment the remaining tests still have to be carried out.

Suggestion for the definition of test case priority attributes (usually they should be defined in the test plan):

- Top: test case whose main concern is testing functionality. If this functionality is not implemented properly the customer may be disgruntled. Interrelationship to other functionality is very strong, such that system behavior may be concerned.
- High: test case whose main concern is testing an often used functionality.
 Therefore misbehavior would be immediately evident. Strong interrelationship to other functionality or complex algorithm involved.
- Medium: test case whose main concern is testing functionality that is not frequently used or not in the main interest of the customer. Therefore misbehavior is more likely to be "accepted" by the customer. Weak interrelationship to other functionality
- Low: test case whose main concern is testing functionality that is not frequently used or not in the main interest of the customer. Therefore misbehavior is more likely to be "accepted" by the customer. Complexity of underlying SW is small.

You also have to specify a working or development state for the test case. This is necessary for reporting, analysis, and creating test suites. For example, the test manager wants to create a test suite only with test cases that are ready for test execution. If such an attribute does not exist or has a wrong value, the test execution will fail. The working state consists of the following values:

- Designed: The test case is created and the data in the tabs General, Attributes, Requirements are specified. This state was introduced for the purpose of supporting test teams that separate the work into designing and implementing test cases. This is the default state of a newly created test case.
- In Work: The test case already contains test steps, but is not ready implemented
- Ready for Review: This state is not obligatory; it can be used for projects, where test specification reviews are mandatory.
- Ready: The test case is already implemented, reviewed and can be used for test case execution.
- Approved: This state is optional and mostly used for automated test cases. Sometimes a test case is ready for execution, but fails due to errors in the test script. If a test case is executable as specified in its test steps / test script, it gets the state approved.

Additional test levels can be defined for using one test structure for different test levels. For example if you have a test case for the standard test level "System Test" (defined when creating the test structure, see 3.1.2.2.1) and want to use the test case in a test execution for an acceptance test, you can achieve this by adding **Acceptance Test** as an additional test level for this test case. For the execution of the acceptance test, you would then specify this test level as a filter criterion for your test suite (see 3.1.4.1).

Additionally you can set attributes specified in the **Meta Data Editor** (see **5.3**), which can also be used for creating a test suite.

By specifying a sub-string in the **Find** field you can easily navigate to the attribute(s) to be related to the test case. Multi select allows "moving" several values to the right part of the window (see Figure 39).



Figure 39 – Attribute value selection

The test case design and the test design phase as a whole are finished when the test cases are designed and obsolete test packages are removed (do not forget to do that).

The tasks of designing and developing (implementation phase) test cases are sometimes overlapping, especially if designer and implementer is the same person or you import a complete test structure (see 3.1.2.2.4.2).

• Requirement

Optionally you can use the feature requirement tracking. As described in chapter 3.1.2.3.4, requirements can be associated to test packages and inherited. Of course it is possible to inherit requirements from test packages and/or relate requirements to test cases.

Figure 40 shows the test case **3.4.1.1.1 New (file opened, no changes)**, which inherits from the test package 3.4 Required functions of the product the requirements ComponentA R3 inherits from the test package **3.4.1.1 New** the requirement ComponentA R2 has a link to the requirement ComponentC R3



Figure 40 - Requirement: Test case

You might ask for reason of the requirement tracking. On one hand you can analyze the test structure and on the other hand such a requirement analysis can be applied to the test suite. For test structures you can create an analysis about the quality of your test coverage. For test suites the quality of requirements can be visualized.

For detailed description of requirement analysis see chapter 3.1.5.2.

• History

History entries are generated for test packages and test cases. The entries are shown in an own tab **History**. Only the entries until the last check-in are shown. If an item is merged, the history is deleted and one new entry is made (e.g.: All, V35.1.1., merge).

The tab has the following columns:

- Date: changed on
- **User**: changed by
- **Property**: possible values: Requirement, UDA, Test Level, Steps, General, All (if item is merged)
- Name: Name of Property; when Property is in (General, Steps), name
 "-", when Property is (All), name is Version of merged Item
- Action: possible values: add, change, delete, merge
- **Info**: additional comment for changing reason

• Version: of history entry. With button **Display all entries** all history entries of all test structures can be loaded

Action is depending on Property (possible values):

- **Requirement**: add, delete
- **UDA**: add, delete
- Test Level: add, delete
- **Steps**: add, change, delete
- **General**: change; **Info** = Name, User defined ID or Test goal
- All: merge

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]									
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Windows Help									
Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [S	ystem Test] - [V4]								
H I I H 🗘 🔣 No filter 🗸									
UNotepad - RTF Import with TCs LOGIN - TC/42_1									
E 2. TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Tas	in the second second second second								
2.1. Use case "File->New"	General Attributes Test	Steps Automatio	Requirements H	story Plan Execution	History				
3. General description of the production	1 🖸 🖬								
3.1. Relationship with earlier and	Date	User	Property	Info	Action	Comment	Version		
- 3.3. Purpose of the product	20.02.2012 10:26:57	Testmanager	General		change		V3		
3.4. Delimitation and embedding	20.02.2012 10:26:57	Testmanager	Steps		add		V3		
3.5. Overview of the required tu	20.02.2012 10:53:04	Testmanager	Steps		change		V3		
3.7 Hardware and software sor	20.02.2012 10:56:57	Testmanager	General	12	change	12	V3		
3.8. Product users	07.03.2012 14:51:01	Testmanager	UDA	Platform - Windows 7	add		V3		
4.1. Scope of delivery	07.03.2012 14:51:01	Testmanager	Test Level	Acceptance Test	add		V3		
4.2. Sequences (scenarios) of i	07.03.2012 14:51:01	Testmanager	Test Level	System Test	add		V3		
4.3. User goals	07.03.2012 14:51:01	Testmanager	UDA	Device type - CAR-F-004	add		V3		
- 4.4.1. File Administration 4.4.1.1. Windows Login	07.03.2012 14:51:01	Testmanager	Attribute	Type: Validation -> Verification	change		V3		
1 44.1.1 Login 	07.03.2012 14:51:01	Testmanager	UDA	Regressiontest - no	add		V3		
	07.03.2012 14:51:01	Testmanager	UDA	Test location - Offshore	add		V3		
4.4.2. Edit Functions	07.03.2012 14:51:01	Testmanager	UDA	Milestone - M1	add		V3		
🕀 🚞 4.4.3. Print Functions	07.05.2013 13:46:22	Testmanager	General	User defined ID	change		V4		
4.4.4. Search Functions	07.05.2013 13:46:38	Testmanager	General	Name	change		V4		
4.4.5. Help System	07.05.2013 13:46:38	Testmanager	General	Test Goal	change	lj.	V4		
4.5. External interfaces of the pi							1		
Specifications for project manage	•			III.					
6. Obligations of the client	L								
- 🔁 7. Literature 👻							Annhu Dispared		
						Lock			
							87		

Figure 41 – History tab

Within current test structure version, the number of history entries loaded (x) can be configured in settings (see 3.3.20.2.4). If there are more history entries, the button **Search next** is still enabled und the next x lines could be loaded.

It also possible to view all history entries of all test structure versions by pressing the button **Display all entries** and save them to CSV file.

The additional comment (**``Info**") can be configured to be mandatory in **TEMPPO Administrator -> Project properties**. For each project this mandatory flag can be set.

If the mandatory flag is set on, a history comment is popped up on apply (Figure 42).

×
OK

Figure 42 – History comment

• Plan

Since testing is a project within a development project TEMPPO offers possibilities for test project planning. TEMPPO do not wants to replace project planning tools like MS Project but presents features for resource and test execution planning.

Test case designers or test managers have also the task to estimate the execution effort for each test case as well as to appoint a tester (who executes it). The default value for the **Planned Tester** is the creator.

(i) Do not estimate the effort for the test cases which passes! Most time testers spend their time on bug analysis! Therefore add that time also to the estimation.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]									
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Windows Help									
STest Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System Test] - [V1]	٩×								
Image: Second state of the product Image: State o									
S.5.2. System interfaces	rd								
	2 1								

Figure 43 - Tab Plan

For each test case the execution effort is entered in the format of hours and/or minutes. On test package and test structure level the values are displayed accumulated. After designing all test cases test manager clicks on test structure root, select tab **Plan** and gets immediately the estimated execution effort for all test cases (see Figure 44).



Figure 44 - Planned execution time for whole test structure

Additionally the designer enters a **Planned tester** for each test case who is planned to execute it. For **Analysis** of test structure **Planned Tester** is available to view whereas the analysis of different **Test execution efforts** makes no sense.



Figure 45 - Chart "Planned Tester"

Planned test execution time and Planned Tester can also be used for test structure filter and the logical expression of a test suite.

Planned test execution time and **Planned Tester** can also be reported for test cases, whereas for test packages only **Planned test execution time** is applicable.

Both attributes can be viewed in test suite, that offers the possibility to enter an **Actual test execution time** which can be applied to latest version as a learned lesson. For details see chapter 3.1.4.1.5.2.

• Execution History

This tab shows only executed results over the complete version tree of the test structure. For each test suite the following attributes are displayed:

Test Suite, Version, Result, Bug ID, Tester, Tested

_										
	General	Attributes T	est Steps	A Automation	Requirements	History P	lan	Execution History		
	01 🔯									
	Test Su	ite 🗠	Vers	ion	Result		В	ug ID	Tester	Tested
	Test ob XYZ RO	ject Version 203	V1.1 versi	.1 [editable on]	passed				Testmanager	16.02.2012 15:11:02
	Test ob XYZ. R	ject Version C01	V1.1 versi	.1 [editable on]	failed		5	626	Testmanager	16.02.2012 15:11:23
	Versior object f	n 2 of Test RC01	V2.1 versi	.1 [editable on]	failed		5	793	Testmanager	07.03.2012 14:59:15

Figure 46 - Execution History (only executed results)

If you want see all information for this test case over all test suites, you have to activate the button **Load Information for not executed test cases** (see Figure 47).

Genera	Attributes Te	est Steps 🖪 Automation	Requirements History P	an Execution History						
01	01 12									
Test	Load Informa	ation for not executed Test Ca	Result	Bug ID	Tester	Tested				
Test XYZ	object Version RC03	V1.1.1 [editable version]	passed		Testmanager	16.02.2012 15:11:02				
Test XYZ	object Version RC03 COPY	V1.1.1 [editable version]	not executed							
Test XYZ.	object Version RC01	V1.1.1 [editable version]	failed	5626	Testmanager	16.02.2012 15:11:23				
Vers obje	ion 2 of Test ct RC01	V2.1.1 [editable version]	failed	5793	Testmanager	07.03.2012 14:59:15				

Figure 47 - Execution History (executed and not executed)

3.1.3 Test Case Implementation

The implementation phase covers the tasks of

- Implementing Test Steps
- Reworking the Test Structure
- implementing test frameworks (not covered by TEMPPO Test Manager)
- implementing test scripts for automation (not covered by TEMPPO Test Manager)

3.1.3.1 Implementing Test Steps

You continue your work in the tabs Test Steps and Automation of the test case tab.

3.1.3.1.1 Preconditions and Postconditions

You have to consider, which preconditions must be fulfilled before the test steps can be carried out during test execution. You specify this textually in the precondition table of the tab test steps. Additionally you can see the preconditions defined in the parent-test packages.

Additionally, you can also define postconditions, which mut be fulfilled after test steps execution. You specify this textually in the postcondition table of the tab test steps. You can see the postconditions defined in the parent-test packages, too.

t Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] -	[System Te	st] - [V1]			
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs		ase sensitive	e - tc681		
 2. General description of the product 3. Detailed description of the required pr 	General	Attributes Test Steps	Automation Red	quirements History Plan Execution History	
- 3.1. Scope of delivery		Path		Precondition	
3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of inter	Det	ailed description of the requ	ired product featu		-
3.3. User goals	Dec	wired functions of the nrodu	uct		
3.4. Required functions of the produ		urea functions of the produ		file test bit energed	_
State Administration	Sea	rcn Functions		fine testatiopened	_
- 3.4.1.1. New	E Find	8		tind dialog open	_
M 34112 New file open	E Find	qup			
	M Cas	se sensitive		Cursor at EOF	
	-				1
🕀 📃 3.4.3. Print Functions					5 M
E 3.4.4. Search Functions	Nr.	Instruction	Input	Expected	
🖻 🔁 3.4.4.1. Find	€ 1	Enter search phrase	Hugo		<u>, † </u>
		Snecify search	un		
3.4.41111. Case se	ම ई 2	direction	ap.		<u>+</u>
2.4.4.1.1.2. QUICK TE	26 0	Droce Cooreb	-	Search phrace found and marked	
3442 Penlace	000	Drees Cooreb		Cearch phrase found and marked	
345 Help System	in the second	Fless Sealth		Search phrase lound and marked	r St
3.5. External interfaces of the produ	9 8 4				
🗄 🦰 3.5.1. User interfaces					8
3.5.1.1. Editor Pane	• 5	Press Search		Message "Hugo not found"	8
3.5.2. System interfaces					R
🗄 😋 3.6. Other product features required	21				×
3.6.1. Performance				×	
3.6.2. Resource	-				
3.5.3. Security		Dath		Postcondition	
3.6.5 Portskilitu		Faul	A	Fostcondition	
- A 366 Reliability	Det	alled description of the requ	urea product featu		
	Red	quired functions of the produ	uct		
	Search Functions			file test.txt closed	
	Eind Find				
4. Specifications for project management	Eine Fine	dup			
5. Obligations of the client	M Cas	se sensitive			
🚞 6. Literature		1000000000			<u> </u>
📃 7. Annex	1				7
625				Lock Apply	Disca

Figure 48 - Test Case, Preconditions and Postconditions

3.1.3.1.2Test Steps

The test step editor provides functions for creating, moving, cutting, copying and pasting one or more test steps within a test case or test structure wide to other test cases. The column layout can be individually adapted by moving and hiding columns.

When pressing P+ (**show preconditions**) above the Test steps-Edit-Buttons all the preconditions from the test case and the test packages above are displayed (see Figure 49). If the first test steps of a test case are implemented, the preconditions can be hidden by pressing P-.

When pressing **P**+ (**show preconditions**) beneath the Test steps-Edit-Buttons all the postconditions from the test case and the test packages beneath are displayed (see Figure 49). If the first test steps of a test case are implemented, the postconditions can be hided by pressing **P**-.

When pressing \Box , a new line for **Instruction**, **Input** and **Expected** (result) is inserted. The cell height is always 3 lines during editing. When pressing Apply the cell height is adapted to the whole line. The default cell height can be

configured in TEMPPO settings.

The test step number is created automatically.

With the two arrows (\downarrow, \uparrow) you can reorder steps by selecting a step and pressing the proper button. The test step numbers are updated automatically. Test steps can be deleted by selecting them and pressing \times .

0	General 🗍	Attributes Test Steps 🔝	Automation Requirem	ents History Plan Execution History	
	Nr.	Instruction	Input	Expected	P+
	Э ≋ 1	Enter search phrase	Hugo	A	
	ð 2	Specify search direction	up		1
	€ ≸3	Press Search		Search phrase found and marked	+
	• 4	Press Search		Search phrase found and marked	
	€ 5	Press Search		Message "Hugo not found"	
	[e l
					*
					e <u>s</u>
					Ē.
					X
					P+

Figure 49 - Test Case, Test Step Editor

With **cut**, **copy**, **paste** you copy or move one or more test steps (via multi select) either within a test case or to other test cases in the test structure. By selecting a test step and pressing the corresponding button you apply these functions.

Even the short cuts <Ctrl>+X, <Ctrl>+C, and <Ctrl>+V are supported.

If the mouse cursor is located over the column headings, a menu for **hiding** and **displaying** the columns is popped up when pressing the right mouse button.



Figure 50 – Context menu for column hiding/displaying

3.1.3.1.3 Test Creation Assistant

When pressing a for double clicking a test step Figure 51 is displayed. The Test Creation Assistant can especially be used to edit text fields with a long description and navigate up and down between the test steps.

If the last step is opened and you press **Navigate down test step**, a new step is inserted.

📝 Test crea	tion assistant	×
€ Details		
Instruction	Navigation main-menü.	•
Input	test data	
Expected	Menü-points "Destination memory" "Destination entry" "Last destination" "POIs" are offered. SK3 =" TMC" SK4 =" Mode" SK5 =" Settings"	
Image:		
	ок	Cancel

Figure 51 - Test Creation Assistant

3.1.3.1.4Keyboard edit mode

Quick editing and navigation in the test step table is supported by:

start/stop edit mode of current table cell
stop edit mode, but changes are lost!
jump to next/previous table cell (only if not in edit mode)
move one test step down / up
leave test step table

So if you want to edit test steps without using the mouse, you have to proceed like this:

<f2></f2>	start edit mode
	Make your changes in the current cell
<f2></f2>	stop edit mode
<tab></tab>	jump to next table cell
<f2></f2>	start edit mode
	and so on

3.1.3.1.5 Adding more columns

For creating test steps you have 3 fixed columns: **Instruction**, **Input** and **Expected Result**. In test projects it is sometimes necessary to add more columns for test steps.



Figure 52 - New Columns in test steps

There are 2 possibilities to add columns:

- TEMPPO Administrator, Tab Metadata, User Fields (See chapter 5.4.7. You can create new Uploads directly in the database. You have the possibility to define text or image columns.
- 2. Import XML

On the other hand you may have an XML file (created by TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) or yourself), that you want to import to TEMPPO. If you follow the DTD (can be found in your XML directory), you can import test cases with additional columns.

The definitions in tab **MetaData**, **User Fields** (TEMPPO Administrator application) are automatically created.

An example of such an XML file is shown below:

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="ISO-8859-2"?>
<!DOCTYPE TEMPPO_EXCHANGE SYSTEM "Test-structure.dtd">
<TEMPPO_EXCHANGE>
<TP name="HumanResources">
<TP name="Search_T1" test_goal="Transition Test" situation="Error">
<STEP instruction="" input="" expected="">
<USR_FIELD name="Actor" value="Sean Connery"/>
<USR_FIELD name="ExecutionRequest" value=""/>
<USR_FIELD name="Data" value="line 1
line 2
line 3"/>
</STEP>
```



3.1.3.1.6Upload / paste / reference images

For adding pictures to such a column you have to select such a cell, press the right mouse button and activate the menu **Upload**, **Delete**, **Paste**, **Copy** or **Reference**.



Figure 53 - Upload new picture

- **Upload**: If you activate the menu **Upload** a file open dialog opens where you can select a file (jpg), which is uploaded to the database.
- **Delete**: If you activate the menu Delete, the image is deleted.
- **Paste**: If you activate the menu **Paste**, the screen shot which is currently in the clipboard is "pasted" to the cell and also uploaded to the database. The menu is disabled, if the clipboard is empty.
- **Copy**: If you activate the menu Copy, the current selected image is copied to the clipboard.
- **Reference**: If you activate the menu **Reference**, you can create a reference to an image, which is already uploaded in the database. This function is used, if you have to paste/upload the same image several times.

lings
User Interface Tree Tree Test Step Cells Analysis Newsboard Test Suite Database Test Automation Silk Test WinRunner Universal File Universal File Universal File Universal Socket Quick Test Pro Test Partner UUnit TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Ranorex Commands New Command Java32 Change Management Bugzilla ClearQuest Telelogic Change JIRA

Figure 54 - TEMPPO Test Manager settings

For very large images a viewer is integrated, which can be started by double clicking the image: See Figure 55.

📝 Image	viewer	×
C Scroll	🖲 Scale + -	
	Unbenannt - Editor	
	Datei Bearbeiten Format Ansicht ?	
	Neu Strg+N ▲	
	Speichern Strg+S	
	Speichern unter	
	Seite einrichten	
	Drucken Strg+P	
	Beenden	
	T F	

Figure 55 - External viewer

3.1.3.1.7 Automated test cases

TEMPPO can also be used to administrate automated test cases. Here test steps are stored as a test script on the files system. On one hand TEMPPO supports the tools **WinRunner** and **QuickTest Professional** of HP (http://<u>www.hp.com</u>), **SilkTest** of Microfocus and **TestPartner** of Microfocus

(<u>http://www.microfocus.com</u>), **Ranorex** (<u>http://www.ranorex.com</u>) and on the other hand there is a **Universal Automation Interface (UAI)**.

With the context menu item **Test automated test case** (or **Edit > Test automated test case**) the test case can be started on trial, i.e. the result of test case isn't saved. The result is shown in a message box.

3.1.3.1.7.1 WinRunner, QuickTest Professional, SilkTest, TestPartner

For specifying an automated test case it is necessary to enter the tool (WinRunner, QuickTest Professional, SilkTest, TestPartner), the file name of the script plus path (a file selection dialog is opened). The text field **Script Data** is used for passing parameters to the automation script. Currently, only SilkTest uses this feature.



Figure 56 - Automated (WinRunner) test case

The paths to the WinRunner, QuickTest Professional, SilkTest, TestPartner executables are specified in TEMPPO settings(see Figure 57).

ttings		
	WinRunner	
🖃 Uşer Interface		-
Tree	Application Path: C:\Program Files\Mercury Interactive\WinRunner\arch\wrun.exe	- 🗃
····Test Step Cells		
Analysis	Temporary Path: C:\Program Files\Mercury Interactive\WinRunnertmp	- 🗃
Newsboard		
·····Test Suite	Result Path: C:\Program Files\Mercury Interactive\WinRunner\tmp	- 🚅
Database		
In lest Automation	Result Viewer: C1Program Files\UltraEdit\uedit32 exe	- <u>a</u> l
	Arguments: _t "< <testfile>>" -hatch on -run -create text_report on -speed fast</testfile>	
Universal File	-run minimized	
Oniversal Socket		
Test Partner		
- Unit		
TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)		
Ranorex	F	
Commands	I delete temporary test automation files	
New Command		
Java32		
⊡∽Change Management		
Bugzilla		
Clear Quest		
····Telelogic Change		
^L JIRA		
	Restore	Defaults
	ОК	Cancel

Figure 57 - TEMPPO - Test Automation Settings

Set WinRunner mode to "Verify". The default mode of WinRunner is "Debug", which means that no log file is written. TEMPPO needs a log file to parse and extract the results. If no log file is written, TEMPPO shows an error message:

C:\Temp\TEMPPO18072005112300\db\crvx.asc (Das System kann den angegebenen Pfad nicht finden)

TestPartner

(i)

(i)

For specifying an automated test case it is necessary to select the tool TestPartner. The text field Script Data is used for entering the script name. The convention is <script name>@<Testpartner project name>.

The text field file is obsolete.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Wir	indows Help
TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Win Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] - [System Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with Test] - [V1] Image: Test Structure [Notepad - RTF]	Indows Help
3.4.4.1.1. Find up 3.4.4.1.1. Case sensitive 3.4.4.1.1.2. WinRunner - CheckStat 3.4.4.1.1.3. QuickTestPro Test case 3.4.4.1.1.4. Test Partner - Test case 3.4.4.1.1.5. UAI	Lock: Apply Discard

Figure 58 - Create TestPartner test case

3.1.3.1.7.2 Ranorex

For importing test cases and folders from Ranorex you have to select test structure root, activate the menu item **Import structure -> from Ranorex Document...** and a open file dialog is displayed where you can select a Ranorex project file (.csproj). After pressing the button open the file is imported and test cases and test packages are generated. The following table shows the mapping:

Ranorex	ТЕМРРО
Test suite	Test structure or part of it
Test case	Test Case
Folder	Test package
Record	None

Table 1 - Ranorex - TEMPPO mapping

After importing a Ranorex test suite, you can add, change, or delete test cases in the Ranorex studio. When finished you can update the existing TEMPPO test cases and test packages by activating the menu item **Update structure -> from Ranorex Document...**, selecting the corresponding .**csproj** file and pressing the button **Open**. If the update process is started, in Figure 59 you can select the properties (attributes, attribute inheritance, requirements, requirement inheritance) of test packages and test cases which should be retained after the update.

You can import test cases, add meta information in TEMPPO, change them in Ranorex, update them in TEMPPO and keep the meta information.



Figure 59 - Retaining existing test case / package attributes

3.1.3.1.7.3 Universal Automation Interface (UAI) - File based

The purpose of this interface is to provide a possibility to manage test cases of proprietary automation tools in TEMPPO. By this, TEMPPO is independent from an automation tool. You can create an automated test case by specifying any executable (.exe, .bat, .pl,....) and the parameters, which are handed over to the executable for test case execution. The test case result is written to a file, TEMPPO parses this file and sets the result within the test suite appropriately.

First of all you have to set some general parameters in the TEMPPO settings.

For creating such a test case you have to select **UniversalFile** (Figure 60 - Test case settings for Universal Automation Interface) and fill in the following data. In the text field File you have to enter the path (without drive letter, see chapter 3.3.20.2.7.2) and the file name of the executable (or you use the File Chooser). In the **Additional Arguments** field you can specify command line parameters, which will be added to the arguments specified in the Administrator and passed to the executable during test case execution.

In the **Command Line Preview** the whole list of parameters is displayed.



Figure 60 - Test case settings for Universal Automation Interface Results of test cases:

All executables must create an output that contains at least this line:

result=(passed|failed|blocked|not implemented|on hold|not completed)

Additionally, TEMPPO can store an execution summary (stored to the text field **Result Output)**, if the following block is written by the test executable to the output:

summary_begin

•	•	•	•		
•	•	•	•		
-	•	•	•		

summary_end

After execution of each test case, TEMPPO Test Manager will read the corresponding result file. If the whole file is missing or if the result line is missing (e.g. due to a crash of the test script), the result of the corresponding test case will be set to "**blocked**".

Otherwise, the result of the test cases' execution will be set to the value found in the result file. If the summary block is present, TEMPPO Test Manager will store the information found between start and end line in its data base.

Getting the output:

By default, TEMPPO Test Manager expects the result output to be produced on the stdout stream of the executable. For an executable

MyExec.exe

TEMPPO generates a result file named

yyyymmdd_hhmm_MyExec.out

and redirects stdout of *MyExec.exe* to this file. The prefix is a date-time stamp that denotes the time when the test executable was started. This file is stored in the directory specified as **Result Path** in the TEMPPO Test Manager settings – Test Automation.

Similar to result files, TEMPPO Test Manager expects error output of test executables to be printed to stderr. TEMPPO Test Manager will generate an error file

yyyymmdd_hhmm_MyExec.err

and redirect stderr of *MyExec.exe* to this file. The file is put to the directory specified as Error Path in the TEMPPO settings – Test Automation.

If the script does not write to stdout or stderr, the user can use the built-in variables <<ResultFile>> and <<ErrorFile>> in the arguments settings. The variables will be replaced at execution time by the paths specified in the TEMPPO Test Manager **Settings** plus the file names generated by TEMPPO Test Manager (see above).

(i)

If the executable expects the file name for the result or error output as command argument, they have to be specified by using <<ResultFile>> or <<ErrorFile>>, otherwise TEMPPO cannot read them.

Example:

All scripts should take the command line parameters "/o myResults.res /e myErrors.err". Additionally, each script should take some individual parameters. Assume, *test_case.bat* corresponds to a TEMPPO test case and should be started with individual parameters "/f /i", like this:

test_case.bat /f /i /o myResults.res /e myErrors.err

In this case, the user specifies the general settings for all test cases in the TEMPPO Test Manager **Settings**:

```
Arguments: /o <<ResultFile>> /e <<ErrorFile>>
```

and the individual settings in the TEMPPO test case automation tab:

```
File:
```

\temppo\test_case.bat

```
Additional Arguments: /f /i
```

If we assume a drive letter setting "U:\", the preview window shows a full command line like this:

U:\temppo\test case.bat /f /i /o <<ResultFile>> /e <<ErrorFile>>

where <<ResultFile>> and <<ErrorFile>> will be replaced with generated file names (including the paths specified in the Administrator) at execution time. For example <<ResultFile>> will be replaced with:

C:\Documents and Settings\atw1t5q2\Result\20021202 1723 test case.out

3.1.3.2 Reworking the Test Structure

Possibly you will have to rework your test structure after a review or due to changes of the software under test.

Editing of the test structure is supported by the Cut / Copy / Paste functionality

Edit > Cut / Copy / Paste

which even allows you to copy or move around complete test structure sub-trees. By using

Edit > Order > Move Up / Move Down

you can change the order of test packages or test cases as well.

$\dot{\mathbf{U}}$ Edit and evaluation functionalities are also available over the context menu.

3.1.4 Test Case Execution

Test execution is an issue, which must to some extent be connected with configuration management (CM) concepts like checking in a version and making it reproducible for later reference. If you are unfamiliar with CM terminology, please refer to chapter 3.3.10.

In an ideal world you would first make your planned test cases ready for execution, somehow conserve their state by means of CM functionality, execute them on your test object and record results. In reality, however, it often happens during test execution that you encounter a faulty test case. Such faults are mostly caused by undocumented changes in requirements or they slipped through quality control after test case implementation. Naturally you'll want to correct a faulty test case before executing it - and your test management tool should support this action. A different aspect is that other test cases which were already executed should certainly not be editable any more. Otherwise you could run into the problem of accidentally changing or even deleting a test step that already has a recorded result.

TEMPPO Test Manager supports these seemingly contradictory needs with its versioning mechanism, which is implicitly used for test execution. When you create a test suite, TEMPPO Test Manager automatically checks in your current

test structure. This means that its state (test packages, test cases, test steps) is conserved: no further editing is possible within this version and it can be restored any time in future. To give you the flexibility of still being able to correct faulty test cases during test execution, another action is performed automatically at test suite creation. A branch containing a new editable version of the test structure is created (you are prompted for a descriptive name), and your new test suite is connected to it. TEMPPO allows you to edit test cases in this branch as long as no result has been recorded for any of their test steps. From then on, no further editing is possible and thus your test results cannot get lost.

Of course you can still edit test cases in a different version of your test structure, typically in the latest version on the main line. In your next test execution, again a branch off the main line will be created for you, and the corrections you applied there will be visible in the new test suite.

The complex matters of test execution are explained in greater detail in the following chapters.

3.1.4.1 Starting Test Execution

Before the first test execution, there exists usually just one version of the test structure, version "1" on the main line. In TEMPPO, every last version gets the label "latest", signaling that the test structure in this version is checked out for editing. The version tree can be displayed any time by selecting **Test Structure > Versions....** Although you never get directly in touch with the version tree during the course of test execution, references to it will be made frequently in the following paragraphs. This is necessary in order to illustrate as clearly as possible what is going on "behind the scenes" as you proceed.



Figure 61 - Initial version tree before any test execution

Usually, when you think of starting a new test execution, you don't want all of your test cases to take part in it. Some of them may not be fully worked out, others may test features that are not yet available in the current version of your test object. For the purpose of selecting a proper subset of your test cases, TEMPPO provides the concept of test suites. By means of a logical expression, you can filter out the desired test cases.

A new Test Suite is created by activating **Test Execution > New**. This will cause the wizard shown in Figure 62 to be displayed. There are 4 possibilities to create a test suite:

- **New:** Based on test structure pre-selection, applying a condition, and finally removing some test cases, that won't be executed.
- **Based on a predecessor:** new test suite is chained with an existing test suite (chain)
- **Copy**: Based on an existing test suite, only copying test suite selections to the new one.
- **Special**: Based on an existing test suite, defining restrictions on certain test results.

📝 Test Suite Wizard	<u>×</u>
Steps	Introduction
Introduction. Choose oreation mode	 This wizard guides you through the steps necessary to create a test suite. There are three possibilities to create a test suite: 1. Based on test structure preselection, applying a condition, and finally removing some test cases, that won't be executed: Test structure preselection: (De)Select nodes (test packages) or sub trees. The default selection is the whole tree. Enter test suite name. Determine the logical expression based on that preselection. Removing test cases that do not match the test suite. 2. Based on an existing test suite, only copying test suite selections to the new one: Selecting an existing test suite. Enter test suite name. 3. Based on an existing test suite. Selecting ne existing test suite. Enter test suite name.
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel

Figure 62 - Test Suite wizard: Introduction

When pressing **Next** Figure 63 is shown, where you can select one mode.

📝 Test Suite Wizard	<u>×</u>
Steps	Choose creation mode
1. Introduction.	
2. Choose creation mode	
	New: based on current test structure
	C New: based on a predecessor
	C Copy: based on an existing test suite
	C Special: based on an existing test suite with restrictions to test results
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel

Figure 63 - Creation mode selection

3.1.4.1.1New: Based on current test structure

This mode is the usual way to create a test suite. The following steps are necessary:

- Test structure pre-selection
- Test suite name
- Logical expression
- Remove test cases manually

📝 Test Suite Wizard	X
Steps	Test structure pre-selection
Steps 1. Introduction. 2. Choose creation mode 3. Select nodes or subtrees. 4. Enter test suite name. 5. Determine the logical expression. 8. Remove test cases manually.	Test structure pre-selection Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: selection Image: selectin Image: selectin</shift></strg>
	Case sensitive
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel

Figure 64 – New: Test structure pre-selection (whole test structure)

📝 Test Suite Wizard	×
Steps	Test structure pre-selection
Steps I. Introduction. Choose creation mode Select nodes or subtres. Enter test suite name. Determine the logical expression. Remove test cases manually.	Test structure pre-selection Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> for multi-select). Image: Select test test test (hold <strg> for multi-select). Image: Select test test (hold <strg> for multi-select). Image: Select test (hold <strg> for multi-select). Image: Select test (hold <strg> for multi</strg></strg></strg></strg></strg></strg></strg></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg>
	Image: Construction Image: Construction Image: Construction Image: Construction
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel

Figure 65 - New: Test structure pre selection (test packages)

Figure 64 shows the first step for creating a test suite. It shows the whole test structure pre-selected. If you want to consider a whole test structure with all the test packages and test cases for test execution, you press simply **Next**.

Advanced users can limit the test structure by selecting test package(s) that should be in the test suite. For selecting the test packages use <CTRL> or <Shift> keys.

📝 Test Suite Wizard		×
Steps	Determine the test suite	
Steps 1. Introduction. 2. Choose oreation mode 3. Select nodes or subtrees. 4. Enfort test suite name. 5. Determine the logical expression. 6. Remove test cases manually.	Determine the test suite Enter test suite name. Image: Test object Version XY2. RC01 Created: 16.02.2012 13:39:43 Owner: Testmanager Type: Test Suite Description: -Whole structure -Release canidate 01	
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel	

Figure 66 - New: Name and comment

In the 2nd step you have to enter **name** together with a **description** for the test suite (Figure 66). When pressing **Next** you have to determine the logical expression (Figure 67).

A logical expression can be defined, which filters out the desired test cases. It can be constructed using test package categories, test levels and test case attributes. Specifying a logical connector in the last line can extend the expression.

If you have already defined a filter for your test issue you can select it and press the button **Apply**. The filter's logical expression is applied.

📝 Test Suite Wizard			×
Steps	Determine the test suite		
 Introduction. Choose creation mode Select nodes or subtrees. 	Select and apply filter or attributes, values and logical operator:	\$.	The second secon
4. Enter test suite name.	No filter	V-1	Арріу
5. Determine the logical	Απήρυτε	value	
expression.	Category	= Gui-Layout Test	AND 💌 🗙
o. Nemore test cases mandany.	Created	< 16.02.2012	AND 💌 🗙
	Platform	= Vindows 7	AND 💌 🗙
	Regressiontest	= ves	AND 💌 🗙
	🏟 Req_State 💌	= V Implemented	
	Category = Gui-Layout Test AND Created < 16.02.2012 A	ND Platform = Windows 7 AND Regressiontest = yes AND Req_State =	Implemented
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator		<< Prev Next >>	Finish Cancel

Figure 67 - New: Logical expression

When pressing **Next** the user can remove test cases that should not be executed (Figure 68). The (de)selection can be realized with the **<CTRL>** and **<Shift>** keys.

For default handling (before V3.3) press **Finish** and all test cases remain in the test suite that will be displayed.

📝 Test Suite Wizard	2	×
Steps	Rework Test suite	
 Introduction. Choose creation mode Select nodes or subtrees. Enter test suite name. Determine the logical expression. Remove test cases manually. 	Select obsolete test cases (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select).</shift></strg>	
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel	1

Figure 68 - New: Remove unwanted test cases

After clicking **Finish**, the current test structure version ("V1") is checked in. If you could open the version tree browser now, you would encounter the following situation:

Versions	×
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs V1 -V1 -V1.1 Test Suites for V1.1, 2012-02-16	Edit Check In Activate Check In Activate Check In Check In
	Close

Figure 69 - Version tree after test suite creation

(i) Immediately after test suite creation, three versions with identical test structures exist: "1", "2 latest" and "1.1.1 latest". The latter two of them are editable, just the first one is checked in.

A test suite is always just a "view" of the underlying test structure in the activated version. Only test cases are visible that fulfill the criteria defined in the

logical expression. Furthermore, test packages where no test cases are selected at all are not displayed.



Figure 70 - Test Suite

Now that you have a test suite with all desired test cases, you are ready to start for the test execution and recording of results. Depending on the test cases, test execution is manual, automatic or mixed.

The selection information (included TPs, excluded TCs) will be displayed, if the root node of the test suite is selected (see Figure 71).

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad	d]	<u>_ D ×</u>
<u>Project</u> Test Structure <u>E</u> dit Test Execution E	Evaluation Tools <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
🎭 Test Suite [Test object Version XYZ. RC01] - [V1	1.1.1]	_ 뭔 ㅗ
Image: Second state sta	Cest object Version XYZ. RC01 Locked by Testmanager General Details Export Info Attributes Predecessor Plan Name: Test object Version XYZ. RC01 Owner: Testmanager Updator: Testmanager Created: 16.02.2012 13:47:29 Updated: 16.02.2012 13:47:29 Type: Test Suite	
	IncludedTPs: New, Find	
	ExcludedTCs:	
×	Lock Apply	Discard
		S i

Figure 71 - Information about included TPs and excluded TCs

The tab **Details** displays the logical criterion of the test suite. It can be changed since there aren't any results yet recorded.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]		<u>- 0 ×</u>
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	<u>v</u> aluation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp		
🍤 Test Suite [Test object Version XYZ. RC01] - [V1	4.4]		_ 8 ×
Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system	Ceneral Details Export Info Attributes Predecessor Plan Attribute Value	<u> </u>] ×]
۲		Lock Apply	Discard
			S i [*]

Figure 72 - Test suite - logical expression

In the test suite tab **Attributes**, you can set attributes, which can also be shown in the report.

Only attributes can be chosen that are indicated as test suite attributes in the Meta Data Editor (see **5.3**).

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	_ D ×
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	<u>v</u> aluation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
Test Suite [Test object Version XYZ. RC01] - [V1	1.1]	- B ×
No filter	Ceneral Details Export Info Attributes Predecessor Plan Attribute Values Ceneral Details Export Info Attributes Predecessor Plan Attribute Values Firmware version - 0.1.00.1 Window 7 client - 64 Bit SP4711	
I F	Lock Apply	Discard
		9.v

Figure 73 - Attributes

3.1.4.1.2New: Based on a predecessor

This mode is used to create a new test suites for sprints. If your test cycle consists of 4 sprints a summarized test is necessary. With this feature you are able to "chain" test suites and to generate an overall report.

The test suite will be created on a branch of the current selected test structure version. Therefore it is possible to set a predecessor test suite and all possible settings are pre-selected.

With defining predecessors, you get information of previous test executions and previous results of each test case with bug IDs. It's not necessary anymore to open another test suite for getting the result and bug ID from a previous test execution of a test case.

The following steps are necessary to do:

- Select an existing test suite
- Test structure pre-selection
- Test suite name
- Logical expression
- Remove test cases manually

In the first step the test suite tree is shown (Figure 80), where you can select an existing test suite, that will be used for pre-select all settings in the wizard.

📝 Test Suite Wizard			×
Steps	Select Test Suite		
Steps 1. Introduction. 2. Choose creation mode 3. Select an existing Test Suite. 4. Select nodes or subtrees. 5. Enter test suite name. 6. Determine the logical expression. 7. Remove test cases manually.	Select rest suite Select an existing Test Suite.		_
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator		<< Prev Next >> Finish C	ancel

Figure 74 - Select a test suite

Figure 75 shows the first step for creating a test suite. It shows the whole test structure and the test packages are pre-selected like the predecessor.

If you want to consider a whole test structure with all the test packages and test cases for test execution, select the root node and press **Next**.

📝 Test Suite Wizard		×
Steps	Test structure pre-selection	
Steps 1. Introduction. 2. Choose oreation mode 3. Select an existing Test Suite. 4. Select nodes or subtress. 5. Enter test suite name. 8. Determine the logical expression. 7. Remove test cases manually.	Test structure pre-selection Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select test packages (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Image: Select functions I</shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg></shift></strg>	
	Replace Part Product Constraints of the product Constraints of the product Constraints of the product Constraints of the product features required	
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	<< Prev Next>> Finish Cancel	1

Figure 75 – Test structure pre-selection (test packages

In the 3rd step you have to enter **name** together with a **description** for the test suite (Figure 76). When pressing **Next** you have to determine the logical expression (Figure 77) which is pre-selected like the predecessor.

📝 Test Suite Wizard		×
Steps	Determine the test suite	
 Introduction. Choose creation mode Select an existing Test Suite. Select nodes or subtrees. Entertest suite name. Determine the logical expression. Remove test cases manually. 	Enter test suite name. Test object Version XYZ RC02 Created: 16.02.2012 14:19:56 Owner: Testmanager Type: Test Suite	
	Description:	
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator		

Figure 76 – Name and comment

📝 Test Suite Wizard		×
Steps	Determine the test suite	
 Introduction. Choose creation mode 	Select and apply filter or attributes, values and logical operators.	
3. Select an existing Test Suite.	Filter: 🕱 No filter	Apply
4. Select nodes or subtrees.	Attribute Value	
6. Determine the logical expression.	Regressiontest	×
7. Remove test cases manually.	Regressiontest = yes	
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	Sector	Cancel

Figure 77 – Logical Expression

When pressing **Next** the user can remove test cases that should not be executed (Figure 78). The test cases are also pre-selected like the predecessor was set. The (de)selection can be realized with the **<CTRL>** and **<Shift>** keys.

📝 Test Suite Wizard		x
Steps	Rework Test suite	
Steps 1. Introduction. 2. Choose creation mode 3. Select an existing Test Suite. 4. Select nodes or subtrees. 5. Enter test suite name. 8. Determine the logical expression. 7. Remove test cases manually.	Revork Test suite Select obsolete test cases (hold <strg> and <shift> for multi-select). Test object Version XYZ RC02 [16.02.2012] Detailed description of the required product features Required functions of the product File Administration File Administration Search Functions Find up Case sensitive [not executed]</shift></strg>	
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel	

Figure 78 – Remove unwanted test cases

After clicking **Finish**, the new test suite is created based on the settings of the predecessor test suite. Now that you have a test suite with all desired test cases, you are ready to start for the test execution and recording of results.

The predecessor information will be displayed, if the root node of test suite is selected and tab Predecessor is activated.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	<u>v</u> aluation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
Suite [Test object Version XYZ RC03] - [V1.	1.1]	_ B ×
H Image: Market Arrowski and the second s	Test object Version XYZ	2 RC03
	General Details Export Info Attributes Predecessor	Plan
	Nr. A Test Suite	Version
	1 🀤 Test object Version XYZ. RC01	V1.1.1 [editable version]
	2 🍫 Test object Version XYZ RC02	V1.1.1 [editable version]
	3 🀤 Test object Version XYZ RC03	V1.1.1 [editable version]
		01
< <u> </u>		Lock Apply Discard

Figure 79 - Predecessor

The predecessors of a test suite can be changed with the buttons **Insert Into Chain, Remove Chain** and **Remove From Chain**. The predecessors are sorted by the sequence so that the last row is the current test suite. The sort can be changed with the combo box **Sort bottom-up**.

With the change of predecessors the settings of the current test suite can't be changed in common.

Now all results of one test case are displayed in the new tab **Previous Results** (see 3.1.4.1.8). All results can be analyzed (see 3.1.5.1.1) and written to report (see Figure 153), so that all results of a test case in a sequence of test suites can be shown.

3.1.4.1.3Copy: Based on an existing test suite

This mode is used to copy a test suite and repeat a test run with exactly the same test cases. The copied test suite will be created on a branch of the current selected test structure version. Therefore it is possible to copy test suites from prior version to later ones and vice versa.

The following steps are necessary to do:

• Select an existing test suite

• Test suite name

In the first step the test suite tree is shown (Figure 80), where you can select an existing test suite, that will be copied to a new branch.

📝 Test Suite Wizard		×
Steps	Select Test Suite	
Steps 1. Introduction. 2. Choose oreation mode 3. Select an existing Test Suite.	Select Test Suite Select an existing Test Suite. Notepad - RTF Import with TCs VI VI.11 rest Suites for V1.1, 2012-02-16 VI.11 rest Suites for V1.1, 2012-02-16 Test object Version XYZ RC01 [16.02.2012] Test object Version XYZ RC02 [16.02.2012] V2 editable version	
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel	

Figure 80 - Copy: Select a test suite

In the final step test suite **name** and **comment** are to be specified. Additionally you can configure, if you want to get **Actual Result** and **Bug ID** of source test suite. You can retest bug fix more efficiently.

🔀 Test Suite Wizard		
Steps	Determine the test suite	
Steps 1. Introduction. 2. Choose creation mode 3. Select an existing Test Suite. 4. Select nodes or subtrees. 5. Enter test suite name. 8. Determine the logical expression. 7. Remove test cases manually.	Enter test suite name. Enter test suite name. Created: 16.02.2012 14:52:33 Owner: Testmanager Type: Test Suite Description: Assume the actual result field Assume the bug ld field	
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator	< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel	

Figure 81 - Copy: Enter name and comment

3.1.4.1.4Special: Based on an existing test suite with restrictions to test results

This mode is a special one that solves a problem that arises in many projects. Normally after test case execution you'll have a test suite with passed and failed test cases and therefore bugs in the SUT that have to be fixed in future versions. For testing such a new version, it can be decided to test only the test cases that failed in the previous test execution.

In TEMPPO you are supported by the special mode that provides you to copy a certain test suite with the restriction of test results.

The following steps are to do:

- Select an existing test suite
- Test suite name
- Test cases with special results

For the first 2 steps see 3.1.4.1.3.

In the 3rd step you can select test case results that will filter the test suite. Only the selected ones will be in the new test suite.
📝 Test Suite Wizard						×
Steps	Choose test cases included with following test res	ult				
 Introduction. Choose creation mode Select an existing Test Suite. Enter test suite name. Select test result. 	Test suite should include test cases with following results:					
	₩ "failed"	V "blocked"		on hold		
	"passed"	☑ "not completed"				
	V "not executed"	✓ "not implemented"				
TEMPPO - Test Suite Generator			<< Prev	Next >>	Finish	Cancel

Figure 82 - Special: Restrict test suite

(i) Newly created test cases are added to restricted test suites.

Consider the following situation: you activated the latest test structure version and created a new manual test case. Now you create a new test suite based on an existing one with the logical expression: type=manual. In step 5 of the wizard choose

Test suite should include all test cases except those which are passed. Now, the new test suite will not only contain the "failed" test cases of the previous test suite, but also the newly created test case, although its result is "not executed"!

3.1.4.1.5 Manual Test Execution

For every test case, you process its test steps. The sequence of test cases and test steps is arbitrary, you may proceed in any order that suites your needs best. For easier navigation from one test case to another, the buttons on top of the test suite tree can be used (first, previous, next, and last).

A Test Step can be given the following results.

not executed:	the test step hasn't been executed yet (initial result)
✓ passed:	the actual behavior matches the expected one
🗙 failed:	the actual behavior does not match the expected one
😃 blocked:	the test step couldn't be executed, because some pre- condition failed
O not implemented	the test step couldn't be executed, because the SW part to be tested is not implemented.
an hold	the test step couldn't be executed, because the SW part to be tested is postponed to another milestone.



Figure 83 - Manual Test Execution, Test Step Results

Test case results are calculated by accumulating test step results. So a test case is

- not executed, if all test steps are not executed (initial result).
- passed, if all test steps are passed.
- failed, if at least one test step failed.
- blocked, if no test step failed and at least one is blocked.
- not completed, if no test step failed or is blocked and at least one is passed.
- not implemented, if at least one test step is not implemented (stronger than "on hold").
- on hold, if at least one test step is on hold.

Test case results are displayed within square brackets following the test case name.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Windows Help		<u>_ ×</u>
TEMPPD - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Windows Help Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Windows Help Test Suite (Test object Version XY2. RC01] - [V1.1.1] Image: Test object Version XY2. RC01 Image: Test ob	General Details Export Info Attributes Predecessor Plan Name: Test object Version XYZ. RC01 Owner: Test object Version XYZ. RC01 Owner: Testmanager Updator: Testmanager Created: 16.02.2012 13:47:29 Updated: 16.02.2012 14:35:01 Type: Test Suite Description:Whole structure -Release canidate 01 IncludedTPs: New, Find	- D ×
	ExcludedTCs:	card
<u>r</u> 1		S i.

Figure 84 - Test Execution, Test Case Results

3.1.4.1.5.1 Test execution assistant

Test execution assistant supports you in executing each step by displaying each step in an own window. It can be called by selecting a step and pressing the button **Test Execution Assistant.**



Figure 85 - Test Execution

Test execution assistant shows all the fields of a test step and allows the user to enter an actual result as well as a bug ID. By pressing one of arrow buttons user can navigate to next or previous test step.

📝 Test executio	n assistant	×
User defined ID Name	: tc537 : New (file opened, changes)	•
⊙ ≶ Details		
R 🖌 🧕	<mark>o – ×</mark> ©	
Nr.	1	
Instruction	File.New.pick()	
Expected	messaye save changes (
Action image:	Unbenannt - Editor Image: Constraint of the system Datei Bearbeiten Format Ansicht 2 Neu Strg+N Image: Constraint of the system Image: Constraint of the system Öffnen Strg+O Speichern Strg+S Speichern Strg+S Speichern unter Seite einrichten Drucken Strg+P Beenden Image: Constraint of the system Image: Constraint of the system	
Actual		
Bug #		
		ate a new bug
		Close

Figure 86 - Test Execution, Test Execution Assistant

3.1.4.1.5.2 Set result(s)

With context menu **Set result(s)** it is possible to set test case results for multi selected test cases. Additionally you can set values for test result attributes, if test result template is active.

Set Result(s)	×
Set Result(s) to:	
C failed	
passed	
C not executed	
C blocked	
C not implemented	
C on hold	
Overwrite existing results	
Test Result template	
Attribute	Assigned default value
Brower version	1.0.2
Firmware	0.1.0.7

Figure 87 - Set result(s)

3.1.4.1.6Plan

In test structure test designers estimate the **Planned test execution time**. After test case execution testers enter the **Actual test execution time**. If this time is different to the plan value you can apply that value to the latest version as new **Planned test execution time** by pressing the **Merge** button.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Wi	ndows <u>H</u> elp
Sector Suite [Test object Version XYZ, RC01] - [V1.1.1]	_ B ×
Image: Second State Sta	New (file opened, no changes) - tc536 Locked by Testmanager General Attributes reguirements History History Attributes TR Previous Results Plan Execution History anned tester: Tester1 anned test execution time: 0 h 30 min (0-59) ctual test execution time: 0 h 45 min (0-59)
	Lock Apply Discard
	9 ₁

Figure 88 - Test suite - Test Case - Plan

That information is not only available for test cases but is also viewed for test packages and the test suite itself. When clicking on root node test managers can view the accumulated values for **Planned test execution time** and **Actual test execution time** for whole test suite.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]		
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tool	s <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
Set Suite [Test object Version XYZ. RC01] - [V1.1.1]		- BX
No filter Test object Version XY2. RC01 3. Detailed description of the required product features 3.4. Rel Locked by Testmanager duct 3.4. Rel Locked by Testmanager duct 3.4. New 3.4.1.1. New 3.4.1.1. New 3.4.1.1. New 3.4.1.1.2. New (file opened, no change 3.4.4.1.1.2. New (file opened, changes) 3.4.4.1.1.1. Case sensitive [blocke 3.4.4.1.1.2. WinRunner - CheckSte 3.4.4.1.1.4. Test Partner - Test ca: 3.4.4.1.1.5. UAI [not executed]	Cest object Version XYZ. RC01 Locked by Testmanager General Details Export Info Attributes Planned test execution time: 3 h Actual test execution time: 0 h 46 min (0-59) 46 min (0-59)	Discard

Figure 89 - Test suite - Plan

3.1.4.1.7Test Result Attributes

There is the possibility to assign attributes to test cases for execution in tab **Attributes TR** of a test case result.

Only attributes can be chosen that are indicated as test result attributes in the Meta Data Editor (see **5.3**).



Figure 90 – Test Case Result Attributes

3.1.4.1.8Previous Results

With predecessors, there is also the possibility to get known about the results in the predecessor test suites. The table isn't changeable.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]							_ 🗆 🗡
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Eve	aluation T <u>o</u> o	ıls <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp					
❤ Test Suite [Test object Version XYZ RC03] - [V1.1.	.1]						<u>_ 8 ×</u>
Test object Version XYZ RC03 S. Detailed description of the required p		w (file opened, no d by Testmanager	changes) - 1	tc536			
	General Att	tributes Test Steps 🔝 Automation	Requirements History	Attributes TR Pr	revious Result:	S Plan Executio	n History
⊡ 🔄 3.4.1.1. New	Nr.	Test Suite	Version	Result	Bug ID	Tester	Tested
M 3.4.1.1.2. New (file ope	1	🐤 Test object Version XYZ. RC01	V1.1.1 [editable version]	failed		Testmanager	16.02.2012 1
🕀 🚞 3.4.4. Search Functions	2	STest object Version XYZ RC02	V1.1.1 [editable version]	not executed			
	3	🐤 Test object Version XYZ RC03	V1.1.1 [editable version]	passed			
	-						
						Lock Apply	Discard
							S 7

Figure 91 – Previous Results

3.1.4.1.9Enter new bug entry

An actual behavior, and in case of errors a bug ID can be recorded for each test step and for each automated test case, too.

The bug ID would point to a problem report in a bug tracking tool like **Bugzilla**, **IBM Telelogic Change, IBM Rational Clearquest** or **JIRA**.

Before you can generate a bug automatically, you have to configure the corresponding settings in TEMPPO settings.



Figure 92 - TEMPPO settings

For creating a new bug select the corresponding cell (bug ID, step#) and press the button **Create a new bug entry** (see Figure 93).

		Path				Preco	Indition			
📃 3 D	escription of Us	e		_					÷	
										Person
	[1 1		1 - 1					
Nr.	Instruction	Input	Expected	Actual	R	Bug #	screenshot	test	P-	11
	Select the									
	User-define									
.)≋i1	attribute in									
	the									
	combobox								×	
	Attribute								- 6	
	Select the								- H	
9 ế 2	NOT IN									
	operator								2	
	Push the		A new							
	button		window							11
	right		comes up							ate a new bug er
	beside the		where a							
<u>ລ</u> ສ ວ	Value		selection						P-	
~ s	field.		for the						-	11

Figure 93 – Create a new bug entry

Now a dialog for creating a bug or change request opens (see Figure 94). Fill in the data of the bug and may activate the combo box **Add test report**. In the end you press **Submit**.

The panel for Telelogic Change is displayed dynamically. So the list boxes beneath the box **State** are dependent on the selected **State**. All fields at the Telelogic Change window are mandatory for the change request.

📝 New Bug - TEN	MPPO			×	
Reporter:	dietmar.schlosser@atos.net	Produ	ct: Bugzilla Test	•	
Version:	unspecified 💌	Compone	nt: Test	-	
Platform:	HU	Operating Syste	m: Windows 7	-	
Priority:	Critical	Severi	ty: Top	_	
Assigned to:			,		
CC:					
URL:	tc536				
Summary*:	test				
Description*:	description				
				•	
Add Test-Report:	V				
			Commit	Connot	
			Commit		
New PR - TEMPPO					×
Reporter: uidl9 Svnopsis:	720				_
Description:					<u> </u>
Add Test Report:					
State: prev	view				-
Application / Build Versi	ion Any	▼	Occurrence	Any	•
Application Na	Any	V	Requirement Reference		
Functional Ar	ea Any	_	Severity	Any	T
Required For Car Relea	ise Any		Submitter Name (On Behalf Of)		
System	ID Any	_	Submitter's Priority	Any	•
Discovered Duri	ing Any			1	
Attachment 1					<u> </u>
Attachment 2					اھ
Description					
Attachment 3					e
Description					
				Submit Cancel	1

Figure 94 – Bugzilla / Telelogic Change

📝 New Bug - 🛛 TEMPP	
Mandatory fields	
Severity: 1-Critica	
Headline:	
Optional fields	
Description:	
attachement:	
rati mastership:	
- ·	
Keywords:	·
noy words.	
Symptoms:	
Priority:	
Project:	
customer:	
Note_Entry:	
Owner:	
customer_severity:	
	- Court - Court

Figure 95 – Clearquest

Now the report is added to the tracking tool and in the column Bug ID you find the hyperlink to your report (see Figure 97).

(i) Limitation: With IBM Rational Clearquest's interface it is not possible to attach directly the test report

Standard Fields Project: Test Project Summay*: First bug entry in JIRA Component/s: component-1 component/s: component-2 Assignee: Priority*: Priority*: Major Environment: Image: Im	📝 New Bug - 🛛 Ti	TEMPPO	×
Project: Test Project Summary*: First bug entry in JIRA. Component/s: component-1 component/s: component-2 Assignee: Priority*: Major Image: Imag	Standard Fields	8	
Summery*: First bug entry in JIRA Component/s: component-1 component/s: component-2 Assignee: Priority*: Major Environment: Description: A bug ocurred Attachment Add Test-Report: Unknown	Project:	Test Project	-
Component/s: component-1 component/s: component-2 Assignee: Priority*: Major V Environment: Description: A bug ocurred	Summary*:	First bug entry in JIRA	
Assignee: Priority*: Major Environment: Description: A bug ocurred Attachment Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown	Component/s:	component-1 Version/s: 1.0 Version/s: 1.0	
Assignee: Priority*: Mejor Environment: Description: A bug ocurred Attachment Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown		component-2 2.0 2.0	
Assignee: Priority*: Major Environment: Description: A bug ocurred Attachment Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown			
Assignee: Priority*: Major V Environment: Description: A bug ocurred			
Environment:	Assignee:	Priority*: Major	
Attachment Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown	Environment:		_
Attachment Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown Unknown			-
Attachment Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown	Description:	A bug ocurred	
Attachment Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown			
Attachment Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown			
Attachment Add Test-Report:			-
Attachment Add Test-Report:)	
Add Test-Report: Custom Fields Unknown	Attachment		
Custom Fields	Add Test-Repo	ort: 🔽	
Unknown	Custom Fields		
Unknown			
Berlinsette Version [1.0	De al mant de 3 (a)	Unknown 1.0	
2.0	Dackport to te	2.0	
Cc:		Ce:	
Release Note:	Release	Note:	
			a
Commit Cancel		Commit	Cancel

Figure 96 - JIRA

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepa Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	i] valuation	T <u>o</u> ols <u>Wi</u> ndows <u>H</u> e	alp					
🔶 Test Suite [Test object Version XYZ. RC01] - [V	1.1,1]							- - ×
Sion XYZ. RC01 description of the required product features quired functions of the product 1. File Administration	General	ew (file op ocked by Testmanage Attributes Test Ste	pened, no c	nanges) - quirements Histor	- tc536 ry Attributes TR Previous	Results Plan I	Execution Hi	story]
3.4.1.1. New 19 3.4.1.1.1. New (file opened, no changes) [failed	Nr.	Instruction	Expected	Bug #	Action image	Actual	R	P+
11 3.4.1.1.2. New (file opened, changes) [passed] 4. Search Functions	Q# 1	File.New.pick()	Editor Pane cleared		Unbenant - Ed Datei Bearbeiten Neu Öffnen Speichern Speichern unter Seite einrichten Drucken Beenden		▲	
	8 ≢ 2		Untitled - Notepad	5626 http://atinzp10q	ja:2849/bugs_sitemppo_intern	al/show_bug.cgi?	X 1 Pid=5626	P+ -
al Isl	1					Lock	Apply	Discard

Figure 97 – Hyperlink to bug

3.1.4.1.10 Automated Test Execution

For starting an automated test execution, you have to select the test package, which contains the test cases to run, and activate **Test Execution – Run automated** (or the corresponding item in the context menu – see Figure 98). TEMPPO Test Manager will then sequentially invoke the proper automation tool for each test case and fetch the result obtained by the tool after the automated run.

(\mathbf{i}) Before running automated tests, the automation settings in TEMPPO's administration tool (see 4) must be configured.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Ev	aluation_Tools_Windows_Help
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Ev Image: Test Structure Edit Test Execution Ev Image: Test Structure Image: Test Structure	aluation Tools Windows Help - ind up - tp650 - ind up - tp650 - ind up - tp650 - ind up - tp650 - ind up - tp660 - ID: tp660 - Suite - Name: Find up - Owner: Testmanager Updator: Testmanager - Created: 15.02.2012 17:0 - Updator: Testmanager - Created: 15.02.2012 17:0 - Updated: 16.02.2012 13:2 - Type: Test Package - Number of TCs: 6 - Test Category:
▲	Description:
	S _{ti}

Figure 98 - Automated Test Execution

3.1.4.1.11 Mixed Test Execution

A mixed test suite contains both manual and automated test cases. The test execution doesn't differ from the one described above, but is just a mixture of them.

If a test package contains both manual and automated test cases and **Run automated** is invoked on it, only the automated test cases will be executed. All manual test cases in this test package must be carried out afterwards.

Setting several results 3.1.4.1.12

For regression testing it is often convenient to set results for several test cases at once; e.g. if you already know the results of the test cases. First you have to select a (sub) tree in the test suite and then activate the (context) menu **Set** result(s), and afterwards Figure 99 is shown. You can choose one result and optionally set the checkbox **Overwrite existing results** and after clicking Apply all test results are set.



(i) If other users have locked test cases, it is not possible to set the result, of course. You will be informed if results couldn't be set.

Set Result(s)
Set Result(s) to:
failed
C passed
C not executed
C blocked
C not implemented
C on hold
Overwrite existing results
Apply Close

Figure 99 - Set Result(s)

(i) If a test case contains no test steps, it remains "not executed".

3.1.4.2 Pausing and Continuing Test Execution

If there are a lot of test cases, you will want to pause test execution and continue at a later time. TEMPPO Test Manager allows you to close your test suite any time you like. Later on, you can reopen it by activating **Test Execution > Open**. The dialog shown in Figure 100 will be displayed. This dialog also shows the version-tree extended by the test suite () beneath the version where it was created. During the opening process, the adequate version of the test structure is loaded automatically.

📝 Open Test Suites	×
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs V1 V1.1 Test Suites for V1.1, 2012-02-16 V1.1.1 editable version Test object Version XYZ. RC01 [16.02.2012] Test object Version XYZ RC02 [16.02.2012] Test object Version XYZ RC03 [16.02.2012] Test object Version XYZ RC03 COPY [16.02.2012] V2 editable version	Tree style Versions only Labels only Versions and Labels Clear Case style Order ascending descending
	Open Cancel

Figure 100 - Open an existing test suite

After the test suite is opened, you can proceed with your test execution as described in the previous chapter. You can repeat this cycle as many times as you like.

3.1.4.3 Editing Test Cases during Test Execution

As stated in the introductory paragraphs of the test execution chapter, it might well be that you detect faults in your test cases just before you want to execute them.

If you want to edit (also cut, copy, paste) test steps before or during test case execution, it is the best way to select the test case and call the menu item **Edit test case**. The test structure is highlighted and the test case is automatically selected.



Then add e.g. a test step (see new test step 4 in Figure 101). The **Apply** and **Discard** buttons become enabled. When pressing the **Apply** button, the changes done in the test structure will be applied to the test suite and you can execute this new or edited test step.



Figure 101 Editing test cases during test case execution

But remember, there still remains the problem that you have edited a test case on the branch. Very likely you will need these changes for all further test executions that will be branched from the (latest) version of the main line. What can you do to solve that problem?

There are two possibilities: On one hand you can merge each single (edited) test case. After pressing the Apply button the user is automatically asked to merge the changes. Remark: The Merge button can always be pressed if enabled.

Merge a	dvice 🔀
⚠	The test case was modified in this branch version. Would you like to apply the changes also in the (main) latest version?
	<u>Yes</u> <u>N</u> o

Additionally TEMPPO Test Manager checks, if the test case to be merged is already changed in the mean time and informs the user:

Merge W	Yarning X		
⚠	The test case on main line was updated by NN 1 The merge will overwrite this version in the main line!		
	Yes <u>N</u> o		

If pressing **Yes**, you may select which content should be merged into the latest version, see Figure 102.



Figure 102 - Merge content

The corresponding content is "copied" from the selected branch to the latest version of the main line, which means that the current version of this test case parts (**general**, **attributes**, **test steps**, **automation requirements**, **plan**) in main latest is overwritten.

For advanced TEMPPO users there is a possibility to merge ALL test cases and test packages from a branch or main version to the latest version of the main line (e.g. after finishing test execution and test case updating). You can open the **version** window and press the **Merge all test cases into latest version of main line** button.

Versions	×
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs	Edit Check In Activate Merge all test cases into late Versions only Labels only Versions and Labels Clear Case style Order ascending descending
	Close

Figure 103 – Versions

After pressing the merge button, a warning window comes up, that asks you, if you are sure to go on. If you commit this window, the latest version will be checked in and checked out again. Then all test cases of the branch version are copied to this checked out version.

3.1.4.3.1Adding new test cases during test case execution

As a matter of fact new test cases have to be added to test case execution, although that test phase already started. Therefore such test cases have to be created in the corresponding test structure (<u>branch</u>) versions. If the pre-selection of test packages (sub-trees) and the logical expression when creating the test suite match, the test cases appear in the test suite (after reloading the whole tree).

3.1.4.3.2Adding and changing test packages during test case execution

During test case execution it might be necessary to create new test packages on a branch (see Figure 104) and use them also in the latest version later on.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	Tools Mindows	Help		
	1 1 <u>0</u> 013 <u>00</u> 11100443			
Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [Syster	n Test] - [V1.1.1]			<u> </u>
🖌 🖌 🕨 🗳 💹 No filter 🛛 🔻	_			
	📕 New T	est Package -	tp721	
🗄 📃 1. Introduction	Locked by T	estmanager	•	
🕀 🚞 2. General description of the product	General Attribute:	s Details Requirements Hist	orv Plan	
😑 🚍 3. Detailed description of the required product 1				
3.1. Scope of delivery	ID:	tp721		
3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of interactions				
3.3. User goals	Name:	New Test Package on the branci	h	
□ □ □ □ 3.4.1 File Administration				
🖻 🚔 3.4.1.1. New	Owner:	estmanager	Updator: Testmanager	
	Created: 1	6.02.2012 15:50:36	Updated: 16.02.2012 15:50:37	
3.4.1.1.2. New (file opened, ch	Type:]	Fest Package		
3.4.1.1.3. New Test Package				
3.4.1.2. Open	Number of TCs: 0)		
3.41.4 Evit	Test Category:			-
⊕ i 3.4.2. Edit Functions	/			
🕀 🚞 3.4.3. Print Functions	Description:			
🕀 🚞 3.4.4. Search Functions				
3.4.5. Help System				
6. Literature	l			
7. Annex			1 1 1	
۲			Merge Lock Apply	Discard

Figure 104 - Creating new test package on branch

After pressing the Apply button the user automatically asked if he wants to apply the new test package or changes on it to the latest version.

Merge a	dvice X
♪	The test package was modified in this branch version. Would you like to apply the changes also in the main latest version?
	<u>Yes</u> <u>N</u> o

3.1.4.4 Finding Bug IDs

If you have the problem of finding bug IDs and do not remember the test cases, you activate the menu item **Find and Replace**. For more details see 3.3.8.

3.1.4.5 Finishing Test Execution

After all of the test cases in your test suite have their results recorded, you have two choices:

check in the current version

leave it checked out

(in this case, TEMPPO Test Manager will prohibit editing test cases, because they have results)

3.1.4.6 Creating More Test Suites

Here is an example with more test suites for more than one application release.



Figure 105 - An extra branch for each test execution

Typically, each test execution has its own branch which is directly beneath the main line and contains just one test suite. This is because faults in test cases are usually corrected in the main line of the version tree (versions 1, 2, 3, 4 in the example). If every new test execution branches directly off the main line, it will always have the most up-to-date definitions of test cases.

(i) Grouping test executions within a common branch is possible, yet not recommended due to the suggested procedure described above. Only highly experienced users should consider departing from this approach.

3.1.4.7 Test case execution with an exported test suite

In projects for certain domains tests can't be executed in the office on the desktop PC, but must be executed offline (e.g. in a test-car for the automotive domain). For this purpose TEMPPO provides features, which enable:

- to export a test suite into an export database
- execute test cases and store the test results in this export database
- afterwards import the test results into the origin database
- remove a test suite from such an export database

Consider the following situation: You have a test team of 2 or more testers and have a central database. For test case execution it is necessary to unplug the notebook or workstation from the database (LAN) and execute the test cases somewhere else (e.g. in a car).

3.1.4.7.1Export a test suite

First of all you have to be connected to the central database with the TEMPPO Administrator. After starting TEMPPO Test Manager you select project, test structure and open the test suite containing the test cases to be executed offline. Note that a set filter is concerned for export, which means that only the visible test suite is exported!

When activating the menu item **Export Test Suite** the exporting process to a local MS Access database is started.

At first you select the directory for the export database (see Figure 106). The default database name is **TEMPPO_export.mdb**.



Figure 106 – Save dialog

If the export database already exists, you get the following message (Figure 107):

File exist	s X
2	The file already exists! Do you want to overwrite it?

Figure 107 – Overwrite file

After successful export the test suite with activated root node looks as follows:

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad	<u>)</u>			<u>- 🗆 ×</u>
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	<u>v</u> aluation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u>	<u>V</u> indows <u>H</u> elp		
Sector 2 of Test Obeject RC01] - [V2	.1.1]			<u>_ 8 ×</u>
No filter	General Details	to test suite export Export Info Attributes	obeject RC01 Predecessor Plan	
	Name: Ve	/ersion 2 of Test obeject R	C01	
	Owner: Te	estmanager	Updator: Testmanager	
	Created: 16	6.02.2012 15:53:31	Updated: 16.02.2012 15:53	:31
	Type:			
	IncludedTPs: Wi	hole test structure		
	ExcludedTCs:			
			Lock Apply D	iscard
				9 . .

Figure 108 - Locked test suite

In the tab **Export Info** all exports (of course more than one are possible) of this **locked** test suite are listed. Even the test packages are marked locked, which means that the item is read-only. Test cases also cannot be changed, but can be executed on workstations connected to the central database.

The corresponding test structure will also be locked. Figure 109 shows that also test cases are marked read-only. The only possible change is to add test results.



Figure 109 - Locked test structure

3.1.4.7.2Test case execution with an exported test suite

Let's continue the example of offline test case execution: You'll close TEMPPO and unplug your notebook from the central database (LAN). Unplugged from the central database you first start the TEMPPO Administrator and select the export database. If you start TEMPPO with the export database you are informed that TEMPPO is open in a restricted manner (see Figure 110), which means that only the **Test Execution, Find** and **Evaluation** functionality is available and only the test suite window is opened. Test structures are not displayed in that restricted mode.





Figure 110 – Warning: TEMPPO in a restricted manner

During test case execution the following values/text fields can be changed:

- Result Output: Result text for the whole test case.
- Actual Result: For each test step
- Bug ID
- Results: Test results for each step (passed, failed, blocked, not executed)

3.1.4.7.3Importing test results

Returning from test case execution the testers want to import the results to the central database. You have to connect to the LAN and select the central database in the TEMPPO Administrator. After opening TEMPPO Test Manager you have to open the corresponding test structure and suite. The (read-only) test suite is marked with a small lock (see Figure 111) and colored blue, if it matches to the test suite in the export database.

📝 Open Test Suites	×
 Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1 1 Test Suites for V1.1, 2012-02-16 1 editable version Test object Version XYZ. RC01 [16.02.2012] Test object Version XYZ RC03 [16.02.2012] Test object Version XYZ RC03 COPY [16.02.2012] 2 1 Test Suites for V2.1, 2012-02-16 2 1 Test Suites for V2.1, 2012-02-16 2 1 editable version Version 2 of Test object RC01 [16.02.2012] 3 editable version 	Tree style Versions only Labels only Versions and Labels Clear Case style Order ascending descending
	Open Cancel

Figure 111 - Locked test suites

(i) The opened test suite now shows the results of central database and not of your export database.

For importing the results from the export database, you have to activate the menu item **Import Test Suite**. All tests that were NOT executed for the first time cause no problems. They are imported without any conflicts. TEMPPO Test Manager provides 3 possibilities to import the test results to handle conflicts (see Figure 112).

Then an open-dialog is shown, where the export database has to be selected.



Figure 112 - Test Suite Import Settings

Import only newer test results: If a user already imported a test result for a test case and you also executed the same test case

- Earlier, the result in the central database won't be overridden by yours.

- Later, your result will be written into the database. The other result is lost.

- Import all test results: All test results of already executed test cases are overwritten by your results

Manually choose test results to import: When activating that possibility, Figure 113 - Manual import of test results is shown. In the right part of the window the current (result) state of test cases in the central database is shown together with their execution date (NOT importing date!). Test cases that may cause conflicts are colored blue. The left side of the window shows the test results of the exported test suite. Now you can activate the checkboxes of test cases that you want to import.



Note: All test results that are marked are overwritten in the central database after closing the window with OK.



Figure 113 - Manual import of test results

3.1.4.7.4Unlocking the test suite

As a last resort, it is possible to manually unlock a test suite (see chapter 5.5.4).

3.1.5 Evaluation

In this phase test structures and test suites are analyzed and reports are created. You may analyze any version of your test structure (for switching to another test structure version refer to 3.3.10).

3.1.5.1 Analysis

The analysis feature is used to give you a quick overview about your test structure or test suite. You create an analysis chart by selecting the node to analyze and activating **Evaluation > Analyse selected > with current opened explorer [project | test structure | test suite] > All....** In the Analysis dialog you can set values for X – Axis and group values on the Y - Axis. The following charts for displaying the data are possible:

- Horizontal bar chart
- Horizontal bar chart (3D)
- Line chart
- Stacked horizontal bar chart
- Stacked horizontal bar chart (3D)
- Stacked vertical bar chart
- Stacked vertical bar chart (3D)
- Vertical bar chart
- Vertical bar chart (3D)

There is also the possibility to save the chart as .jpg or .png file by pressing the button ${\tt Save}~{\tt As...}$

Figure 115 and Figure 115 show an analysis from a test structure and a test suite, displaying the number of test cases for each priority grouped by the state.





Figure 114 – Test Structure Analysis

Figure 115 – Test Suite Analysis

A special analysis is the result coverage: The following analysis compares or displays the planned tests and executed / not executed tests.

×

•

•

-

📝 Analysis			×
🦸 Chart 🔛 Data			4
Chart Data 450 - 405 - 360 - 315 -			X - Axis: Result - Coverage Y - Axis: Test Cases Group by: Chart: Stacked Vertical Bar Chart (3D) Show 0 values Orientation I horizontal
180 - 135 - 90 -			C vertical Representation C absolute C relative C accumulate
45 - O Planned	Executed Result - Coverage	Not Executed	Time Settings Start: 22.09.2009 End: 09.09.2009 Unit: 1 Day(s)
			Save as Close

Figure 116 - Test Suite Analysis - Coverage

3.1.5.1.1 Analysis with previous test suites

Now there is an analysis through a sequence of test suites (predecessors). Activate **Evaluation > Analyse selected > with current opened explorer > All...** and Figure 117 opens. In the Analysis dialog you can set group values on the Y – Axis and chart type.



Figure 117 – Analysis with previous test suites

There is also the possibility to save the chart as jpg or png file by pressing the button **Save As...**

3.1.5.2 Requirement analysis

You create a special analysis chart by selecting the node to analyze and activating **Evaluation > Analyse selected -> Requirements only....**

At first you have to select the requirement structure which you want to analyze. If the requirement structure is imported from an RM tool, only the selectable requirements are analyzed.

If you want to analyze the requirement attributes, you should select an attribute. Then the analysis is calculated with the values of attribute (see example: Figure 123).

Figure 118 shows a requirement analysis, if the plan value for the coverage is greater than 1 test case. The requirement GEN-FN-0030 is covered by 2 test cases but the plan value was 3. Therefore the requirement is displayed red, means: Coverage = false.

The following chart types for displaying the data are possible:

- Horizontal bar chart
- Horizontal bar chart (3D)
- Stacked horizontal bar chart
- Stacked horizontal bar chart (3D)

There is also the possibility to save the chart as jpg or png file by pressing the button <code>Save As...</code>

Figure 119, Figure 122, and Figure 121 show an analysis from a requirement structure, displaying the number of assignments from a requirement to test cases. The test cases linked to the requirements are displayed as

- Chart
- Numbers

• Test case IDs



Figure 118 - Planned coverage



Figure 119 - Test Structure Requirement Analysis

Requirement Structures Demo Requirement structure	•	
Requirement attributes	-	
Filter:		Calculate
🗿 Chart 🔠 Data 🔛 Detailed Data	_	
▼ Requirement	none	Chart: Stacked Horizontal Bar Chart
Requirement name #1	3	
Requirement name #10	14	
Requirement name #11	3	(• alphabetical
Requirement name #12	3	C ascending
Requirement name #13	3	C descending
Requirement name #14	1	
Requirement name #17	11	Values
Requirement name #18	5	
Requirement name #19	6	C Only zero values
Requirement name #2	7	No zero values
Requirement name #20	13	
Requirement name #21	18	Coverage
Requirement name #22	3	Average number of TC's per requirement: 8.00 TC's.
Requirement name #23	13	Percentage of requirements covered by TC's: 100.00 %
Requirement name #24	13	
Requirement name #29	13	
Requirement name #3	5	
Requirement name #31	7	
Denuirement name #32	8	

Figure 120 - Test Structure Requirement Analysis - Data

🔏 Requirement Analysis		×
Requirement Structures	Demo Requirement structure	
Requirement attributes	-	
Filter:	Calcula	ate
🧃 Chart 🔠 Data 🗮	Detailed Data	
▼ Requirement	none	Chart: Stacked Horizontal Bar Chart
Requirement name #1	tc13442,tc13443,tc13444	Savt
Requirement name #10	tc13543,tc13544,tc13545,tc13546,tc13548,tc13550,tc13552,	Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold
Requirement name #11	tc13574,tc13575,tc13576	 alphabetical
Requirement name #12	tc13578,tc13868,tc13869	C ascending
Requirement name #13	tc13581,tc13582,tc13583	C descending
Requirement name #14	tc13586	University
Requirement name #17	tc13611,tc13612,tc13592,tc13593,tc13596,tc13598,tc13600,	Values
Requirement name #18	tc13615,tc13618,tc13620,tc13622,tc13624	C All
Requirement name #19	tc13630,tc13631,tc13633,tc13634,tc13635,tc13636	C Only zero values
Requirement name #2	tc13449,tc13450,tc13451,tc13452,tc13453,tc13868,tc13869	No zero values
Requirement name #20	tc13638,tc13639,tc13640,tc13641,tc13644,tc13645,tc13648,	
Requirement name #21	tc13661,tc13662,tc13663,tc13664,tc13665,tc13666,tc13667,	Coverage
Requirement name #22	tc13684,tc13685,tc13686	Average number of TC's per requirement: 8.00 TC's.
Requirement name #23	tc13688,tc13690,tc13693,tc13695,tc13696,tc13698,tc13699,	Percentage of requirements covered by TC's: 100.00 %
Requirement name #24	tc13972,tc13973,tc13974,tc13976,tc13977,tc13978,tc13979,	
Requirement name #29	tc13972,tc13973,tc13974,tc13976,tc13977,tc13978,tc13979,	
Requirement name #3	tc13455,tc13456,tc13457,tc13458,tc13459	
Requirement name #31	tc13988,tc13990,tc13993,tc13994,tc13995,tc13996,tc13997	
Demiirement name #32	M13032 M13033 M13035 M13036 M13038 M13030 M13040	
		Save as Close

Figure 121 - Test Structure Requirement Analysis - Detailed Data



Figure 122 - Test Suite Requirement Analysis



Figure 123 – Test Suite Requirement Analysis with Attributes

3.1.5.3 Analysis by Bug ID (project)

Consider the situation of a new version of the test object and a list of bugs are fixed in order to retest, but you do not know the test cases or test structures. TEMPPO Test Manager offers the possibility to load or enter a list of **bug IDs** and display the linked information: **Test structure, Version, Test Suite, Test Case, Test Case ID** and **Bug ID**.

If a project is opened the corresponding analysis window can be activated and Figure 125 is displayed. You have the possibility either to load a comma separated file of Bug IDs or enter them directly. After pressing the button **Analyse** the window shows the Bug IDs together with **Test structure**, **Version**, **Test Suite**, **Test Case**, **Test Case ID**.

Ø	Analysis					×
I	Bug-IDs #1000;#1001;#1002;#1003;#	1004			Load	Analyse
	Test Structure 🛓	Version	Test Suite	Test Case	Use Load comma	separated bug IDs
	Notepad System & Acceptance Test	V1.1.1 [editable version]	Field test V01	New (file opened, changes)	tc81	#1002
	Notepad System & Acceptance Test	V1.1.1 [editable version]	Field test V01	New (file opened, no changes)	tc80	#1000
	Notepad System & Acceptance Test	V1.1.1 [editable version]	System test V2	New (file opened, no changes)	tc80	#1003
	System & Acceptance Test	V1.1.1 [editable version]	Integration test V3	3.4.4.1.1 Case sensitive	NP_34411	#1004
					Save	Close

Figure 124 - Analysis by Bug ID (project)

3.1.5.4 Analysis by Bug ID (test suite)

TEMPPO Test Manager offers you the possibility of analyzing the suite for creating a list of test cases that are referenced by certain bug IDs. By activating the menu item **Analyse selected -> Bug ID**, Figure 125 is displayed.

Analysis Jug ID: 1?		Analyse
Name	User defined ID	Bug ID
10.1.1.1_1 heading-up, route guidance on	2416.1	11
10.1.1.1_2 north-up, route guidance off	2416.2	11
10.1.1.1_2 north-up, route guidance off	2416.2	11
10.1.1.1_2 north-up, route guidance off	2416.2	11
10.1.1.1_2 north-up, route guidance off	2416.2	11
10.2_3 3D-Map (2649)	2649	12
10.2.1.1_1 Zooming rules	2650.1	12
10.2.1.1_1 Zooming rules	2650.1	12
10.2.1.1_1 Zooming rules	2650.1	14
		Save Close

A bug ID like "1?" is reported in different test steps of the same test case

Figure 125 - Analysis by Bug ID (test suite)

In the text box **Bug ID** you can enter the bug ID or a regular expression, if you want to create a list of more or all test cases that are referenced. By pressing the button **Analyse**, the test case list is shown and can be saved as csv file by pressing the button **Save**.

By selecting a test case in the window **Analysis**, the cases are also highlighted in the test suite tree.

3.1.5.5 Progress charts

TEMPPO offers a feature, which allows you to create flexible progress charts for test structures and test suites. On one hand you can compare progress of test case creation and on the other hand you can display the progress of test suites by comparing the results.

3.1.5.5.1 Creation Progress

If a test structure is opened and menu item **Creation Progress** is activated, Figure 126 is shown. By pressing the button **Select Test Structures** Figure 127 is displayed, where you can select from the test structure version tree with the mouse together with **<CTRL>** pressed the versions to be displayed.

If you want to display several consecutive versions you have to select the first one, keep holding the **<SHIFT>** key and select the last one in the tree (normal selecting behavior).

The following chart types are available:

- Horizontal bar chart
- Horizontal bar chart (3D)
- Line chart
- Stacked horizontal bar chart
- Stacked horizontal bar chart (3D)
- Stacked vertical bar chart
- Stacked vertical bar chart (3D)
- Vertical bar chart
- Vertical bar chart (3D)

With the radio button **Orientation** you can display the description of the x-axis either **vertically** or **horizontally**.

The data can be switched from **absolute** to **relative** and vice versa.

Using the checkboxes **States** the chart can be customized.

By pressing the button **Save As...** the chart can be saved as jpg or png file.

	100	<u></u>			-	_					Select Test	Structures
	90					1				Chart: Lir	ne Chart	1
	80					1				Orientati	ion	12
	70									CI	horizontal	
ISes	60						1				vertical	
st Ca	50						1		~	Paprasa	entetion	
Te	40							~		C	ahsolute	
	30						/				relative	
	20						/					
	10					_/				States	Parima d	
	0		-	5	-	-	0		-		Jesignea In Work	
		V5.1.	VB.1.	>	10.1	12.1.	8	24.1.	25.1.		Ready for Review	
					> Test St	> ructures	5	>	>		Ready	
	1	States	B Desig	ned 🗖	In Work	Ready	for Review	Read	ly l	Г	Approved	

Figure 126 - Test Creation Progress

🔀 Select Test Structures	<u>×</u>
Select rest structures	Tree style Versions only Labels only Versions and Labels ClearCase style Order @ ascending @ descending
	OK Cancel

Figure 127 - Select Test Structures

3.1.5.5.2Execution Progress

There are 3 analysis available:

• **Standard:** Execution progress of test suites can be created. For several test suites which can be selected results and planned values a chart can be created.

- **Filtered:** Additionally, a filter can be set for execution progress which is applied on all selected test suites. This analysis is slower because all data have to be loaded from database for filtering.
- **Requirements only:** A requirement analysis of several suites over several requirement structures can be created. All data will cumulated to one chart.

3.1.5.5.2.1 Standard

You create an analysis chart of several test suites by activating **Evaluation > Progress charts -> Execution -> Standard...**, if at least a test structure is opened. It is only possible to create a test suites chart of a single test structure. When opening that analysis, the chart is empty and you can select the test suites in a window that opens if you press the button **Select Test Suites**. Possible settings:

- X-axis: Tester, Test suites
- Y-axis: Test cases, Planned execution time
- Group by: Result

If **Test Suites** is selected for x-axis, the checkbox **Show 0 values** is greyed, because it makes no sense. Additionally you can (un)display all obsolete results and plan values. The following example - Figure 128– shows the accumulated values of 3 test suites. All 3 test suites contain 24 in sum, therefore 24 test cases were "planned". 5 test cases were executed and 19 test cases were not executed.

User Manual Edition January 2014



Figure 128 - Execution progress of several test suites – chart example 1

In the following example **Test Suites** is selected for x-axis and **Execution Time**. You can see that the "Planned execution time" is much higher than the actual one (sum of passed and failed). A test manager can also observe a large amount of remaining test time (not executed ones).

User Manual Edition January 2014



Figure 129 - Execution progress of several test suites – chart example 2

3.1.5.5.2.1.1 Detailed data

Tab **Detailed data** shows the data table which can be exported to csv.

(i) Not all combinations display valid values

Input values	5	Output values		
x-axis	y-axis	Group by	Action x-axis	Action y-axis
Test Suite	Test Case	-	Test case IDs	Result per test suite
Test Suite	Execution Time	-	-	-
Tester	Execution Time	-	-	-
Tester	Test Case	-	Test case IDs	Result per tester

3.1.5.5.2.2 Filtered

If a test suite is opened and menu item **Execution Progress > Filtered...** is activated, Figure 131 is shown.

By pressing the button **Select Test Suites** Figure 130 is displayed, where you can set a filter and select from the test suite tree with the mouse together with **<CTRL>** pressed the suites to be displayed.



Figure 130 – Select Test Suites

If you want to display several consecutive versions you have to select the first one, keep holding the **<SHIFT**> key and select the last one in the tree (normal selecting behavior).

The following chart types are available:

- Horizontal bar chart
- Horizontal bar chart (3D)
- Line chart
- Stacked horizontal bar chart
- Stacked horizontal bar chart (3D)
- Stacked vertical bar chart
- Stacked vertical bar chart (3D)
- Vertical bar chart
- Vertical bar chart (3D)

With the radio button **Orientation** you can display the description of the x-axis either **vertically** or **horizontally**.

The data can be switched from **absolute** to **relative** and vice versa.

Using the checkboxes **Results** the chart can be customized.

By pressing the button **Save As...** the chart can be saved as jpg or png file.


Figure 131 – Text Execution Progress Filtered - Chart

If you activate the tab **Data**, the values are displayed as table and be saved as CSV file.

G Chart Data				
✓ Result / Test Suites ►	Test object Ver	Test object Ver	Test object Ver	Test Suite Selection
failed	1	0	0	Test suite analysis depending on filter settings:
passed	0	0	1	Press Select Lest Suites for choosing test suites and setting inter.
not executed	2	3	2	Select Test Suites
blocked	0	0	0	
not completed	0	0	0	Chart: Vertical Bar Chart
not implemented	0	0	0	Orientation
	J 077		1 3	 horizontal vertical Representation absolute relative Results failed passed not executed blocked not completed not implemented on hold
	_			Filter Attribute Value Components * IN * req684,req685 Components IN {req683,req684,req685}

Figure 132 – Test Execution Progress Filtered – Data

3.1.5.5.2.3 Requirements only

You create a requirement analysis chart of several test suites by activating **Evaluation > Progress charts -> Execution -> Requirements only...**, if at least a test structure is opened. It is only possible to create a test suites chart of a single test structure.

When opening that analysis, the chart is empty and you can select the test suites in a window that opens if you press the button **Select Test Suites**.

Versions only Labels only Versions and Label ClearCase style der
Labels only Versions and Label ClearCase style der
Versions and Label ClearCase style der
Versions and Label ClearCase style der
ClearCase style der
der
ascending
descending
575 M

Figure 133 - Select test suites

Additionally you have to select the requirement structures by pressing the button **Select Structures**.

Name /	Owner	Created	Туре
Components	Testmana	16.02.2012 11:2	Manual
Learning Project - Use C	Testmana	14.02.2012 14:5	IBM Requisit
Link test cases to require	Testmana	14.02.2012 11:1	Manual
Notepad	Testmana	13.02.2012 17:0	Manual

Figure 134 - Select requirement structures

Each time you change anything on test suites or requirement structure selection button **Refresh** get enabled. If you press button **Refresh** chart is refreshed.

Test Suites	Select Test Suites	New Fest Suite - V6.1.1, Regressiontest	Fest Obeject 1.123 beta - V8.1.1
equirement Structures	Select Structures	Components, Notepad	
Requirement attributes [•	
Chart 🔝 Data	Detailed Data		
	т	est Results	Chart: Stacked Horizontal Bar Chart
0 1 Func_req22 - Func_req23 - Func_req24 - Func_req27 - Func_req28 - SFunc_req28 - Func_req31 - Func_req31 - Func_req33 - Func_req34 - Func_req34 - Func_req45 - req883 - req884 - req887 - failed passed not implemented -	2 3 4 5	e 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	alphabetical ascending descending descending Values ① All ② Only zero values ④ No zero values Refresh

Figure 135 - Requirement analysis over several test suites: Chart

Tab chart:

The following chart types are available:

- Horizontal bar chart
- Horizontal bar chart (3D)
- Stacked horizontal bar chart
- Stacked horizontal bar chart (3D)

All test cases of the selected test suites with links to the selected requirement structures are cumulated together. This means that one same test case is counted as often as it occurs in the test suites.

On the other all requirements without any link to test cases are displayed.

By pressing the button **Save As...** the chart can be saved as jpg or png file.

Tab Data:

In tab Data number of test results are displayed as table and exported to csv.

Tes	st Suites	Select	Test Suites	New Test	t Suite - V6.1.1, Ne	w Test Suite - V8.1.			
Requirement Str	uctures	Select	t Structures	Compone	nts, Notepad				
Requirement at	ttributes				•				
🗿 Chart 🖽 I	Data	Detailed	Data						
• Requirement	failed	passed	not executed	blocked	not completed	not implemented	on hold		Chart: Horizontal Bar Chart
Func_req2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	Sort
Func_req21	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		alphabetical
Func_req22	0	1	1	0	0	0	0		ascending
Func_req23	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	E	C descending
Func_req24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		C
Func_req25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		Values
Func_req26	0	2	2	0	0	0	0		All
Func_req27	0	1	1	0	0	0	0		Only zero values
Func_req28	1	4	5	0	0	0	0		No zero values
Func_req29	1	4	5	0	0	0	0		O NO ZERO VIJACO
Func_req3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		Refresh
Func_req30	1	4	5	0	0	0	0		
Func_req31	1	4	5	0	0	0	0		
Func_reg32	1	4	5	0	0	0	0	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$	

Figure 136 - Requirement analysis over several test suites: Data

In tab **Detailed Data** for each requirement a column **Requirement Structure** and columns for test results with the TC IDs are displayed. For each result cell a list of comma separated values is shown as follows:

<test case ID>-<test suite name>-<test structure version>,

<next test case ID>-<test suite name>-<test structure version>,...

Requirement Str Requirement at	t Suites Select 1 est 5 uctures Select Struct tributes	ures C	ew Fest Suite - Vb.1.1, New Fest omponents, Notepad	st Suite - Vö.1.1							
Chart 🖩 🕻	Requirement Structu	failed	passed	not executed			not	on		Chart:	Horizontal Bar Chart 🗸
Func_req2	-	-0	-	-0	-	-				Sort	
Func_req21	-	2	93 -	2	28	-	<u>is</u> e	-		(alphabetical
Func_req22	Notepad-V1	, 2	tc536-New Test Suite-V6.1.1	₩.	+:	-	, 20	-2	E	1	ascending
Func_req22	Notepad-V2	23		tc536-New Test Suite	1	-	20	2			n dessending
Func_req23	Notepad-V1	-2	tc742_1-New Test Suite-V6	-2	-	-	-	-3	1.000		g descending
Func_req23	Notepad-V2	20	2	tc742_1-New Test Suit		-	20	2		Value	s
Func_req24	-	-2	5	-1	÷	-	, 10	-2		(A
Func_req25		23	- -	20 20	1	-	10	2			Only zero values
Func_req26	Notepad-V1	-2	tc537-New Test Suite-V6.1.1.	-	-	-	-	-2			
Func_req26	Notepad-V2	20	2	tc537-New Test Suite		-	20	2		1	O No zero values
Func_req27	Notepad-V1	-1	tc536-New Test Suite-V6.1.1	•	-	-	-	-1			Refresh
Func_req27	Notepad-V2	2	2	tc536-New Test Suite	1	-	28	2			
Func_req28	Notepad-V1	tc703-Ne	tc702-New Test Suite-V6.1.1.	-	-	-	-	-2			
F	Madama a 1/2			4-702 Now Test Cuite		1			*		

Figure 137 - Requirement analysis over several test suites: Detailed Data

3.1.5.6 Reporting

TEMPPO Test Manager offers a reporting feature, which allows you to create flexible textual and graphical reports from your test structures and test suites. A test structure or test suite report can be created from any node within the structure, even from a single test case.

Reports on current select node (root, TP, TC) in a test structure or test suite can be opened via the context menu **Report selected**.

Reports of several test structures versions or test suites are called by the menu item **Evaluation -> Progress charts**.

The following reports are possible:

- If a test structure is opened, reporting for test structure is opened via **Evaluation > Report selected > Opened Test Structure**.
- If a test structure is opened, reporting for more test suites is opened via **Evaluation > Report selected > Several Test Suites**.
- If a test suite is opened, reporting for test suite is opened via Evaluation
 > Report selected > Opened Test Suite.
- If a test structure is opened, reporting for more test suites is opened via **Evaluation > Report selected > Several Test Suites**.

Different report settings can be defined for user level and for projects. In tab **Personal settings**, the user sees its own defined settings and in tab **Project settings**, all settings defined for this project are visible.

Name /	Owner	Created	Description
default Setting	Testmanager		TEMPPO default setting
XewReportSetting_Report depth	Testmanager	07.03.2013 15:22:06	
🖥 Report Template	Testmanager	16.02.2012 16:36:07	TC Review Template
Test creation report Excel tight	Testmanager		-Continuous text -Almost all test package attributes -Almost all of test case att
Test creation report Word tight	Testmanager		-Continuous text -Test packages with description -Test cases with preconditi

Figure 138 – Report settings

With the buttons on the right side, you can add, change and remove settings:

New / Edit see 3.1.5.6.1

Delete

Setting(s) are deleted.

Copy to other settings

Copy the selected setting(s) to other settings.

Example: Select a setting in tab personal setting and press button. In tab project setting, the copied setting is added.

Import from another project see 3.1.5.7

Export to XML file see 3.1.5.8

Import from XML or TRP-file

see 3.1.5.9

With the buttons below, you can save the report to directory or create a preview. Pressing **Save Report**, a file dialog opens where the directory has to be defined and then report is created.

3.1.5.6.1New / Edit

When pressing the button New or Edit a new window opens, for set the properties for creating a report (see Figure 139).

TEMP	PO report setting in project "Dem	o Notepad"
Name:	NewReportSetting	
	Inges General └──Title Page Text └──Test Package │ └──Test Package Attributes └──Test Case Attributes └──Test Case Attributes └──Test Case Attributes └──Test Step ──Requirement Charts └──Chart 1	Owner: Testmanager Created: 07.05.2013 11:41:09 Updator: Updated: Description:
Prev	iew	OK Cancel

Figure 139 – Report settings overview

The reporting functionality is divided into four main setting areas, where each of them again is subdivided into several parts. The areas are described in the following chapters.

3.1.5.6.1.1 General

In the general settings area you define the rough layout and contents of your report.

Components

Here you choose the components your report shall contain. Dependent on your selection the tree is changed for doing the relevant settings. The following components are available:

- Title Page

- General Information about Test Structure
- Text
- Charts
- Progress Chart

Additionally you have to select the **layout**: **Continuous** or **Tabular**

and the Format for the report: HTML, Microsoft Word or Microsoft Excel

TEMPPO report setting in proj	ct "New Project"
Settings Text Continuous Report Test Case Test Case Test Case Requirement	Components Title Page General Information of Test Structure Text Chart Layout Continuous Tabular Format HTML Microsoft Word Microsoft Excel
Preview	OK Cancel

Figure 140 – Reporting: General

If Microsoft Excel is selected, then you can define a header and a footer within the settings.

If **HTML** is selected, reports know from prior TEMPPO versions (5.6 or lower) can be saved.

(\mathbf{i})

Please, consider that Microsoft Word limits the width of pages to 22 inches (<u>http://support.microsoft.com/?scid=kb%3Ben-us%3B95109&x=14&y=10</u>)

Title Page

You can customize the title page of your report here, which can contain a title, project name, status, the name of the author and the current date.

Header / Footer

You can customize the header and footer for you report. There are buttons for using the defined keys for page number, date, time etc.

User Manual Edition January 2014

TEMPPO report setting in proj	ect "New Projec	t"	Name Taxal Concerns	X
Name: NewReportSetting				
Name: NewReportSetting	To add a page nu Header Left Footer Left	mber, date, time or file insert, position the c Center Center Center Center Center Center	Right Right Right Right Right Right Right Right Right	Page Pages Date Time Path File name
Preview TEMPPO report setting in proj Name: NewReportSetting	ect "Demo Note	pad"	which allows gill	OK Cancel
General	Title Page TITLE:	Projectitle		
Continuous Report	Projectname:	Projectname		
Test Package	Status:	Projectstate		
Test Case	Date:			
Requirement	Author:			
Chart 1	Show labels:			
Preview				OK Cancel

Figure 141 – Report: General Settings

3.1.5.6.1.2 Text

Text settings are relevant for the textual data contained in your report and how they are displayed.

General Text Settings:

First you can choose the **Layout**, if you want your data to be displayed in continuous text or table format.

Furthermore you can set Format options:

- (Do not) ignore information fields with empty values
- (Do not) generate heading numbers

You can limit the size of your report by defining the depth absolutely. You can use the slider to limit the reported test structure or test suite tree depth to a fixed level.

You can add **Summary information**_about your test package by checking Number of Test cases and/or Test Steps. The amount of contained test cases/ test steps will be reported for each test package, either in absolute form or by percentage.

Finally you have the possibility to **Generate heading numbers** in your report.

Format Options	1	
Generate Heading Numbers Limit depth of report Summary Options Display Number of: Test Case:	-[] Representation:	2
	Generate Heading Numbers Limit depth of report Summary Options Display Number of. Test Case: Test Steps:	Generate Heading Numbers Limit depth of report Summary Options Display Number of. Test Case: Image: Test Steps: Test Steps: Image: Test Steps: Test Step

Figure 142 – Report: General Textual Settings

Continuous Report: Test Package, Test Case, Test Case Attributes, Test Result Attributes, Test Step, Requirements

For each reported object you can define, which data the report shall contain. If you don't want to show Test Packages, Test Cases, Test Case Attributes, Test Result Attributes, Test Steps or Requirements, click on the checkbox above the lists.

Multi select allows "moving" several values to the right part of the window.

TEMPPO report setting in pr	oject "Demo Notepad"	ture, which allows you	X
Name: NewReportSetting			
-Settings -General -Title Page -Text -Continuous Report -Test Package -Test Case -Test Case A -Test Case A -Test Step -Requirement -Charts -Chart 1	Available Attributes: ID Planned test execution time Postcondition Priority Situation State Test Case Type Test levels	✓ Test Package Selected Attributes: Created Document Chapter Document Name Owner Path Precondition Test Category Updated Updator	
Preview TEMPPO report setting in pr Name: NewReportSetting	roject "Demo Notepad"	ture, which allows e	OK Cancel
General Title Page Text Continuous Report Test Package Test Package Test Case A Test Case A Test Case A Test Case A Test Case A Charts Charts	Available Attributes: Planned tester Postcondition	✓ Test Case Selected Attributes: Automation File Automation Script Data Automation Tool Created ID Owner Path Precondition Priority Situation State Test Case Type Test levels Type Updated Updator	
Preview	1		OK Cancel

me: NewReportSetting					
Settings General Header / Footer	Requirement Structure Version		R	equirement	
Continuous Report	Requirement ID	Requirement			ment Name
-Test Packa -Test Case -Test Case	g A Define the sequence and size of column	umne by drag	✓ ✓	Requirement ID Requirement Name	
Chart 1		ninis by urag	~	Requirement Short Description Requirement Description Inherited Requirement attributes	
	Select Requirement Structure:	Selec	cted ,	▼] Attributes:	
	mike-type	Image: Second se	_Stat	e	

Figure 143 – Report, Textual Settings

Tabular Report: Test Package, Test Case with its attributes, Requirements and Test Step

If you don't want to show Test Packages, Test Cases, Test Steps click on the checkbox above the table.

Multi select allows "moving" several values to the right part of the window. For unselecting a column, double-click on it or open context menu and press remove.

Additionally you can define the sequence of columns by swapping the column headers and for defining the width of columns in the report you have to move the border of columns.

For each requirement structure the attributes can be reported selectively.

If you do not want to report requirement attributes in general right click on header and deselect "Requirement attributes".

General								
☐ Tabular Report ☐ Charts ☐ Chart 1	Available A Created Descriptio Document Document Name Owner Path Planned te	e Test ttributes: n Chapter Name st execution time	Package Selecter	Attributes:	Test Package Attributes:	es V Test / Sele V V V	Package Attribut	tes
	Define the se	quence and size Name	e of columns by dr. Milestone	agging in table Owner	header. Requirement ID	Nr.	Instruction	Expected

Settings	Test Package	Test Case Test	Step Requirement					
Title Page	Test Packa	ige			Test Package Attribut	es		
Tabular Report		V Test	t Package			🗹 Test P	ackage Attribut	tes
Charts Chart 1	Available	Attributes:	Selected	Attributes:	Available Attributes:	Selec	ted Attributes:	
	Descripti Documer Documer Name Owner Path Planned	on It Chapter It Name test execution time						
	Define the e	equence and size	e of columns by dr	agging in table	header.			
	Define the s		Milestone	Owner	Requirement ID	Nr.	Instruction	Expected
	ID	Name						

TEMPPO report setting in p	roject "Demo Notepad"	orting feature	e, which	alout vi		
Name: NewReportSetting						
Name: NewReportSetting	Test Package Test Case Test Case Available Attributes: Automation File Automation Foript Data Automation Tool Created Path Planned test execution Planned tester Postcondition Precondition Define the sequence an ID Name	Test Step Requirement Test Case Test Case To	d Attributes:	Test Case Attributes Test Case Attributes Available Attributes: Device type Platform Regressiontest Test location Test_IN IN_ IN header. Benuirement ID	Attributes Selected Attributes: Milestone	n Expected
Preview TEMPPO report setting in p	roject "Demo Notepad"	erting Reature	r, which	altere eff.		OK Cancel
Vame: NewReportSetting -Settings -General -Tritle Page -Text -Text -Charts -Chart 1	Test Package Test Case Test Step Test Step Test Step Test Step Test Commanded Attributes: Action image Comment Input Define the sequence an	Test Step Requirement St Step Selected Attributes: Instruction d size of columns by dr	agging in table	header.		
	ID Name	Milestone	Owner	Requirement ID	Nr. Instrucțio	n Expected

Ings Ceneral Header / Footer Requirement Text Package Test Stage Charts Requirement Charts Selected Attributes: Inherited Requirement Description Requirement Short Description Requirement Name Version Version Version Version Define the sequence and size of columns by dragging in table header. ID Priority State Precondit Nr.	P	1	1			1							
Header / Footer Text Tabular Report Charts Charts Available Attributes: Requirement Description Requirement Short Description Requirement Structure Version Version Define the sequence and size of columns by dragging in table header. ID Priority State Precondit Nr. Instruction Input Expected Requirement Object ID Object ID Object ID Object ID Object ID Object ID	tings General	Test Package	Test Case	Test Step R	equirement								
Define the sequence and size of columns by dragging in table header. ID Priority State Precondit Nr. Instruction Input Expected Requirem Object ID Object ty	Header / Footer -Text Tabular Report Charts Chart 1	Requirement Available Inhented Requiren Requiren Requiren Requiren Version	nt Attributes: Innent Description ment Path ment Short Des ment Structure	Requirem	ent Selecte Require	d Attributes; ement ID ement Name	Availa Req_1 To be VP1 F VP2 F mike-1	nent attributes ble Attributes: state tested by elevant elevant ype	s V /	Requiremen Selected Attrii Object ID Object type	nt attribute butes:	es	
		Define the s	sequence and Priority	d size of col	Imns by d	ragging in tal	le header.	Input	Expected	Requirem	Requirem	Object ID	Object ty

Figure 144 – Tabular Report

3.1.5.6.2Report of several test suites

When selecting the menu item **Evaluation > Report selected > Several Test Suites,** Figure 145 is displayed. Reports for several test suites are test structure wide. Therefore such a personal report setting can only be provided to other test structure users.

ersonal Settings Test Struc	ture Settings			
Name /		Owner	Created	Description
Several test suites with a	attribute filter + 5 charts	Testmanager	25.06.2013 12:5	This report setti

Figure 145 - Report setting - test structure wide

When creating or editing a report setting, Figure 146 is displayed, where you can

- Select the test suites of a test structure
- Set a filter for these test suites and
- Specify the report itself

Limitations: It is only possible

• to specify tabular reports as Excel or HTML.

 to select Result – current and Result – current and history for a test case

lame:	NewReportSetting			
	New-eportSetting Select Test Suites Filter General I — Title Page	Owner: Created: Updator: Updated: Description:	Testmanager 25.06.2013 12:53:22 Testmanager 26.06.2013 12:56:14 This report setting is used for evaluating more test suites.	
Prev	íaw.			

Figure 146 - Report of several test suites: Settings

Settings Available Test Suites: Selected TestSuites: Filter © oneral V1.1.1 Test Suites for V1.1, 2012-02-16 V1.1.1 - Test object Version XYZ RC02 V1.1.1 test Suites for V1.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 test object Version XYZ RC02 [1] V1.1.1 - Test object Version XYZ RC03 V2.1 Test Suites for V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1 Test object Version XYZ RC03 C0 V1.1.1 - Test object Version XYZ RC03 V2.2 Test object Version XYZ RC03 C0 V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 Test Suites for V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 Test Suites for V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 Test Suites for V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 Test Suites for V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 Test Suites for V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 Test Suites for V2.1.2012-02-16 V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 Evolution V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 Evolution V2.1.1 editable vers	me: NewReportSetting			
	Settings Select Test Suites Filter General Title Page	Available Test Suites: Notepad - RTF Import with TCS V1 V1.11 Test Suites for V1.1, 2012-02-16 V1.11 editable version Test object Version XYZ RC03 [1 Test object Version XYZ RC03 [1 Test object Version XYZ RC03 [1 V2 ITest Suites for V2.1, 2012-02-16 V2.1.1 editable version Version 2 of Test object RC01 [16 U2 1 V2 Checked in by XML Update V4 editable version	Selected TestSuites:	

Figure 147 - Report of several test suites: suite selection

Settings	Attribute			Value			
Select Test Suites	Test Result	•][IN	▼ failed,pa	ssed,not implemented,blocked		AND 👻	×
General	Req_Type	•][=	▼] Header		•	AND 👻	×
The Page	Priority	•][=	▼ High		•	•	×

Figure 148 - Report of several test suites: Filter

Additionally to standard reports you select **General Information of Report** which displays the selected

• test suites

Filter :

• selected filter

General Information of Report

attributevalue = 63_M1

Selected TestSuites : Test object Version XYZ RC03 - V1.1.1, Version 2 of Test object RC01 - V2.1.1

Figure 149 - Reported information

TEMPPO report setting in pr	oject "Demo Notepad"		×
Name: NewReportSetting			
SettingsSelect Test SuitesFilterGeneralTextTabular ReportChartsChart 1	Components Title Page General Information of Report General Information of Test Suites General Information of Test Suites General Information Continuous Format HTML Microsoft Word Microsoft Word	Tabular osoft Excel	
Preview			OK Cancel

Figure 150 - Report of several test suites: General

3.1.5.6.3Chart Settings

In the charts settings area you can customize the charts added to your report, which represents the data of your test structure or your test suite in a graphical way.

It is possible to add more charts to your report by right mouse click on **chart** and activate **Add new chart**. By selecting a chart, right mouse click and activating **Remove chart**, a chart can be removed except the last one. By selecting a chart, right mouse click and activating **Rename chart** or **double click**, a char can be renamed.

Elu Charte	
C	Add new chart
~ ~ ~ ~	Remove chart Rename chart
Chart 5	

Data Selection:

Choose units for the y- and x-axis and optionally a value subdivision.

- Y-axis: sum of test packages, sum of test cases (default) or sum of test steps can be displayed.
- *X-axis:* test packages of first level, designer, date, priority, situation, state, type, test levels and result (only for test suite report) can be applied. If date is selected, the time period considered must be specified. Furthermore the time unit can be adjusted (day, week, month, year).
- **Group by:** is used for subdividing the values displayed on the y-axis. The selection possibilities are the same as for x-axis.
- Chart: The following charts are available: Horizontal Bar Chart, Horizontal Bar Chart (3D), Line Chart, Stacked Horizontal Bar Chart, Stacked Horizontal Bar Chart (3D), Stacked Vertical Bar Chart, Stacked Vertical Bar Chart (3D), Vertical Bar Chart, Vertical Bar Chart (3D)

Orientation:

You can choose the orientation of the labels on the x-axis.

Representation:

Data can be represented absolutely or relatively (use option buttons at bottom right). If *Accumulate* is activated, data on y-axis is displayed accumulated.

Time Settings:

If you select in x-axis and/or Group by a date / time attribute, you can configure the chart by setting a start and an end date. Additionally the units (days, weeks, months or years) can be set.



Figure 151 – Report: Chart Settings

3.1.5.6.4 Previewing and Saving

You can either preview the report that will be generated or immediately save it to an Word or Excel-file (Button **Preview**).

(i) Depending on the size of your test structure / test suite and network speed, the generation of the report (preview or file) may take a while, because a lot of data must be loaded from the database.

Since TEMPPO 5.7 report preview is displayed in Microsoft Word or Microsoft Excel.

WRPreview.doc - Microsoft Word						X
Datei Bearbeiten Ansicht Einfügen Format Extras Tabelle Eens	ter <u>?</u> Livelink					Frage hier eingeben 🔹 🗙
		.	R : out and	Aural		
		1 1 90% +	E Stanuaru	 Aridi 	· II · F K U	
		-			SCF V5	
3.1.2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1	• 2 • 1 • 3 • 1 • 4 • 1 • 5 • 1 • 6	· 1 · 7 · 6 8 · 1 · 9	10 11 12	13 14 15	1+16+1+1/+1+18+	<u> </u>
With vie	w - latest baseline 4					
Owner:		nn1				
Test Goa	1:	-check t	he update with vie	w together with a		
		latest ve	rsion and not a ba	aseline		
Path:		/System	test/Introduction/F	ourpose of the		
		documer	nt/With view - late	st baseline 4		
Created:		10.06.20	08 15:33:49			
ID:		tc54b3b				
Device	dae CODOCUMENT/study			dee Roff		
RETENEW	THE CODOCOMETIMENT	USUSILO CALS-1	trempworreview.	000 0001		
					12	
SITEMPF	'O Report	11.06.2008		08:41		
Driarity		High				
Filolity.	•	Pogular				
Toet Cae	o Tymo:	Vorificati	on			
State	e type.	In Work	ion-			
Type:		monual				
lindator:		nn1				
Undated		10.06.20	08 15:33:49			
Precond	tion.	10.00.20	00 13.33.45			
Offline:		true				
Test leve	ls:	Accenta	nce Test			
Test Ster	os:	h ieeeptu				
Nr.	Instruction	Input	Expected	Comment		
1	Create new view					
	in DOORS:					
	new attribute					
	-no heading					
2.	Connect to		Screen with view			
	DOORS server		selection is			
			available			
3.	Press Finish to		New			
	start update		requirements are			·
	process		update d			*
10-10-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-0						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Validity	or the document				2	ay. a 🔻
		100				
🔢 Zeichnen 🔹 🌾 AytoFormen 🍷 🔨 🔍 🖂 🔿 🖾 📣 🔅 🔳 🌌	· ∠ · A · ≡ ≡ ₹			3.71688	· 备 内 译 。	
Seite 6 Ab 1 6/293 Bei Ze Sp MAK Ä	ND ERW ÜB Englisch (US					

Figure 152 – Report: Word

Microsoft Excel - RPreview.xl	s											
ं 🖳 Datei Bearbeiten Ansicht	Einfügen Forma <u>t</u> E <u>x</u> tras	Date <u>n E</u> enst	er <u>L</u> ivelink <u>?</u>							Frage hier	eingeben	×
🗄 🗋 🛃 🔓 🚔 💁 🖾	🍄 🚉 🐰 🗈 🖺 • 🛷	v) - (° - (🧕 Σ → Ž↓ Z	🛄 🚯 🔞	🚆 Arial		• 10 • I	<i>K</i> <u>U</u> ≣	= = <u>-</u>	🧐 % 拝	🔛 + 🆄 + 🛔	<u>A</u> - 🔋
1 1 1 1 2 5 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 3	🏷 資 堝 😥 💎 Bearbeiti	ung zurück <u>s</u> ende	n Bearbeitung l	beenden								_
A1 -	fx											
A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н		J	K	L	N.
1	1					-						
₂ System	test											
3 Name of Test Structure:	Systemtest											
4 Owner:	nn1											
5 Description:												
6 Updator:												
7 Updated:												
Details												
。New Tes	t Packag	е										
10 Owner:	nn1											
11 Description:												
12 Test Category:	(Sustamtast(Now Tast Da	akara										
11 Created	10 0C 0000 15:00-40	скауе										<u> </u>
15 Decument Name:	10.00.2000 13.33.43											
16 Document Chanter:												
17 Undator:	nn1											
18 Undated:	10.06.2008.15:33:49											
19 Precondition:	10.00.2000 10.00.40											
20 New Test	Case											
21 Test Goal:												
22 Path:	/Systemtest/New Test Pa	ckage/New Te	est Case									
23 Created:	10.06.2008 15:33:49											
24 ID:	TC12383											ļ
25 Priority:	lop											
26 Situation:	Kegular		-									
27 Test Case Type:	Validation		-									
20 State:	Designed								l			
20 lype:	mandal		-									<u> </u>
21 Undated	10.06.0009.16-00-40											<u> </u>
32 Precondition:	10.00.2000 15.33.49											
32 1 1000101001.												<u> </u>
34 Test Stens:												-
H + + H Temppo_Reporting						•						
Bereit											NF	

Figure 153 – Report: Excel

3.1.5.6.5Sample Charts

Test case creation progress (test structure):

- Graphical settings
 - Y-axis: Sum of test cases
 - X-axis:

Created

yes

- Group by: State
- Date-Unit: 1 Month
- Accumulate Data:
- **Display data:** absolute
- **Chart Selection:**
- 3D Stacked Bar Chart



Figure 154 - Test case creation progress

Test case creation overview (test structure):

Graphical settings _ Y-axis:

•

Sum of test cases

absolute

- X-axis: Test packages of first level
- Value subdivision: State
- **Display data:**
- Chart Selection: . 3D Stacked Bar Chart



Figure 155 - Test case creation overview

Test execution progress graph (test suite):

Graphical settings

_

- Y-axis: Sum of test cases
- X-axis: Tested
- Value subdivision:
 - 1: Result 1 Day
- Date-Unit: 1 [
 Accumulate Data: no
- Display data: absolute
- Chart Selection: Line Chart



Figure 156 - Test execution progress graph (within one Test Suite)

3.1.5.6.6Report Templates

Some report templates are provided in your TEMPPO installation directory. These are mainly templates for

- Test plan and
- Test execution report

3.1.5.7 Import from another projects

You can import report settings from another project. You have to press the button Import report setting from another project then the following window opens:

TEMPPO reporting settin	gs	×
⊡Demo Notepad └ 🖸 Report Template		
,	OK Cancel	

Figure 157 – Import from other project

Select a report setting and then this setting is added to the actual setting.

3.1.5.8 Export to XML

For exchange you can export your report settings to an XML file. Press the button **Export report setting to XML file** and then a file dialog opens. After selecting the path and file name, press **Save**. Then the file is exported to XML.

3.1.5.9 Import from XML / TRP file

For importing report settings, press the button **Import report setting from XML or TRP file** and then the following file dialog opens:



Figure 158 – Import report settings

In the file dialog you can set the type of file to .trp or .xml. After selecting a file and pressing open, report setting is imported to TEMPPO.

3.2 Multi user ability

Multi user ability establishes an environment for working with several users in a parallel way on the same test structure or suite. It prevents unintentional overriding of changes, manages the synchronization between viewed and stored data and avoids inconsistency, if multiple users work on the same database. Moreover it provides features to facilitate the collaboration in a team working on the same TEMPPO Project.

Chapter 3.2.1 describes the behavior when locking and editing an item. On the other hand chapter 3.2.2 illustrates the 2 possibilities of refreshing (manual, automatic).

 $oldsymbol{j}$ Multi user ability is not supported for MS Access databases.

3.2.1 Lock modes

TEMPPO provides 2 possibilities of locking items (test packages, test cases):

- Manual lock
- Automatic lock

If you are working with manual lock mode, you always have to press the button **Lock** before having the exclusive right to work on that item.

On the other hand you simply have to select an item and it is automatically locked, if another user does not lock it.

This feature can be configured in TEMPPO settings:

Settings		X
 User Interface Database Test Automation Commands Change Management 	Database DSN Chooser Image: Switches on/off a database chooser window on TEMPPO startup. 10 Timeout in seconds displaying DSN chooser Locking Switches on/off to lock the whole test structure before checking in and to prevent check in if an item is locked. Check for new test structure version when saving an item in main latest version Switches on/off to check if the entire test suite is unlocked before exporting. Locking Mode Locking mode in test structure and test suite. Image: automatic image:	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 159 - Settings->Database->Locking

The following chapters are describing the locking in manual mode!

3.2.1.1 Find locks – unlock

	Test Ca	Locked by	Locked since
Detailed description of the required product features		User Super	23.05.2006 16:13:33
Exit - Yes (file open, changes)	1237	nn3	23.05.2006 15:53:55
New (file opened, changes)	tc49	nn2	23.05.2006 15:53:37
New (file opened, no changes)	tc48	nn1	23.05.2006 15:53:07
New Test Package 1		Schlosser Dietmar	23.05.2006 15:57:36

Figure 160 - Test structure - Find locks

In principle TEMPPO differs between 2 locks: User locks (e.g. select a TP, TC) and locks caused from exports (see 3.1.4.7.1). The following lock types are possible:

- Test case
- Test package
- Test result (test case in test suite)
- Test suite (root)
- Test structure (root)
- Version

Locks can be found either in the test structure or test suite

Test structure:

When activating the menu item **Find locks** (menu test structure), Figure 160 is displayed. By selecting one or more locks and pressing the button **Unlock selected elements** locks can be removed.

• Test suite:

When activating the menu item **Find locks** (menu test suite), Figure 160 is displayed. By selecting one or more locks and pressing the button **Unlock selected elements** locks can be removed.

If the corresponding user that still believes in his locked items presses the button **Save**, he will get the following message, that the lock have be removed in the meantime.

Lock Exc	eption X
P	Saving not possible, because the lock was suspended by the administrator!
	OK Save

Figure 161 - Lock deletion message

When closing the window by pressing OK, he can only discard his changes!

3.2.1.2 Showing a lock state

The locking state of the item is shown by:

Special padlock icon (green: locked by the current user, yellow: locked by another user or due to an exported test suite).



📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluatio	n T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp
System [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System]	m Test] - [V3]
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 3. General description of the product 3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of interacti 3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4.1.1. New 3.4.1.1. New 3.4.1.1. New 3.4.1.1	General Attributes Details Requirements History Plan ID: tp535 Name: New Owner: Testmanager Updator: Testmanager Created: 15.02.2012 16:45:50 Updated: 16.02.2012 17:08:21
3.4.1.1.3. New Test Packag	
3.4.1.2. Open	Number of TCs: 2
	Test Category:
3.4.2. Edit Functions 3.4.3. Print Functions 3.4.4. Search Functions 3.4.4. Search Functions 3.4.5. Help System	Description:
 	
	Lock Apply Discard
	₽ī

Figure 162 - Lock button

3.2.1.3 Creating a version

There a different ways for creating a new version, e.g. check in of a version or creating a new branch (for test suite). During the creation process the current version is locked so that no other user can create a version based on the same version. Is the version already locked, the following dialog is shown.



Figure 163 – Version locked

3.2.1.4 Creating a test suite

You can only create a new test suite, if the test structure and all of its items are not locked. Otherwise you cannot create a test suite and you will get the following dialog (see Figure 164), after pressing the **Finish** button on the test suite wizard:

TEMPPO			×
?	There are locks in test structure. Do	you want to con	tinue with creating a test suite?
	Yes	<u>N</u> o	

Figure 164 - Test structure locked

3.2.1.5 Finding invalid locks

On starting and quitting TEMPPO, the whole database is checked for any locks which were set by you. Normally there should be no one left. But if there is one

(see Figure 165), this is an invalid lock, which can have two reasons: Either you are currently running a second TEMPPO Test Manager, or your last TEMPPO session terminated abnormally (crash etc.). If so, you should confirm the dialog by pressing "Yes" to remove all invalid locks.



Figure 165 – Locks found in the database on starting/quitting TEMPPO

3.2.2 Refreshing

3.2.2.1 Refreshing manually

3.2.2.1.1 Reloading the whole test structure / test suite

You can reload the whole test structure / test suite by pressing the reload button on top of the tree (see Figure 166). This has the same effect as manually reopening the test structure / test suite.



Figure 166 - Button Reload for reloading the whole tree

3.2.2.1.2 Refreshing recursively

You can refresh an item including all sub-items by selecting the "refresh recursive" function in the context menu (see Figure 167).

Attention: The selected item with all sub-items will be completely (re)loaded from the database, so it may take a long time.

📝 TEM	PPO - [Testman	ager]	- [Demo Notep	ad]					_ _ _ ×
Project	Test Structure	Edit	Test Execution	Evaluation	Tools	Windows	Help		
📏 Test	: Structure [Notepa) New		•	/3]			_ B ×
M	< > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > >	Q	Find and Repla	ce I	F3		+- E0E		
	Notepad - RTF Im		Show Details			JEW - poked by T	TDDJJD estmanager		
	📃 2. General de		Select All		Ctrl+A	Attribute:	s Details Requireme	ents History Plan	1
	3. Detailed de 3.1. Scop 3.2. Sequi	а 19	Tree Compare		•	ID:	p535		
	🖃 🔁 3.3. User 🖃 🔄 3.4. Requ	X) Cut		Ctrl+X	Name:	New		
	⊡ <mark>©3</mark> 3.4.1. ⊡ ©3 <mark>3</mark> .		Copy		Ctrl+C Ctrl+V	Owner: "	estmanage r	Updator: Teste	er1
	[Paste before			Created: 1	5.02.2012 16:45:50	Updated: 16.02	2.2012 17:12:24
		ţ	Order		•	r of TCs: 2	csi rackayo		
		>	C Delete	1	Delete	category:			T
	⊕~ 🚞 3.4.2. ⊕~ 🚞 3.4.3.		Test automated	test case		scription:	eee		
		Y	Edit Filter		Ctrl+F				
		I.	Refresh recurs	ively					
		4	Move Ownersh	qi				Lock App	ly Discard
									S 1

Figure 167 - Refresh recursive menu (also in the context menu)

3.2.2.1.3 Refreshing on certain user actions

An item is automatically refreshed (including its lock state and the presence of all direct children) after the following actions:

- selecting in the tree view
- pressing the **Lock** button

If these actions are done on an actually deleted item, the following dialog is shown and the item is removed from the view.

TEMPPO	×
♪	Can't find item in database! Maybe the item was deleted by another user.
	OK

Figure 168 - Deleted item information (after trying to select or to lock)

3.3 General principles and user prompting

3.3.1 Multi-selection Mode

TEMPPO offers a feature for multi select test packages and test cases in test structures and test suites.

The multi-selection mode can be used for:

- Assigning attributes / requirements in the test structure
- Assigning test result attributes in the test suite
- Moving ownership in the test structure
- Deleting in the test structure

• Setting test results in the test suite

When the multi-selection mode is activated the items aren't locked automatically. They are only locked during the time for saving. If items are locked by other users the changes are not applied to these items. They are displayed in a list.

3.3.1.1 Multi-selection

The multi-selection mode is activated when more than one item is selected. If a user selects at least 2 items, the right side (=detailed view) is completely empty.

(i)

The user can only activate the multi-selection mode when he has the right.

In an opened test structure test packages and test cases can be selected.

In a test suite only the test case can be selected. Multi-selection for test packages is not possible.

A multi-selection can be done by using different keys:

Select all

For selecting all, press <Ctrl> and <A>. The user can also activate the context menu **Select All** (Figure 169) or the menu item **Edit** \rightarrow **Select All**.

Ľ	New	•
Q	Find and Replace	F3
	Show Details	
	Select All	
皆	Tree	•
*	Cut	Ctrl+X
e e	Сору	Ctrl+C
e	Paste	Ctrl+V
\sim	Delete	Delete
‡	Order	•
P	Edit	
0\$	Refresh recursively	
- Qa	Move Ownership	
i	Analyse selected	•
2	Report selected	

Figure 169 – context menu – "Select All"

The whole sub tree of the selected test structure or test package(s) can be selected (see Figure 170).



Figure 170 – Selection with <Ctrl> + <A> or menu "Select All"

If a test package without children is selected when pressing **Select all** then nothing changes.

Test packages and test cases can be selected with <Ctrl> (see Figure 172) or with <Shift> (see Figure 173). After pressing **Select all** sub trees of the test packages and the selected test cases are marked (see example at Figure 171)



Figure 171 – Before and after "Select all"

• Select non contiguous

For selecting non contiguous, press <Ctrl> and select test packages and/or test cases. A test package is selected itself and not its sub tree, i.e. without children (see Figure 172).



Figure 172 – Selection with <Ctrl>

• Select contiguous

First, select a test package or test case, then press <Shift> and select a test package or test case. The items from the first selected item to the last item are selected, but only the visible items are selected, see Figure 173.



Figure 173 – Selection with <Shift>

With pressing <Shift> and <Alt> the not visible items are selected, too. The tree is expanded and the items are selected, see and Figure 174.



Figure 174 – Tree after selection with <Shift> + <Alt> (in Test Suite)

There are two ways for deselecting:

• Deselect all

Click on any item and the right side changes to the detailed view of this item.

• Deselect single item

Press **<Ctrl>** and click on a selected test package or test case.

If the user has finished his selection, he activates the context menu item **Show Details** (see Figure 175) and the tabs with the content of the selected items is shown on the right side (see Figure 176).

(i) The TEMPPO Designer Task Package and test cases generated by TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) cannot be changed and therefore also not in multi selection mode. If such an artifact is selected, the menu item Show Details is deactivated!

New	•
C Find and Replace	F3
Show Details	
Select All	
E Tree	•
X Cut	Ctrl+X
🗈 Сору	Ctrl+C
💼 Paste	⊂trl+V
🗙 Delete	Delete
X Delete	Delete
Delete Order Edit	Delete
Delete Order Edit	Delete
Delete Order Grder Edit Refresh recursively Move Ownership	Delete
Delete Order Edit Green Edit Refresh recursively Analyse selected	Delete

Figure 175 – Show Details
TEMPPO - [Tester1] - [Demo Notepad]	the state of the s	-0×
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	valuation Tools Windows Help	
STest Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] -	[System Test] - [V1.1.1]	_ 8 ×
Image: A start of the star	Multi-Selection Mode After finishing your multi-selection, activate the context menu item "Show General Test Packages Total number of selected TPs: 9 Total number of selected TCs: 2	· Details".
3.4.1.4. Exit		verge Apply Discard
		2 8 2 9 9 8 8

Figure 176 - After "Show Details", content is shown

3.3.1.2 Multi selection merge (of unchanged TPs and TCs)

A so called "Multi selection merge" is done based on the current selection of unchanged TPs and TCs.

(i) Please do not mix this feature with the merge of all changed items!

If you press the button **Merge**, all items are merged to the latest version after pressing the **Yes** in Figure 176.

Merge	Warning			X
	Applying the funct those items in the	ion of merging the selected latest version!	l test packages / test	cases (multi merge) overwrites
		Yes	<u>N</u> o	

Figure 177 – Merge information

(i)

After finishing merge a result summary is displayed to the user (see Figure 178).

It is not possible to merge an item, if its father item doesn't exist in the latest version.

🔀 TEM	PPO		X
Туре	Name	ID	Result
тс	M New Test Case	tc117254	Success
тс	Mew Test Case	tc117252	Success
тс	Mew Test Case	tc117256	Test cases/Test Packages could not be merge because its father test package does not exist in latest version. Please select and merge it!
TP	💼 New Test Package	tp117253	Success
TP	💼 New Test Package	tp117251	Success
			Save

Figure 178 - Merge summary

3.3.1.3 Display of assigned attributes and requirements

3.3.1.3.1 Test Structure

After activating the menu item **Edit > Show Details** two tabs **Test Package** and **Test Case** are displayed. Tab **Test Package** with the sub-tabs **General** and **Requirements** and tab **Test Case** with the sub-tabs **Attributes** and **Requirements** that contain 3 sub-tabs for own attributes/requirements, inherited attributes/requirements and the inheritance state.

If at least two test packages and no test case are selected, the tab **Test Case** is disabled. If at least two test cases and no test package are selected, the tab **Test Package** is disabled.

3.3.1.3.1.1 Test Case, tab Attributes

The tab **Attributes** contains 3 tabs **Direct linked Attributes**, **Inherited Attributes** and **Inheritance**.

Tab **Direct linked Attributes** displays the attributes which are directly linked to a test case.

Type and Situation (radio buttons):

If all selected test cases have set the same value, the value is selected ($^{\odot}$), otherwise there is no selection ($^{\odot}$).

Priority and State (combo boxes):

If all selected test cases have set the same value, the value is displayed, otherwise the selection is empty (

Direct linked Attributes Inherited Attributes Inheritance Priority: Regular Validation • Error Verification State: • Ľ Additional Test Levels D Attribute Values X \times Acceptance Test Milestone - M1 Platform - Windows ... 1 Чh. Regressiontest - yes 7 Test location

Attributes Requirements Plan

Additional Test Levels and Attribute Values:

The values that are assigned to all selected test cases are displayed as usual (white background color). The values that are not assigned to all test cases are displayed in a special color (grey background color). If you want to assign such an attribute to all TCs, select it, right mouse click and activate

Assign to all test cases . Such attributes or new assigned attributes are displayed in red color.

Tab **Inherited Attributes** displays common state of TCs which have inherited attributes from a TP.

Radio buttons: If all selected test cases with activated inheritance have set the same value, the value is selected ($^{(\circ)}$), otherwise there is no selection ($^{(\circ)}$).

Combo boxes: If all selected test cases with activated inheritance have set the same value, the value is displayed, otherwise the selection is empty (

Additional Test Levels and Attribute Values:

The values that are assigned to all selected test cases are displayed as usual (white background color). The values that are not assigned to all test cases are displayed in a special color (grey background color)

The tab **Inheritance** displays the common state of the inheritance flag of the selected TCs. If the checkbox is not activated ($\[\] Not inherited\]$), all selected TCs do not have any inherited attributes. If the checkbox is activated ($\[\] Inherited\]$), all selected TCs inherit their attributes. If the checkbox looks like



Inherited partially the common state is mixed: TCs with and without inherited attributes.



3.3.1.3.1.2 **Test Case, tab Requirements**

The tab **Requirements** contains 3 sub-tabs: **Direct linked Requirements**, Inherited Requirements and Inheritance.

Tab Direct linked Requirements displays the requirements which are directly linked to a test case. Requirements assigned to all selected test cases are displayed as usual in white background color. Requirements assigned to not all test cases are displayed in a special color (grey background color). If you want to assign such a requirement to all selected TCs, select it and activate the context menu Assign to all test cases . It is displayed in red color as well as new linked requirements.

The tab **Inherited Requirements** displays the requirements which are inherited from test packages. Requirements assigned to all selected test cases are displayed as usual in white background color. Requirements assigned to not all test cases are displayed in a special color (grey background color). Of course, it is not possible to edit anything here.

The tab Inheritance displays the common state of the inheritance flag of the selected If the checkbox is not activated TCs. (<u>Not inherited</u>), all selected TCs do not have any inherited requirements. If the checkbox is activated (Inherited), all selected TCs have at least one inherited requirement. If the

checkbox looks like Inherited partially the common state is mixed: TCs with and without inherited requirements.

3.3.1.3.1.3 Test Package, tab General

This tab is reduced to the combo box for **test** category. If all selected test packages have set the same value, the value is displayed. If there are test packages with different test

categories, an entry with Several Categories is selected. If there is no selection, an empty entry is selected.

C)irect linked Requir	rements	In	herited Requirements Inheritance
	📝 Inherit	Legen	d:	Not inherited
				Inherited partially
				V Inherited

Inherited Requirements

Requirement is assigned to selected items partially

ComponentA R3

ComponentA R1

ComponentA R2

Requirement is assigned to all selected ite

Requirement ID Requirement Name

Legend

req683

req684

eq685





Requirement is as	ssigned to all selected items		
Requirement ID	Requirement Name		
req685	ComponentA R2		
req686	ComponentB R1	_	Ŀ
ea687	ComponentC R3		

Inheritance

X

3.3.1.3.1.4 Test Package, tab Attributes

The tab **Attributes** contains 3 tabs **Direct linked Attributes**, **Inherited Attributes** and **Inheritance**.

Tab **Direct linked Attributes** displays the common state of all selected TPs that have not set the inherit flag.

Type and **Situation** (radio buttons): If all selected TPs without inherit flag have set the same value, the value is selected ([®]), otherwise there is no selection ([©]).

Priority and **State** (combo boxes): If all selected TPs without inherit flag have set the same value, the value is displayed, otherwise the selection is empty (

Additional Test Levels and Attribute Values:

The values that are assigned to all selected test TPs are displayed as usual (white background color). The values that are not assigned to all TPs are displayed in a special color (grey background color). If you want to assign such an attribute to all TPs, select it, right mouse click and activate

Assign to all test packages . Such attributes or new assigned attributes are displayed in red color.

Tab **Inherited Attributes** displays common state of TPs which have inherited attributes from a TP.

Radio buttons: If all selected TPs with activated inherit flag have set the same value, the value is selected (^(a)), otherwise there is no selection (^(a)).

Combo boxes: If all selected TPs with activated inherit flag have set the same value, the value is displayed, otherwise the selection is empty (

The tab **Inheritance** displays the common state of the inheritance flag of the selected TPs. If the checkbox is not activated (Not inherited), all selected TPs do not inherit any attributes. If checkbox is the activated all (V Inherited) selected TPs inherit their attributes. If the checkbox looks like

General Test Pa	ckages Test Case	8	
General Attribute	Requirements		
Direct linked Attri	butes Inherited Att	nbutes Inheritance	
RegularError	Validation	Priority:State:	•
Additional Test	Levels	Attribute Values	

D	irect linked Attribu	tes Inherit	ed Attributes	Inheritance	
	🕅 Inharit	Legend:	Notinher	ited	
	M milen	-		licu	
			Inherited	partially	
			Inherited		

☑ Inherited partially the common state is mixed: TPs with and without attribute inheritance.



3.3.1.3.1.5 Test Package, tab Requirements

The tab **Requirements** contains 3 sub-tabs: **Direct linked Requirements**, **Inherited Requirements** and **Inheritance**.

Tab Direct linked Requirements displays the requirements which are directly linked to a TP. Requirements assigned to all selected TPs are displayed as usual in white background color. Requirements assigned to not all TPs are displayed in a special color (grey background color). New requirements are displayed in red color. If you want to assign such a requirement to all selected TPs, select and activate the context it menu Assign to all test packages Such requirements or new displayed in red color.

The tab **Inherited Requirements** displays the common state of selected TPs which inherit their requirements. Requirements assigned to all selected TPs are displayed as usual in white background color. Requirements assigned to not all TPs are displayed in a special color (grey background color). Of course, it is not possible to edit anything here.

The tab **Inheritance** displays the common state of the inheritance flag of the selected TPs. If the checkbox is not activated (**Not inherited**), all selected TPs do not have any inherited requirements. If the checkbox is activated (**Inherited**), all selected TPs have at least one inherited requirement. If the checkbox looks like **Inherited** partially the common

state is mixed: TPs with and without inherited requirements.

3.3.1.4 Multi selection merge (of changed TPs and TCs)

A so called "Multi selection merge (of changed TPs and TCs)" is done based on the changed TPs and TCs of the current selection. Only the changed ones are merged!

$\mathbf{\dot{U}}$ Please do not mix this feature with the merge of all items!

If you press the button **Merge**, all items are merged to the latest version after pressing the **Yes** in Figure 179.

Requirement is a	ssigned to all selected ite	ms
		_
Requirement ID	Requirement Name	
req683	ComponentA R3	-
req684	ComponentA R1	
req685	ComponentA R2	

Inherited Requirements

D	Direct linked Requirements		Inherited Requirements Inheritance
	🔽 Inherit	Legen	d: Not inherited
			Inherited partially
			☑ Inherited



linked requirements are

Inheritance



Figure 179 – Merge information

After finishing merge a result summary is displayed to the user.

() It is not possible to merge an item, if its father item doesn't exist in the latest version.

Туре	Name	ID	Result
тс	Mew Test Case	tc117254	Success
тс	M New Test Case	tc117252	Success
тс	M New Test Case	tc117256	Test cases/Test Packages could not be merge because its father test package does not exist in latest version. Please select and merge it!
TP	💼 New Test Package	tp117253	Success
TP	💼 New Test Package	tp117251	Success
ТР	New Test Package	tp117251	Success

Figure 180 - Merge summary

3.3.1.4.1Test Suite

After activating the menu **Edit > Show Details** the tab Attributes TR is displayed.

• tab Attributes TR (see Figure 181)

The attribute values that are assigned to all selected test cases are displayed as usual. The attribute values assigned to not all test cases are displayed in a special color (grey background color). New added attributes are displayed in red color.



Figure 181 – Attributes TR

3.3.1.4.2Filter in multi-selection mode

If there is a multi-selection and a filter is set, only those items that match are considered. If the items of the multi-selection are still shown, they are selected again (see Figure 182 and Figure 183).

The **Show Details** menu item has to be activated again, because the selection has changed.

TEMPPO - [Tester1] - [Demo Notepad]	the state of the s	_ 🗆 🗵
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Ev	valuation Tools Windows Help	
STest Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] -	[System Test] - [V1.1.1]	_ & ×
Image: Status and Status	Image: Selection Mode After finishing your multi-selection, activate the context menuitem "Show Details" General Test Packages Total number of selected TPs: 28 Total number of selected TCs: 7	
3.4.1:3. Save	Merge	Apply Discard
		6, 8, 8, 8, 8, 8

Figure 182 – No filter



Figure 183 – Set Filter

3.3.1.5 Setting new assignments

The user can set or remove attributes values or requirements to / from the selected items. If any changes are made, the buttons **Apply** and **Discard** get enabled.

Values of radio buttons and combo boxes:

If a value is set and the button **Apply** is pressed, all selected items get that value. If no value is set, nothing changes.

Values in lists:

"Common values" can be set and removed. The assignment of additional test levels, attribute values and requirements to the selected items is done analogue to the assignment of these values to a single item with the assignment dialog (see Figure 184). A new common value is written in red with a white background color (see Figure 185).



Figure 184 – Assignment dialog

TEMPPO - [Tester1] - [Demo Notepad] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	Svaluation Tools Windows Help	
Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCS] Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1. Introduction 1.1. Purpose of the document 1.3. Definitions of terms and abbreviati 1.4. Relationship with other documents 1.5. Overview of the document 2. General description of the product	-[System Test] - [V3] - [System Test] - [V3] Multi-Selection Mode After finishing your multi-selection, activate the context menu item "Show Details". General Test Packages Test Case Attributes Requirements Plan Inherit attributes	_ # ×
 2.1. Relationship with existing projects 2.2. Relationship with earlier and follow 2.3. Purpose of the product 2.4. Delimitation and embedding of the 2.5. Overview of the required functions 2.6. General restrictions 2.7. Hardware and software specificat 2.8. Product users 3. Detailed description of the required proc 	Image: Constraint of the second state in the second sta	
3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of interact 3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4.1. File Administration 3.4.1.1. New 1.3.4.1.1. New 3.4.1.1.3. New (file openec 3.4.1.1.3. New Test Packs 	 Platform - Windows 7 64 bit Regressiontest - yes Test location - Offshore 	
3.4.1.4. Exit	Дор	ly <u>D</u> iscard

Figure 185 – New common values

"Not common values" displayed in grey can only be removed. But if a user wants to apply a "grey" value to all selected items, he activates the button **Assign to all test cases.** Then this value is written in red with a grey background color (see Figure 186).



Figure 186 – Assign to all test cases

If the button **Apply** is pressed, all common values (white background color and red foreground color) are set for the selected items. All values that have been removed on the GUI will be removed from the selected items.

Changes are not applied to locked items, which are displayed in a list (see Figure 187).



Figure 187 – Locked Items...

If the button **Discard** is pressed, all changes in all tabs will be discarded.

3.3.1.6 Move Ownership

Now the function "move ownership" can be applied for any number of selected test cases and test packages, but the right has to be considered.



Figure 188 – Context menu – Move Ownership

Move ownership to			×
Lastname 🔺	Firstname	Login	T
2		Tester1	
8		Testmanager	-
		Move Cance	el

Figure 189 – Move ownership

After the process moving the ownership, a summary is shown (see Figure 190).



Figure 190 - Summary

If the user doesn't have the right to move the ownership of foreign items or the item is locked, a list of items is displayed (see Figure 191). These items aren't changed.



Figure 191 – Locked Items...

3.3.1.7 Delete

This function is now available for any number of selected test cases or test packages, but the user has to have the right.



Figure 192 – Context menu - delete



Figure 193 – Acknowledgement for deleting

After the acknowledgement of the user the delete process starts. If the items are locked or the user doesn't have the right to delete "foreign" items, a list of these items which couldn't be removed is displayed (see Figure 194).



Figure 194 – Locked Items...

3.3.1.8 Set test results

The function "**Set Result(s)**" can be applied either for a whole sub tree or for any number of selected test cases. Activate **Set Result(s)** in the context menu (see Figure 195) and afterwards Figure 196 is shown.



Figure 195 - Context menu - Set Result(s)

Set Result(s)		×
Set Result(s) to:		
C failed		
passed		
O not executed		
C blocked		
C not implemented		
C on hold		
Verwrite existing result	i.	
· ·		
	Apply	Close

Figure 196 – Set Result(s)

You can choose one result and optionally set the checkbox **Overwrite existing results** and after clicking **Apply** all test results are set.

(i) If other users have locked test cases, it is not possible to set the result, of course. You will be informed if results couldn't be set (see Figure 197).

(i) If a test case contains no test steps, it remains "not executed".

TEMPPO	×
i	Number of test cases with new result: 5 Number of locked test cases: 0
	OK

Figure 197 – Information message

3.3.2 Hyperlinks and Uploads

Generally you can mark text as

- Hyperlink to the web
- Hyperlink to a file
- Hyperlink to an upload
- Hyperlink to a test automation tool or command
- Hyperlink to a test case

3.3.2.1 Creating hyperlinks

Hyperlinks to the web, to the file system, to uploads, to a test automation tool, to a command or to a test case can be created for the following text fields

- Description (project, test structure, test package)
- Precondition (test package, test case)
- Postcondition (test package, test case)
- **Test goal** (test case)
- **Instruction, input, expected** (test case)
- Result output, actual result, bug ID (test case in test suite)

B Bold
⊥ Italic
빌 Underline
🗢 Hyperlink
🔅 Remove hyperlink
Download

Figure 198 - Menu hyperlink

For creating a hyperlink it is necessary to select at least one character in editable text fields and activate the context sensitive menu **Hyperlink** (see Figure 198), which opens the Hyperlink window (see Figure 199).

📝 Hyperlink	×
😤 Web 📃 层 File 😂 Database	
URL: http://www	- 1
OK Cancel	
	-

Figure 199 - Hyperlink to the web

You have the possibility to enter a link to the web (specified by an HTTP address) or to the file system (see Figure 200).

Hyperlink	×
File: C:\Program Files\TEMPPO 6.0\Jauncher.properties	
OK Car	ncel

Figure 200 - Hyperlink to the file system

In case of changing drive letters, moving file shares and other similar problems it may be better to upload the files to the database. For referencing an upload you have 2 possibilities: you can upload a new file or use an existing one and create a reference on it. The philosophy of this concept is to upload a file only once and create more references on it (if necessary).

📝 Upload Properties of launcher.properties		
General		
	launcher.properties	
Origin:	C:\Program Files\TEMPPO 6.0\launcher.properties	
Size	2.10 kByte	
Created:	16.02.2012 17:55:04	
Owner:	Tester1	
References:	0	
Туре:	Upload	
Description:		
	OK Cancel	

Figure 201 - Upload properties

Upload a new file: You have to activate the **Upload** button to open Figure 201 for specifying a special **name** and **description**. Additionally **owner**, **creation date**, **size**, the number of **references** and the **type** are displayed.

📝 Hyperlink	×
🔮 Web 🖳 File 😫 Database 🔒 Command 🔛 Manual Test Case	
Reference:	
ок	ancel

Figure 202 - Hyperlink database

Use an existing upload: You have to activate tab **database** and press button **create reference to uploaded file** to open Figure 203, which shows all uploads of the database. For creating a new reference on an existing upload you simply have to select it and click **OK** in Figure 203 and Figure 202.

Name	Owner	Created	Size
launcher.properties	Testmanager	14.02.2012 14:02:33	2.10 kByte
logging.properties	Testmanager	14.02.2012 14:03:06	1.95 kByte
rtfimport_13293207502261631_1329320750320.png	Testmanager	15.02.2012 16:55:05	6.31 kByte
rtfimport_13293207502261631_1329320750320.png	Testmanager	15.02.2012 16:45:50	6.31 kByte
rtfimport_13293207512891632_1329320751398.png	Testmanager	15.02.2012 16:55:06	6.31 kByte
rtfimport_13293207512891632_1329320751398.png	Testmanager	15.02.2012 16:45:51	6.31 kByte
uninstall.log	Testmanager	14.02.2012 14:02:51	2.67 kByte

Figure 203 - Uploads



TEMPPO	Note
2	You are about to upload a file, which exceeds the limit of 488.28 kByte. Do you want to continue?
	Yes No

Figure 204 – File size exceeds the upload limit

The fourth possibility is that you create hyperlinks with parameters:

- by a test automation tool
- or a command defined in settings (see 3.3.20.2.10)

which is selected in the first combo box.

Hyperlink with a test automation tool are defined like automated test cases. You have to define a file and (optional) additional arguments (for more details see 3.1.3.1.6).

Pressing on the hyperlink defined with a test automation tool, executes the link and then a message box is shown with the result.

📝 Hyperlink	×
🔮 Web 🗮 File l 🥞 Database 🔒 Command 🛛 🔛 Manual Test Case	
Command UniversalFile	-
File: \Temp\TestCase_0.cmd	<u></u>
Additional Arguments:	
Command Line Preview:	
"D:\Temp\TestCase_0.cmd" > < <resultfile>> 2> <<errorfile>></errorfile></resultfile>	
OK Canc	el

Figure 205 – Hyperlink test automation tool

Hyperlink with a command can be defined with additional arguments.

Pressing on the hyperlink defined with a command, then the command is executed and then a message box shows the output of the process.

📝 Hyperlink 🔰
🔮 Web 🚍 File l 🥞 Database 🔒 Command 🔡 Manual Test Case
Command Java32
Path: C:\Program Files\SITEMPPO 5.8\jre\bin\java.exe
Arguments:
-jar "D:\temp\meinjar.jar" -args "arg1"
Additional Arguments:
OK

Figure 206 – Hyperlink command

Hyperlink to test case is defined if a test case or test steps are reused in another test case. E.g., if you create a test case "Login" with some steps that is used other test cases, it can be referenced by hyperlinks from other test cases. First of all you create a step, and select the text that becomes a hyperlink:

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad] oject Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	Tools Wind	lows Help		
Test Structure (Notepad - RTF Import with TCs) - (System)	Test] - [V3]		no changes) - to536	
↓ Notepad - RTF Import with TCs ⊕ 1. Introduction ⊕ 2. General description of the product ⊕ 3. Detailed description of the required product	General /	ed by Testmanager	cometion Requirements History Plan Exec	ution History
3.1. Scope of delivery	Nr.	Instruction	Expected	P+ _
3.3. User goals	0 1 ⊙ ≶ 2	Login File.New.pick()	Editor Pane cleared	
¹ 3.4.1.1. Login ² 3.4.1.2. New ¹ 3.4.1.3. Open ¹ 3.4.1.5. Exit ¹ 3.4.2. Fitt Functions	€≋ 3		Untitled - Notepad in title bar	
B → 3.4.2. Edit Functions B → 3.4.3. Print Functions B → 3.4.4. Search Functions → 3.4.5. Help System				Discard

Figure 207 - Source test case

Then click right mouse button for context menu, select **Hyperlink**" and select the test case.



Figure 208 - Select test case

After pressing the **OK** button, the selected test case is displayed by its **ID**, when moving the mouse over the hyperlink.

oject Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	Tools Window	s Help		
Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System]	Fest] - [V3]			_ 5
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs	New Locked General Attri	v (file opened by Testmanager butes Test Steps Art	, no changes) - tc53 omation Requirements History Plan I	6 Execution History
3. Detailed description of the required product	Ne	Instruction	Evnerted	
 3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4.1. File Administration 3.4.1.1. Windows Login 3.4.1.1. Login 3.4.1.2. New 3.4.1.2.1. New (file opened, no 1.3.4.1.2.3. New Test Package c 3.4.1.3. Open 3.4.1.4. Save 	●	tc742 le.New.pick()	Editor Pane cleared Untitled - Notepad in title bar	
3.4.1.5. Exit 3.4.2. Edit Functions 3.4.3. Print Functions 3.4.4. Search Functions 3.4.5. Help System	<u></u>		Lock Apply	

Figure 209 - Referenced Test case ID

If you click on the hyperlink, the "destination" test cases is selected automatically. Additionally a **Back** button (see Figure 210) is shown to return to the "source" test case.



Figure 210 – Referenced test case with "Back" button

3.3.2.2 Edit hyperlinks

If you select a hyperlink (web, file system, upload) and activate the context sensitive menu (mouse over hyperlink) and choose the menu hyperlink, Figure 200 is shown, where you can change the

- link into the web
- link into the file system
- upload
- link for the auto tool
- link with a command
- link to another test case

3.3.2.3 Remove hyperlinks

If you select a hyperlink (web, file system, upload) and activate the context sensitive menu (mouse over hyperlink) and choose the menu **Remove hyperlink**, the hyperlink is removed. But take care that an upload remains in the database.

(i) To remove obsolete uploads, see chapter 5.4.5

3.3.2.4 Download an upload

If you select a hyperlink (upload) and activate the context sensitive menu (mouse over hyperlink) and choose the menu **Download**, Figure 211 is shown to select a directory for the file download.



Figure 211 - Destination selection

3.3.3 Test Case Templates

Templates can be defined for test structures and test suites. For each test structure exactly 1 test case template can be defined. For test suites belonging to a test structure a template can be configured as well.

In the tab **"Test Case Template"** the test manager defines a basic test case. He can configure **standard attributes**, define **mandatory attributes** or determines if a test case has to be at least **one link to a requirement**. If these conditions are not fulfilled the test case cannot be saved. For details see chapter 3.3.3.1

In the tab **"Test Result Template"** the test manager configures result attributes for test case. If a tester records a result and a test result template is activated, he has to add values for the **mandatory attributes**. For details see chapter 3.3.3.2.

3.3.3.1 Test case template

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Test Project]		
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	tion Tools Windows Help	
🚸 Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] - [/2]	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Exelue Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] - [Test Structure] Test Structure 1. Manual 2. Auto	tion Tgols Windows Help	
	Lock Appl	y Discard
		21

Figure 212 – Test Case Template: General

A Test Case template (TCT) supports testers to create and update test cases in complete manner. For a TCT you can define

- Mandatory fields (user has to enter a test goal, precondition, postcondition, see Figure 212 and Figure 214
- **Default values** for the **fixed attributes**, e.g. priority has to be "In work", if a test case is created, see Figure 213
- Inheritance of UDAs and/or defining UDAs as mandatory or with a default value, see Figure 213
- Inheritance of requirements and/or linking at least 1 mandatory requirement, see Figure 215
- Default values for a **planned tester** and a **planned execution time**, see Figure 216

A TCT is concerned in two cases in TEMPPO: When creating a new test case and locking/editing an existing one.

You can activate a TCT for the use case of creating and updating test cases but excluding the use case of viewing: clicking trough (= locking – unlocking) test cases.

You can activate a TCT (check) also for viewing existing test cases. E.g., if you activate the TCT after creating some test cases that do not fulfill the conditions and view them later, you cannot click another test case without fulfilling the TCT (=leave a locked TC).

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Test Project]	-			3
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	ation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp			
Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] - [V2]			x
Image: Structure Imag	Cocked by Testmanager General Plan Requirements Temp Test Case template Test Result temp V Test Case template activated Test Case template activated	kate Attributes plate		
	General Attributes Test Steps	Requirements Plan		
	Regular Validation Error Verification	Priority Top State Designed	•]	
	User defined attributes			
	Attribute	Mandatory	Assigned default value	
	New Entry OS			
			Lock Apply Discard	
				0

Figure 213 – Test Case Template: Attribute

Project Test Structure Test Execution Egislustion Tgols Windows Help	TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Test Project]		_ _ x
Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] - [V2] Image: Construction of the structure Image: Constructure Image: Constructure Image: Constructure Image: Constructure Image: Constructure Image: Constructure Image: Constructure <td>Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evalu</td> <td>ation T<u>o</u>ols <u>W</u>indows <u>H</u>elp</td> <td></td>	Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evalu	ation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
Cost Structure Looked by Testmanager Cost Structure Looked by Testmanager Ceneral Plan Requirements Template Attributes Test Case template Test Case template activated V Test Case template activated V Test Case template valid only for new and updated test cases (except viewed test cases)	Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] -	[/2]	
General Attributes Test Steps Requirements Plan Mandatory fields Image: Comparison of the step of	TextManager - Lest Manager - Lest Mojecti Ergiect Test Structure Edit Test Execution Exail Fest Structure - (System Test Test Structure) - (System Test Test Structure) Test Structure Test Test Structure Test Structure Test Structure	Interfective service s	
		Free abs	y Discard

Figure 214 – Test Case Template: Test Step

Erged ges Shocker (Eet Shocker) Figure Tops Windows (He)	TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Test Project]		×
Statute free Structure - Poysen Test - 1/2 I have a structure - Poysen	Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluat	tion T <u>o</u> ols <u>Windows</u> <u>H</u> elp	
Image: Control	Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] - [[2]	
Look Appy Discard	Project Test Structure gat Test Execution Evalue Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] - [Test Structure] Test Structure Test S	ten Tgols Windows Help	
Lock Apply Discard			
			ly <u>D</u> iscard

Figure 215 – Test Case Template: Requirement

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Test Project]	En un income contract a sur	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	uation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] - [[V2]	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Exalu Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test] - Test Structure Test Stru	Auton Tgols Windows Help V3	min (0-59)
		2pply Discard
		S it

Figure 216 – Test Case Template: Plan

3.3.3.1.1Create new test case

If a TCT is activated and a new test case is created, the values of TCT are applied:

- fixed attributes are set automatically.
- UDAs with default values (but without ticked checkbox **Mandatory**) are assigned automatically
- inheritance flag of requirements is (de)activated
- inheritance flag of UDAs is (de)activated
- default values for planned tester and planned execution time are set automatically

The new created test case can only be saved (button **Apply**, clicking another test case),

- if a precondition is entered and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 214 – Test Case Template: Test Step) is ticked
- if a postcondition is entered and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 214 – Test Case Template: Test Step) is ticked
- if a test goal is entered and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 212) is ticked
- if at least one requirement is linked and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 215) is ticked
- if an UDA plus value is assigned and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 213) is ticked.

3.3.3.1.2Unlock/save existing test case

An existing test case can be unlocked/saved without message,

- if a precondition is entered and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 214) is ticked.
- if a postcondition is entered and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 214) is ticked.
- if a test goal is entered and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 212) is ticked.
- if checkbox **Inherit** in tab **Requirement** is activated and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 215) is ticked.
- if at least one requirement is linked and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 215) is ticked.
- if checkbox **Inherit** in tab **Attributes** is activated and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 213) is ticked.
- If an UDA plus value is assigned and the corresponding checkbox in TCT (see Figure 213) is ticked.

If a TCT is activated and a test case with missing e.g. default attribute values is edited, those are not added automatically!

3.3.3.1.3Test case template and filter

If

(i)

- a TCT is activated and
- a filter is set and
- a new TC should be created and
- the test case don't fulfill the filter criterion

the test case cannot be created. You have to set the filter to "No filter" and start again the creation progress.

3.3.3.2 Test result templates

A test result template supports you in test case execution. You can define a test result as mandatory or set a default value, if a result is recorded.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Test Project]	in the part of the part of	and the second			X
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evalu	ation T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp				
Test Structure [Test Structure] - [System Test]					
A Dece to Manual Dece 1.0 Manual	Locked by Testmanager General Plan Requirements Template Test Case template Test Result template I Test Result template activated Democr test result template in only and	Attributes			
	Test case viewing is not concerned.			1	
	Attribute TR1 TR2	Mandatory	V	Assigned default value Release1	
					pply Discard

Figure 217 – Test result template

In Figure 217, test result attributes are defined. If you record a test result "TR1 = Release1" is assigned automatically and you have to specify a value for TR2. Otherwise the test case cannot be saved.

3.3.4 Attribute activation

In some cases, attributes shouldn't be assigned to test cases anymore because they are invalid in future. In TEMPPO, available attributes can be restricted for assignments, but assignments from past are still visible and can be used e.g. for filtering.

Attribute activation can be defined for each test structure in tab **Attributes**, see also Figure 218. If the check box for an attribute is greyed, the attribute is set in template.

Only Superusers and TEMPPO Key Users are allowed to deactivate attributes.

TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo No	tepad]			_ D X
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluat	ion T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> ind	lows <u>H</u> elp		
Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System Test] - [\	/14]		
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs Notepad - RTF Import with TCs Introduction General description of the product Detailed description of the product Detailed description of the required product Specifications for project management	General Plan Attribute active	pad - RTF I ny Testmanager Requirement Structure ation: Select attributes whi	mport with TCs Template Attributes ch can be assigned.	
Obligations of the client	Activated /	Name	Attribute Type	
Annex		Browser Developer Developer Developer Developer Sist Schon Testbar Mile stone Mile stone New Entry Platform Regressiontest Sample Test location Test_IN IN_IN TP Type Treiber Window 7 client	Test Case Test Case Test Case Test Case Test Result, Test Suite Test Case Test Case	
• •				Apply Discard
				21

Figure 218 – Attribute activation

3.3.5 Requirement (Structure) activation

In some cases, requirements shouldn't be assigned to test cases anymore because they are invalid in future. In TEMPPO, available requirement structures can be restricted for assignments, but assignments from past are still visible and can be used e.g. for filtering.

Requirement Structure activation can be defined for each test structure in tab **Requirement Structure -> (De)Activation**, see also Figure 218. If the check box for a requirement structure is greyed, the attribute is set in template.

Only Superusers and TEMPPO Key Users are allowed to deactivate requirement structures.

oject <u>Test Structure</u> <u>Edit</u> Test Execution Evaluation Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] -]	tion T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> ind [System Test] - [V	ows <u>H</u> elp 14]	
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs Notepad - RTF Import with TCs TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Tasks Ceneral description of the product Detailed description of the required prov Specifications for project management Obligations of the client Literature	Ceneral Plan Info (De)Activ Requirement S	pad - RTF Import v y Testmanager Requirement Structure Template Attr ation	with TCs ibutes itructures which can be assigned.
Annex	Activated /	Name Components Learning Project - Use Cases 1 Link test cases to requirement Notepad User requirements	TYPE Manual IBM RequisitePro Manual Manual Manual
	11		

Figure 219 - Requirement Structure Activation

3.3.6 Move Ownership

Owner of an item is the user who creates this item. Move Ownership is offered for the following items:

- Requirement
- Test Level
- Test Category
- Attribute
- Upload
- User Fields
- Test Case
- Test Package
- Test Structure
- Test Suite

For Move Ownership of Projects see 5.5.6.

For Metadata:

Select the corresponding metadata in the TEMPPO Administrator application. Select the metadata you want to change and press the button **Move ownership**.

For Test Case, Test Package, Test Structure and Test Suite: Select the item and click the menu item A list of all TEMPPO users is presented to the current user (see Figure 320 on page 248). A new owner of the selected item can be chosen (see also 5.5.6).

3.3.7 Map of Meta Data (project wide copy)

If parts of a test structure are copied from one project A to another project B, the related metadata can be copied, too. At the beginning of the paste action the user is asked, if metadata should be mapped, too (see Figure 220).

📝 Copy Meta Data	×
C Copy without Meta Data	
Copy with Meta Data	
Only those assigned to opened project	
O all used in selected subtree	
	-
Note: Insensitive items are not used in selected subtree.	
I Test Level	
Test Category	
I✓ Attribute	
I Upload	
F Additional Test Step Column	
]	
OK Cancel	

Figure 220 – Copy Meta Data

There you can choose from three possibilities to paste:

- Copy without Meta Data: Only the selected part of the structure is copied, but not the metadata.
- Copy with Meta Data:
 - Only those assigned to opened project: The selected part are copied only with those metadata which are already assigned to the target project.
 - All used in selected sub tree: The selected part with all assigned metadata is pasted to the project B. Metadata which is not yet assigned to the target project are implicitly assigned to it.

(i) The third possibility is disabled, if the user has not the right "Copy All".

After opening the window, the metadata types (checkboxes) are selected which are used in the copied sub tree. You can also un-/ select each metadata which should be pasted.

By clicking **OK** the items are added to the test structure.

3.3.8 Find and Replace

TEMPPO offers a find and replace mechanism. By pressing **F3** or activating the menu item **Edit > Find and Replace** Figure 221 is shown.

📝 Find			23
Test spage Test	and and Branchard		
Test case Test	backage Requirement		
Search in:	User defined ID	•	Direction
for:			© Up
Denlace with:			Own
Replace with			
Case - sen	sitive		
Find Next	Find Next Test Case	List Occurrence	es
Replace	Replace All in Test Case	Replace All	
			Close

Figure 221 – Find and Replace

The find/replace dialog includes two tabs, whereas the first one is for searching in **test cases**, **test packages and for requirements**.

Both tabs provide the same features, the only different between this two tabs is the different search-content.

A **test case** in a test structure can be found via searching for

- user defined ID
- name
- test goal
- precondition
- postcondition
- test step columns (instruction, input, expected)
- user defined fields.

A test case in a test suite can be found additionally by its **tester's comment**, **actual result** and **bug ID**. Only the text fields tester's comment, actual result and bug ID can be replaced in test suites.

A test package in a test structure can be found via searching for

- name
- description
- precondition
- postcondition.

The search criteria can be specified using the wildcards * (0..n arbitrary characters) or/and ? (exactly one arbitrary character) and is case sensitive.

The replace function searches for the test case and then the searched part will be replaced to the entered name.

Example: You want to change the name of the test cases. The part "Test Case" should be changed to the German name "Testfall", so you select "Name" in **Search in** and write in the text field **for** "Test Case". In the **Replace with** – text field you write "Testfall".

A searching direction can be chosen, too. The searching algorithm starts from the selected node in the tree. Is the tree root selected, the whole tree is searched whatever direction is selected.

3.3.8.1.1Find (Test Case / Test Package)

There are three possibilities for finding test case(s)/ package(s):

- **Find Next:** With clicking Find Next the first test case/package is searched and selected in the tree. The first occurrence is marked, too. With the next click, the next occurrence is marked. If there are no more occurrences in the test case, the next test case/package would be searched. If there is no element (anymore) a message is shown (see Figure 222).
- Find Next Test Case/package: With clicking Find Next Test Case/Package the first test case/package is searched selected in the tree. The first occurrence is marked, too. With the next click, the next test case/package is searched. If there is no element (anymore) a message is shown (see Figure 222).

Find and Replace 🛛 🗙		
(į)	No more occurrences found!	
	OK	

Figure 222 – No more occurrences found

• List occurrences: With the button List occurrences the searching result is shown in a list (see Figure 223). When clicking a test case/package in the list, this requirement is selected in the tree.

Instruction			
Name	Owner	Created	Occurrenc
M Case sensitive	Testmanager	16.02.2012 11:03:55	6
M Login	Testmanager	20.02.2012 10:26:12	1
M New (file opened, changes)	Tester1	15.02.2012 16:45:51	1
			Close

Figure 223 – List occurrences

3.3.8.1.2Replace (Test Case / Test Package)

There are also two possibilities for replacing:

- **Replace**: At first a test case/package is searched and selected. The user has to click again for replacing the occurrence and then the next one is searched. If the test case/package is locked, the test case/package isn't changed, e.g. the next one is searched.
- **Replace All in Test Case/package**: To use this feature a test case/package have to be selected first otherwise the button is disabled. At first a test case is searched and selected. The user has to click again for replacing all occurrences in this test case/package. If the test case/package is locked, the test case/package isn't changed.
- **Replace All**: The selected field of all test cases/packages is changed which contains the text. After replacing all, a message is shown (see Figure 224) with the number of replaced test case and number of test case/package which couldn't be replaced, because of locks, etc.



Figure 224 – Replace result



The replace – functionality is disabled, if the user has not the right for changing test case(s) in test structure / test suite.

3.3.9 Apply / Discard

When working with test structures or test suites, you can save your changes within test cases or test packages using the button Apply. By pressing button Discard, your changes will be undone after a confirmation message. The buttons are only enabled, if the selected node has been changed since it was loaded.



Figure 225 - Apply / Discard

3.3.10Newsboard

The newsboard informs the user about changes done on the current test structure (version). It can be opened by calling the menu item **Test Structure -** > **Newsboard**. In **Settings** it can be configured that is it shown automatically after opening a test structure. Since time is going on and newsboard doesn't poll, user has to press the **Refresh** button to get the latest "news".

last day 📃 🗾	
last login	
last hou r	
last day	
last week	
user defined	
The display of newsboard can be configured by setting **last login**, **last hour**, **last day last week** or **user defined**. If **user defined** is selected, a date with calendar and text fields for time (hh, mm) and the **Apply** button are editable.

(\mathbf{i})

If "last login" is selected, the time stamp of user's last logout is chosen!

If a newsboard entry is activated, the corresponding requirement is selected automatically, except if one was deleted. In the newsboard table the **action** (new, changed, deleted), **requirement ID**, **requirement name, date of action**, and the **person** are shown.

Newsboard consists of 2 tabs, <**name of test structure plus version**> and **General**. The first one shows all activities (new, change, delete) on test cases and test packages in the current selected test structure version.

On the other hand **General** displays all other information:

New attribute assigned to the project, changed attribute, new attribute value, new test suite, new user, new version.

If an item of newsboard is selected, the corresponding one is also highlighted in the test structure (if possible). A deleted item cannot be displayed, of course.

Л Т	EMPPO - [1	festmar	nager] - [Demo	Notepad]				
Proj	ect Test S	tructure	Edit Test Exec	cution Evaluation Tools Windows Help				
ا 🃀	lewsboard -	- [Notepa	d - RTF Import wit	h TCs] - [V3]				_ B ×
Upo	lated:	20.02.2	2012 10:56:58	Refresh				
Cha	nged since:	last lo	gin 💌	20.02.2012 h (00-24) 0		min (0-59) 0		Apply
No	tepad - RTF	F Import w	vith TCs - [V3]	ieneral				
	Action 🔺	ID	Туре	Name	V	Date	Updator	Owner
	Changed	tp534	Test Package	File Administration		20.02.2012 10:25:59	🙎 Testmanager	🙎 Tester1
	Changed	tp535	Test Package	New		20.02.2012 10:46:56	🙎 Testmanager	🙎 Tester1
	Changed	tc536	Test Case	New (file opened, no changes)		20.02.2012 10:30:18	🙎 Testmanager	🙎 Tester1
	Changed	tc537	Test Case	New (file opened, changes)		20.02.2012 10:53:04	🙎 Testmanager	🙎 Tester1
	Changed	tp520	Test Package	General description of the product		16.02.2012 18:00:46	💆 Tester1	🙎 Testmanager
	Changed	tp741	Test Package	Windows Login		20.02.2012 10:26:13	🙎 Testmanager	🙎 Testmanager
	Changed	tc742	Test Case	Login		20.02.2012 10:56:57	🙎 Testmanager	🖸 Testmanager
	Changed	tc681	Test Case	Case sensitive		20.02.2012 10:53:05	🙎 Testmanager	🙎 Testmanager
	Changed	tp650	Test Package	Find up		20.02.2012 10:53:05	🙎 Testmanager	🖸 Testmanager
	New	tp741	Test Package	Windows Login		20.02.2012 10:25:59	🙎 Testmanager	🖸 Testmanager
	New	tc742	Test Case	Login		20.02.2012 10:26:12	🙎 Testmanager	😰 Testmanager
								Sī

ect Test Structure	Edit Te	est Execution E	ע Evaluation To	ools Windows Help				
lewsboard - [Notepac	d – RTF In	nport with TCs] -	[V3]					
ated: 20.02.2 nged since: last log	2012 10:56 gin	3:58Refre	ish)12 h (0	0-24) 0		min (0-69) 0		Арріу
tepad - RTF Import w	vith TCs -	[V3] General						
Action 🔺	ID	Туре		Name	Version	Date	Updator	Owner
Changed 81 New 81	т т	'estStructure 'estStructure	Notepad - F Notepad - F	RTF Import with TCs RTF Import with TCs	V3 V3	20.02.2012 10:53:05 15.02.2012 16:36:30	TestmanagerTestmanager	TestmanagerTestmanager
est Structure (Notepa	ad - RTF	Import with TCs] No filter	-[System Tes	t) - [V3]	740	_		
est Structure [Noteps Notepad - RTF Im Call Notepad - RTF Im Call 1. Introduction Call 2. General de	ad - RTF	Import with TCs] No filter TCs of the product	- [System Tes	t) - [V3] Login - tc Locked by Testman General Attributes Test	742 ager t Steps I 🖬 Auto	mation Requirements	History Plan Exec	_ Cution History
Structure [Notepa Notepad - RTF Im 2. General de 3. Detailed de 3. J. Scop 5. 2. Sequi	ad - RTF mport with n escription of escription	Import with TCs] No filter TCs of the product of the required pr pry enarios) of inters	- [System Tes oduct	t) – [V3] Login – tc Locked by Testman General Attributes Test User defined ID: [tc742 Name: Login	742 ager Steps Att	mation Requirements	History Plan Exec	Lution History
est Structure [Notepa Notepad - RTF Im 2. General de 3. Detailed de 3. Jetailed de Jetailed de 3. Jetailed de	ad - RTF. mport with in recription of e of deliver ences (so goals iired functi File Admin	Import with TCs] No filter TCs of the product of the required pr ry enarios) of inter- ions of the produ nistration	- (System Tes	t) – [V3] Login – tc Locked by Testman General Attributes Test User defined ID: [c742 Name: [Login Owner: Testman	742 ager : Steps 🖪 Auto nager	mation Requirements	History Plan Exec Updator	Lution History
est Structure [Notepa Notepad - RTF Im 2. General de 3. Detailed de 3. J. Scop 3. User 3. J. Sequ 3. J. Seq	ad - RTF	Import with TCs] No filter TCs of the product of the required pr ry venarios) of inter- ions of the produ nistration nistration dows Login 1. Login w	- [System Tes oduct actions ct	t] - [V3] Locked by Testman General Attributes Test User defined ID: [tc742 Name: [Login Owner: Testman Created: 20.02.2 Type: ⓒ Ma	742 ager : Steps Auto nager D12 10:26:12 nual	omation Requirements	History Plan Exec Updator Updated est Case	cution History
est Structure [Notepa Notepad - RTF Im C. 1. Introduction C. 2. General de 3.1. Scop 3.2. Sequ 3.3. User 3.3. User 3.3. User 3.3. User 3.3. Juser 3.3. Juser 3.3. Juser 3.3. Juser 3.4.1. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1. 3.4.3. 3.4.1	ad - RTF	Import with TCs] No filter TCs of the product of the required pr ery venarios) of inter- ions of the produ nistration nodows of the produ nistration nodows of the produ nistration Not cogin Not co	- [System Tes oduct - actions ct	t] – [V3] Locked by Testman General Attributes Test User defined ID: [tc742 Name: [Login Owner: Testman Created: 20.02.20 Type: • Ma Test Gnal	742 ager : Steps Auto nager D12 10:26:12 nual	mation Requirements C Automated Te	History Plan Exec Updator Updated est Case	cution History

Figure 226 – Newsboard

3.3.11Versioning

Configuration management is a task that covers all phases in the test process. TEMPPO does not have a connection to current CM tools like ClearCase or MKS. Supporting a large palette of CM tools from a very powerful but expensive one like ClearCase to a cheap one with restricted functionality would be a challenge. For example ClearCase offers attributes for each administration unit; VSS does not have such commands.

Therefore, the developers of TEMPPO decided to implement an own solution for maintaining versions of test structures with test cases. In TEMPPO it is only possible to check in an entire test structure (=baseline), where "whole" means the hierarchical order of all test packages and test cases as well as their data. In contrast to other CM tools where check in and check out are separate steps, checking in a test structure in TEMPPO will check it out again, i.e. a new editable version is created automatically. Naturally you have the possibility to restore any version of the test structure that has been checked in. Versioning is meaningful when you have to change / extend your test structure due to version changes of your application.

You create and activate versions in TEMPPO using **Test Structure – Version....** The following example should illustrate how the CM features of TEMPPO work.

1. Consider the test structure displayed in Figure 227. Initially there exists just one version of the test structure, version "1" on the main line. In TEMPPO, every last version gets the label "latest", signaling that the test structure in this version is checked out for editing.

📝 Versions	×		
Example for versioning	Edit	Edit properties of selected v	rersion
₩ % V1 editable version	Check In	 Check in active version	
	Detivate	 Activate selected version	
	Tree style	 Merge all test cases into lat	est version of main line
	C Versions only C Labels only O Versions and Labels	Change tree style	
	ClearCase style		
	 ascending descending 		
	Close		

Figure 227 - CM, Version tree before first check in

If you check in the test structure by using the **Check in active version** button in the Versions dialog you have the possibility to specify a label ("Release 1"). Then the version tree looks like displayed in Figure 228. The test structure gets checked out immediately and version "2" is created. The symbol **D** signals the active version, which is again "latest".



Figure 228 - CM, Version tree after checking in and labeling

Changes in the latest version of the test structure will now not affect "Release 1". E.g. when inserting a new test package and test case, the new items are only available in the latest version of the test structure (see Figure 229). In the prior versions items are not available, of course (see Figure 230)

(i) You can see the active version of your test structure in the title bar of the test structure explorer.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]				
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> in	dows <u>H</u> elp		
System Te [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System Te	st] [V3])			<u>- 8 ×</u>
Image: No filter Image: Sector Sec	General	ogin - tc742 sked by Testmanager Attributes Test Steps Automation	Requirements History Plan Exe	cution History
3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4.1. File Administration 3.4.1.1. Windows Login 3.4.1.2. New 3.4.1.2. New (file opened, no 3.4.1.2. New (file opened, ch 3.4.1.2. New (file opened, ch	Nr. €€ 1	Instruction Enter account in test domain and password	Expected Login successful	₽ ↓ ↓ ↓
3.4.1.3. Open			Lock Apply	Discard

Figure 229 – New items in latest structure version

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]			
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp		
System 1 - RTF Import with TCs] - [System 1	est] .[V2]		- BX
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1. Introduction 2. General description of the product 3. Detailed description of the required product 3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of interactions 3.3. User goals 3.4. Required functions of the product 3.4.1. File Administration 3.4.1.1. New 1. Introductions of the product 3.4.1.1. New 1. Introductions 3.4.1.1. New 1. Introductions 3.4.1.1. New 1. Introductions 3.4.1.1. New 1. Introductions 3.4.1.1. New 1. Introductions 3.4.1.1. New 1. Introductions 3.4.1.1. New 1. Introductions 3.4.1.2. New 1. Introductions 3.4.1.3. New Test Package c 3.4.1.3. Sevre	File Administration - Locked by Testmanager General Attributes Details Requirements Name: File Administration Owner: Tester1 Created: 15.02.2012 16:45:49 Type: Test Package Number of TCs: 2 Test Category:	tp 534 story Plan Updator: Testmanager Updated: 16.02.2012 11:28:57 Merge Lock Apply	
			2 <u>1</u>

Figure 230 - Items not available in prior versions

You can restore the version of a test structure by activating it in the versions dialog with button **2** (**Activate selected version**). You cannot change a test structure in a version, which is not "latest". However you can create a branch of a structure version and apply changes to that latest version in the branch. When you activate version 2 (V2) and try to insert a new test package, you will get the following message:

TEMPPO	×
?	You are trying to change a test structure that is already checked in. The only possibility to make changes is to create a branch. Do you want TEMPPO to create a branch for you?
	Ves No

Figure 231 - New branch confirmation

Pressing **No** will abort the action. Pressing **Yes** will create a new V2.2 branch, a branch-latest version of the test structure and the test package in this branch-latest version. The "latest" version in the branch will automatically be activated and can be edited like the latest version in the main line (usually

called main-latest). One version can have several branches, which can be created in the same manner.

📝 Versions	×
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs VI VI.1 Test Suites for VI.1, 2012-02-16 VI.1.1 editable version V2 V2.1 Test Suites for V2.1, 2012-02-16 V2.1.1 editable version V2.2 V3 editable version	Edit Check In Activate Merge Tree style Versions only Labels only Versions and Labels Clear Case style Order ascending descending
	Close

Figure 232 - CM, Branch

After working on a branch, it is necessary sometimes to **merge** the results of a branch version (e.g.: V2.2.1 Branch) to the latest version of the main line (e.g.: V3 latest). There are 2 possibilities of merge support in TEMPPO. On one hand you can merge a whole test structure to the latest version of the main line, whereas the latest version will be checked-in before copying the branch. The additional version of the main line is necessary in order to keep the possibility of recovering the test structure of the main line. When pressing the merge button, the following question will appear.

Warning	×
1	The merge will first check in the latest version in your main line and afterwards create a new latest version that is identical with your branch version. Do you want to proceed?
	<u>Yes</u> <u>N</u> o

Figure 233 - Merge whole test structure

If you proceed, the version of the current branch version is "copied" to lastest version of the main line. The current version applied label remains activated.

Currently there is no visual representation for merges in the version dialog, like the merge arrows you would see in other CM tools.

On the other hand there is an individual merge that allows merging single test cases.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]				<u>_ </u>
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> i	ndows <u>H</u> elp		
System Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System T	est] - [V2.2	.1]		<u>_ 8 ×</u>
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs	General	ew (file opened, n cked by Testmanager Attributes Test Steps Automat	10 changes) - tc536	cution History
3.1. Scope of delivery 3.2. Sequences (scenarios) of interactions v 3.3. User goals	Nr. €€ 1	Instruction File.New.pick()	Expected Editor Pane cleared	P+ ▲
	• 3	New step is added on branch		
3.4.1.1.2. New (file opened, char 3.4.1.1.3. New Test Package on 1.1.3. New Test Case 3.4.1.2. Onen			Merge Lock Apply	Discard

Figure 234 Test case merge

If working on a branch an additional button **Merge** appears besides Lock, Apply and Discard

the current test case. After pressing the button Apply the user is automatically asked if he wants to apply the changes on the latest version (V3). Additionally the message shows the information, if the same test case was also changed in the latest version!



Figure 235 - Merge advice

If the user presses **Yes**, the following window appears, where the user can select which parts of the test case will be merged.



Figure 236 - Merge selection

If nothing is selected, test case is latest version remains unchanged!

3.3.12Compare

Version management also includes comparing a test case with a another one. If you select a test case in the current version of a test structure and activate the menu item **Compare**

a version window comes up where you can select the version of the test case to be compared. The versions window does only show the versions in which the test case exists. After selecting a version the button "Compare" gets enabled.

	C Versions only C Labels only Versions and Labels C Clear Case style Order ascending C descending
--	---

Figure 237 - Compare - selecting a version

When pressing the button "Compare", Figure 238 is shown. The two versions of the test case are displayed with their differences in red color.



Figure 238 - Compare- differences

3.3.13Filter

Users can see their test structures and test suites in a filtered way by creating and selecting filters i.e. for the purpose of hiding test cases that are not of interest. All fixed and user-defined attributes can be used to define a filter criterion.

Test structure filters are available for test suites. Test Suite filters which are including result or tester are not available for test structures.

TEMPPO Manager offers **Personal** and **Project filters**. If the tab **Personal Filter** is activated, all created filters are only displayed for the user. A test manager may activate the tab **Project Filter** and creates filters that can be used for all project members. **Personal filters** can be copied to **project** ones and vice versa.

3.3.13.1 Predefined filters

There are a lot of predefined filter which are useful for each user.

1
-
5
_

Figure 239 - Predefined filters

3.3.13.2 Create filter

You can create a new filter when pressing the button **New filter** in Figure 239.

me: New Filter			
Conditions: Attribute	Va •	ılue ▼] [• X 🔳
Hide Empty Subtrees			

Figure 240 - Filter Properties

Pressing the **Save**-Button, the new filter is saved to the database, if a new name was entered. Otherwise the information window comes up:



Figure 241 - Filter name already used

After saving the new filter, Figure 242is shown. The new filter is inserted and selected in the list box, the filter criterion is displayed, and the table **Impact to selected Window** is updated.

Personal Fil	ter Project Filter			C
Name /		Owner		C
	ro_ocalgrica icar coaca	ruaunanagur		>
All sta	te_in review test cases	Testmanager		
All sta	te_in work test cases	Testmanager		Ę
All sta	te_ready test cases	Testmanager	1	6
All upo	lated test cases of Testmanager	Testmanager	-	-
Count Count	ry	Testmanager		
W Marke		Testmanager		
No filte	ar	Testmanager	*	
ilter conditio	ns (read only) ttribute Val Market ▼] IN ▼] [All,US	lue	•	
ilter conditio	ns (read only) ttribute Val Market • [IN •] [All,US III	lue	• •	
ilter conditio	ns (read only) ttribute Val Market • [IN •] [All,US III [All,US]		•	
ilter conditio	ns (read only) ttribute Vai Market V [IN V] [All,US [II] (All,US) npty Subtrees		•	
ilter conditio A Market IN Hide Er mpact to sele	ns (read only) ttribute Va Market IN All,US (All,US) (All,US) http://www.com/all/all/all/all/all/all/all/all/all/al		•	
ilter conditio A Market IN Hide Er npact to sele	ns (read only) ttribute Va Market (IN (All,US) (All,US) (All,US) npty Subtrees icted Window Test Packages	lue	▼ ; + its	
ilter conditio A Market IN Hide Er npact to sele isible idden	ns (read only) ttribute Va Market IN All,US (All,US) (All,US) npty Subtrees cted Window Test Packages 21	lue	▼ ; + ilts	

Figure 242 - Selected filter

3.3.13.3 Change filter

You can change existing filters by pressing the **Edit filter** button. This button is only enabled when a filter is selected that is not the empty filter (**No filter**).

Personal Filt	er Project F	ilter		-	E
Name /		Owner	Created		
	u_uuaignuu	Testmanager			>
All stat	e_in review	Testmanager			P
All stat	e_in work t	Testmanager			4
All und	e_reauy id	Testmanager			£
Countr	v	Testmanager	29 04 2013 13:00:3	3 =	1
W Marke		Testmanager	29.04/2013 12:58:5	3	
No fite	r	Testmanager		+	
Filter condition	ns (read only) tribute ∕larket ▼][Va IN 👻 All,US	ilue		
Filter condition	ns (read only) tribute Market ▼][V2 IN •] [All,US			
Filter condition	ns (read only) tribute Market 💌 [All,US}	Va IN 👻 Al,US			
Filter condition	ns (read only) tribute Market 💌 [All,US)	Va IN Va III			
Filter condition	ns (read only) tribute Market 💌 🗌 All,US} apty Subtrees cted Window	Va IN 👻 Ali,US III	ilue		
Filter condition	All, US}	Va IN Va III III	Ilue	ts	
Filter condition	All, US} cted Window Test Pac 21	Va IN Va III III	Ilue	ts	

Figure 243 – Edit filter

Depending on the selected filter, the conditions are displayed. Filter name is read only, filter conditions can be changed. (See Figure 240)

3.3.13.4 Delete filter

You can delete an existing filter by pressing the **Delete filter** -button. This button is only enabled if the selected filter is not the empty filter (**No filter**).

	Iter Project F	ilter		
Name /		Owner	Created	
All sta All sta All sta All up Y Coun Y Mark No fill	ate_in review ate_in review tate_in work t tate_ready te dated test ca try at ter	Testmanager Testmanager Testmanager Testmanager Testmanager Testmanager	29.04.2013 13:00:33 29.04.2013 12:58:53	
	Attribute Market ▼][Va IN 👻 All,US	lue	•
	{AII,US}			
Market IN	mpty Subtrees			
Market IN Hide E	mpty Subtrees ected Window			
Market IN Hide E	mpty Subtrees ected Window Test Pac	skages	Test Cases / Results	2

Figure 244 - Delete Filter

After activating the **Delete filter** -button, the reconfirmation window comes up:



Figure 245 - Delete filter

If pressing **Yes**, the information window comes up and the filter is deleted, if it is not used by a test structure or suite.



Figure 246 - Filter deleted

After deleting a filter, the **No filter** is highlighted in the list box.

3.3.13.5 Defining the filter criterion

The values of the following attributes can be used as described in Table 2: Fixed⁴, UDAs, test case name, owner, tester, bug ID, test result, requirements

(i)

First of all you have to choose an attribute and an operator (=, !=, IN, NOT IN). If **IN** or **NOT IN** is selected, the combo-box value changes to a text field together with the button "...". There you can enter

- A string with a wild card or
- Press the button "..." for selecting several values. •

After pressing the button "..." Figure 247 is displayed and the attribute values are selected by moving them to the right. Pressing **OK** applies the selection to the filter window. The selected values are displayed separated by a comma. Now the user can edit this line. Because the comma is used to separate the selected values, commas in the selected values have to be escaped with a "\" (e.g. Component,3).

No blank is allowed, commas has to be escaped with a "\"!

Build In Clause X Find: Selected values M1.2 Available values M1,3 M3 M2 Σ Filter Properties * Name: New Filter Þ Conditions 4 Attribute Value ▼ IN ▼ M1\,2,M1\,3,M3 ... AND 🔻 X S Milestone - -X • 5 • Milestone IN {M1\,2,M1\,3,M3} AND Hide Empty Subtrees OK Cancel Save Cancel

Figure 247 - Selecting attribute values for IN, NOT IN

Attribute s	Operator =, !=	Operator IN, NOT IN	Operator <,>, <=, >=	Value edita ble ¹	Valu e set ²	Value proje ct assig ned	Wild card allowed 3	Test Struct ure
Fixed I^4	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	-	Ν	Y
Fixed II^5	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	-	Y	Y
Fixed III ⁶	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	-	Ν	Y
UDA	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y

¹ Yes, if operators IN, NOT IN are selected

² Yes, if a set of values can be selected

³ Yes, if editable is Yes.

⁴ Fixed I: Situation, Test Case Type, Additional Test Level, Type

⁵ Fixed II: Test Level, Test Category, Requirement

⁶ Fixed III: Priority, State

TC name	Υ	Ν	Ν	Υ	Ν	-	Υ	Υ
Owner	Υ	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Υ
Tester	Υ	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	N
BugID	Υ	Y	Ν	Y	Y	-	Y	N
Updater	Υ	Ν	Ν	N	Ν	-	Ν	Y
Test result	Y	Y	N	N	N	-	N	Ν
Created, Updated	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	N	-	-	Y
Require ment	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	N

Table 2- Attributes meanings

The user can write free text that may also contain wildcards like

- "*" any number of characters
- "?" any single character

ndit	ions:							
	Attribute				Value			
	Milestone	-	IN	•	M12,M13,M3	AND 🔻	X	-
	Additional test level	•	=	•	Acceptance Test	AND 🔻	X	-
	Planned tester	•	-	•	nnt 💌	AND 🔻	X	-
	Req_State	•	_ =	•	Implemented	AND 🔻	X	-
	Test Case Type	•		•	Validation	-	X	1
Aile	stone IN {M12,M13,N _State = Implemented A Hide Empty Subtrees	13) AI ND T	ND Add est Cas	itiona se Ty	il test level = Acceptance Test pe = Validation	AND Planned tes	ster = nn1 /	AND

Figure 248 - Filter criterion

3.3.13.6 Edit filter criterion

You delete and add lines of filter criterion.

When pressing the button

- The current line is deleted.
- 📑 a line is inserted before the current one.

3.3.13.7 Export filter

It is possible to export filters to XML and import them again. Via (multi) selection of filter and pressing the button **Export filters to XML** filter are saved to an xml file.

3.3.13.8 Import filter

It is possible to import filters from XML by pressing the button **Import filter from xml**. A filter import is rejected, if the filter contains specific attributes that are not assigned to the project the filter is imported to. An error message is displayed where the names of the NOT imported filters are listed.

The filter contents are checked and the import is only successful, if the attributes match the ones of the selected project. If the filter is not syntactically correct, the import is cancelled and the user gets an information message.

If an XML file contains a test suite filter and it is imported to a test structure (or vice versa), the corresponding test suite filter is imported and an information window is shown. The imported test suite filter is shown the first time when a test suite is opened and the filter dialog is called (or the filter combo box is clicked).

3.3.14Test structure XML Export

This feature allows exporting the entire test structure or just a part of it into an XML document. When a test structure is open and the root node or a test package is selected, the menu item **Test Structure – Export Structure...** is enabled.

On activating this menu item a file open dialog is displayed. When pressing the button **save** the test structure is saved as XML file based on **teststructure.dtd**.

3.3.15Test structure XML Update

This feature allows updating the entire test structure or test packages based on an XML document, if you are using other tools for manipulating the test structure. The update process adapts the test structure to XML file, but keeps TC ids and TP ids and real updates of TCs and TPs are detected.

If you activating the menu item **Test structure -> Update -> XML document**, a file open dialog comes up where you can select the XML file. After pressing the button Open, the XML document is read and checked against **teststructure.dtd**. If an error is detected, the import process is cancelled.

If the syntax was checked successfully, you can specify to retain some TP/TC properties like test case name, attributes, attribute inheritance, requirement inheritance, test steps, which will be kept after the update process. Only the other content is updated.



Figure 249 – Select properties to be retained

After pressing **OK** the test structure is checked of any user locks. If a user has locked an item the test structure can't be checked-in and the update process is cancelled with a corresponding message.

If there aren't any locks the test structure is checked-in with label "**Checked in by XML update**" and the new latest version is completely locked during the update process.

(j) If you update only a part of a test structure, the selected TP and root TP of XML have to be the same, otherwise the update is not started.

3.3.15.1.1 Update process

The update process is done as follows: The XML structure becomes the new test structure. Each item is recursively compared with itself in the latest test structure version by its ID.

If the item has been changed, the changes are applied and "**Updated**" and "**Updator**" are written. History is written like current behavior. If a mandatory history comment is configured for that project, it will be ignored.

If the item hasn't been changed, nothing happens.

Reorder: If an item is "reordered", it keeps the new order, but neither "Updated" nor "Updator" is written.

Changed TCs: Detected changes: Name, test goal, attributes, planning attributes, fields for automated TCs, new attribute assignments, deleted attribute assignments, new requirement assignments, and deleted requirement assignments.

If a change in test steps is detected, all steps of XML file are applied.

Changed TPs: Detected changes: Name, description, test category change (new, delete, change), document path, document name, document chapter, new attribute assignments, deleted attribute assignments, new requirement assignments, and deleted requirement assignments.

New TPs: If a new TP is detected, whose ID doesn't exist in test structure, the TP is created. No history entry is created (like a "create" on the GUI).

New TCs: If a TC is detected, whose ID doesn't exist in test structure, the TC is created. No history entry is created (like a "create" on the GUI).

3.3.16Test Suite XML Export / Import

This feature allows exporting the entire or a part of a test suite into an XML document, fill in some test execution data and import that information to TEMPPO. E.g. some users may have complicated test automation tools/scenarios whose test cases can't be started and executed from TEMPPO but are managed in TEMPPO.

Therefore those test cases are administrated in TEMPPO, and after executing them outside of TEMPPO the results are imported.

3.3.16.1 Export

The export XML feature can either be used to execute automated TCs somewhere offline and export results later or export the test suite to an XML file for other matters. In this case the test suite shouldn't be locked.

A test suite can be exported if a test suite is already opened, any node (test suite root or TP) is selected and the menu item **Export test suite -> to XML** is activated.

Test suit	e export to XML 🛛 🔀	l
(į)	Should the test suite be locked after export? The file can only be imported, if a lock is set.	
	🔽 Lock Test Suite	
	ОК	

Figure 250 - Lock confirmation

After entering a **name**, the XML file is stored to the file system (conforming to **testsuite.dtd**).

D The testsuite.dtd can be found in your TEMPPO/XML directory

After exporting a test suite to an XML file, all exports (also to the export DB) are listed in the **Export Info**.

Project	IPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad Test Structure Edit Test Everytion E] valuation To	ols Windo	ws Help		_ 🗆 🗙
	t Suite [Version 2 of Test object RC01] - [V2.1	[.1]				<u>_ 8×</u>
	Version 2 of Test object RC01 3. Detailed description of the require 3.4. Required functions of the p 3.4.1. File Administration 3.4.1.1. New	General [rsion ed due to te: etails Expo	2 of Test o st suite export ort Info Attributes Pre	bject RC	01
	■ 3.4.1.1.1. New (file (ser	Date		Info
	A4. Search Functions A4. Search Functions A4. Search Functions A4.1.1. Find A4.1.1.1. Cas A4.1.1.2. Win A4.1.1.3. Quit A4.1.1.3. Quit	Testr	lanager	20.02.2012 13:22:61	XML File	
	344115 A ▼				Lock A	ypply <u>D</u> iscard
						S i .

Figure 251 – Export XML information

TEMPPO identifies an XML file by a unique ID.

3.3.16.2 Import

After exporting an XML file, it may be edited outside of TEMPPO, e.g. users or test automation tools are filling in some values. Valid values are:

- Result = (Failed | Passed | Not_executed | Blocked | Not_completed | Not_implemented | On_hold)
- **Result Output** = Plain text
- **Tester** = (MS Windows account or a defined user account)
- **Tested** = DDMMYY HH:MM:SS

If other values are changed, they will be ignored.

Importing an XML file can be started by activating the menu item **Import Test suite -> from XML**. The import is independent from the selected node. TEMPPO detects the part to be imported.

The following possibilities are offered for importing:



Figure 252 – XML Import

• **Manually choose test results to import**: When activating this option, Figure 253 is shown. In the right part of the window the current (result) state of test cases in the central database is shown together with their execution date (NOT importing date!). Test cases that may cause conflicts are colored blue. The left side of the window shows the test results of the exported test suite. Now you can activate the checkboxes of test cases that you want to import. (i)

- **Import only newer test results**: If a user already imported a test result for an automated test case and you also executed the same test case
 - Earlier, the result in the central database won't be overridden by yours.
 - $\circ\;$ Later, your result will be written into the database. The other result is lost.
- **Import all test results**: All test results of already executed test cases are overridden by your results

Note: All test results that are marked are overridden in the central database after closing the window with OK.



Figure 253 – Manual import of test results

Rules for importing:

If test results differ from test step results (e.g. test case result = passed, test step 1 result = failed, test step 2 result = passed), the new test case result will be failed.

If a test case has already a result, result output and it is set to not executed, tester and tested will be deleted (=empty) and result output is kept or updated.

3.3.16.2.1 Import characters of other fonts

If you want to import Chinese or Arabic characters the xml header has to be <?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8"?>

For more information see http://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/UTF-8 and http://www.utf-8.com/

3.3.17Export Test Suite to DOORS

This feature allows exporting Test Suite Results – of test cases where requirements from DOORS Requirement Structures are linked – to DOORS.



Figure 254 – DOORS – TEMPPO data exchange

The module Sales specifies requirements, which are refined in the module PLM1, which for their part are refined in the modules DEV1 and DEV2. DEV1 and DEV2 (certain baseline or latest version) are imported into TEMPPO and provide a base for the test cases organized in a test structure. For test execution a test suite is created, where test results are recorded, which can be reflected onto the linked requirements. When exporting the test results to DOORS, the imported modules are copied (DEV1 and DEV2) and the requirements in the copies will be flagged with test results. Since a single requirement can be covered by several test cases (Req2 in DEV1), rules are applied, to build unique results for requirements (e.g. passed + failed = failed).

Test Suite results can be exported, if a test suite is open and active and the menu item **Export test suite -> to DOORS** is activated.

TEMPPO first verifies, whether the test suite contains any test cases linked to requirements imported from DOORS. If no linked requirements can be found, the user is informed via a message and the process is aborted:



Figure 255 – Information Message

If there are linked requirements, the user is guided through the wizard.

🔀 Export of Testsuite 🛛 🛛 🔀				
Steps	Export requirement data to a RM tool			
 Introduction Export of Testsuite: affected modules/baselines 	This wizard assists you to export requirement data to a provided RM tool			
	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel			

Figure 256 – Export Wizard – step 1

TEMPPO starts the communication with DOORS and searches for the affected module(s) / baseline(s) in the DOORS database. Before starting the export, TEMPPO gives an overview:



Figure 257 – Export Wizard – step 2

Results for found modules will be exported; results for not found modules will be skipped.

If a requirement is covered by more than one test case, a unique result will be built according to following rules (for description of test results please refer to 3.1.4.1.5):

- not executed, if all test cases are not executed
- **passed**, if all test cases are passed
- failed, if at least one test case is failed
- **blocked**, if no test case is failed and at least one is blocked

- not completed, if at least one test case is passed and all others are not executed
- not implemented, if at least one test case is not implemented (stronger than "on hold")
- **on hold**, if at least one test case is on hold

When the export is finished, the user will be informed via message box.

TEMP	P0 🛛 🔀
2	Test suite successfully exported to Doors.
	OK

Figure 258 – Message box – export finished

The Export can be canceled at any time by clicking the cancel button in the progress monitor.

Progres	\$\$	
	Starting server	

Figure 259 – DOORS Export – progress monitor

The User is asked for confirmation then and if he confirms, the export is stopped.

Cancel	X
2	Do you really want to cancel the import process?
	Yes No

Figure 260 – Doors Export- confirm cancel.

3.3.17.1 Effects in DOORS

Following steps will be processed during export:

1. Creation of folder for test execution data (if not already existing) according to following naming convention:

\Test\Results\<Version> - <Name of Test Suite>

 Copy of affected DOORS modules (corresponding baseline or latest version) to test execution folder if copies do not already exist. The module is constructed by <subfolder 1>-<subfolder 2>-<subfolder n>-<module name>-<baseline name>

🐴 DOORS Database: /Test/Resul	ts/V3.1.1 - A Samp	le - DOORS	s	
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u>	elp			
💌 🏛 🖻 🗗 🕵 🖀 📽	14 B B 🕷			
Favorites:	➡ Location: /Test.	/Results/V3.	1.1 - A Sample	•
DOORS Database MC SiTEMPPO 	Name E ^M DEV_Copy	Type Formal	Description	>
Username: Administrator	User type: Administrator			

Figure 261: Copy of DEV module

- 3. Creation of module attribute "test result" in each module copy
 - Write test result into attribute "test result" of affected requirements. If a requirement is covered by more than one test case, a unique result will be built according to rules described above.

The attribute "test result" of not affected requirements will remain empty.

🐴 Formal module	'/Test/Resu	lts/V3.1.1 - A Sample/D	EV1_Copy 🔳 🗖 🔀
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nse	ert Link <u>A</u> na	lysis Ta <u>b</u> le <u>T</u> ools <u>U</u> ser (<u>H</u> elp
∎⊜≌ ⊁∣	b 🖪 🛛 🖤	X ✓ ≣' ≣, B	I U ABG IE TE TE
Results	• A	Il levels 💌 🚠 🖧 🏑	E≡≡≡∎.
DEV1_Copy	ID		Result 📃 📥
2 Req2	1	1 Req1	passed
- 3 Req3	2	2 Req2	failed
	3	3 Req3	failed
	4	4 Req4	
	•		×
Username: Administrato	E	Exclusive edit mode	

Figure 262: Results for requirements

3.3.18Test Suite Scheduler

Manual test cases are executed sequential, but executing automated test cases, it is insufficient to do it in a sequential way. Therefore TEMPPO provides a feature to schedule automated test cases.

A scheduler includes general information, a start time and an ordered selection of test cases which has to be executed.

For each test suite several schedulers can be defined. The test suite has to be opened and tab **"Scheduler"** has to be activated:

General Det	ails Export Info A	ttributes Predeces	sor Plan Sched	luler		
Name	Owner	Created	Updated	Updator	Host	Scheduler Star
an						
	ŋ General Deta	ŋ General Details Export Info A	g General Details Export Info Attributes Predeces	general Details Export Info Attributes Predecessor Plan Sched Name Owner Created Updated Updated If If<	General Details Export info Attributes Predecessor Plan Scheduler Name Owner Created Updated Updator	General Details Export Info Attributes Predecessor Plan Scheduler Name Owner Created Updated Updator Host

Figure 263 – Test Suite Scheduler

With the buttons on the right side you can manage and run schedulers:

- **Create/Edit** a scheduler: Define a scheduler with start time and a sequence of test cases, see 3.3.18.1.
- **Delete** a scheduler: Remove a scheduler for a test suite, see 3.3.18.2.
- **Import** a scheduler: Import an existing scheduler from other test suites, see 3.3.18.3.
- **Run** a scheduler: Execute all test cases selected for scheduler, now or at start time, see 3.3.18.4.
- **Protocol** of a scheduler: Visit all results set by scheduler, see 3.3.18.5.

3.3.18.1 Create/Edit Scheduler

After opening a test suite, activating tab **Scheduler** and pressing button "New" / "Edit", new window opens where all settings for the scheduler can be defined:

In register General:

- Name: for scheduler
- **Scheduler Start Time:** Scheduler has to be started until this time. Scheduler cannot be started after this date.
- **Description:** for scheduler
- Selection of test cases: which has to be executed

In register Advanced:

• **IP address, Port:** An IP address and port can be defined for all automated test cases using Universal Socket.

Remark: Selection of test cases:

All test cases in tree are shown in a list with a checkbox. Only the selected test cases are executed when scheduler is started.

The execution of test cases can be ordered with the buttons beside the table.



Figure 264 – New Scheduler

3.3.18.2 Delete Scheduler

For deleting a scheduler, press the "Delete" button. The button is enabled if at least one scheduler is selected.



Figure 265 – Delete Scheduler

3.3.18.3 Import Scheduler

Instead of creating a scheduler from the scratch, importing schedulers from other test suites is possible. If you press the **Import**-button, a new window opens with the whole version tree. After selecting the scheduler which has to be imported, **OK** has to be pressed.

New Test Structure V1	Tree style Versions only Labels only Versions and Labels ClearCase style Order ascending descending
	OK Cancel

Figure 266 – Import Scheduler

After clicking OK, the scheduler is displayed in table at register **Scheduler**. Only existing test cases in current test suite can be applied to new scheduler.

3.3.18.4 Run Scheduler

For running a scheduler, press "Execute" – button. A new window opens where scheduler can be started in two different modes:

• Run at start time: The scheduler is locked and waits until start date. The scheduler starts working at defined start date.

Locked by:	Schedule	r		
Scheduler Start Time	e: 31.12.20	12 13:00		
		Execute Sc	theduler At Start Ti	me
Current State: 0 / 4 Test Cases	Opened			
Details				
Details Name /	Started	Finished	Result	Comment

Figure 267 – Execute Scheduler at Start Date

• Execute scheduler manually: The scheduler is locked and starts executing test cases immediately.

Name				
Name.	1			
Locked by:				
Scheduler St	art Time: 30.	06.2012 13:55		
Current State 0 / 12 Test C	e: Opi	Exer	cute Scheduler n	now
Details				
	Started -	Finished	Result	Comment
Name /				

Figure 268 – Execute Scheduler

A running scheduler can be paused or stopped:

• **Pause:** When pressing "Pause", current test case execution is finished, the scheduler stops executing test cases and running mode is "pause". If the scheduler is paused, scheduler remains locked and user can continue or stop the scheduler.

		1		
Locked by:	9	Strasser Johanna		
Scheduler St	art Time:	30.06.2012 13:55		
Current State	E I	Pa Running	use Scheduler	
0 / 12 Test C	ases			
0 / 12 Test C	ases			
0 / 12 Test C Details Name +	ases Started	I · Finished	Result	Comment
0 / 12 Test C Details Name /	Started	I · Finished	Result	Comment

Figure 269 – Pause Scheduler

• **Stop:** When pressing "Stop", current test case execution is finished and running mode is stopped. If a scheduler is stopped, the scheduler is unlocked and user cannot continue.

		1			
locked by:		Strasse	r Johanna		
Scheduler Sti	art Time:	30.06.2	012 13:55		
			Ø 1	Stop Schedu	Jer
Current State					
Current State	<u>8</u>	Running			
) / 12 Test C	ases	Running			
) / 12 Test C	ases	Running			
D / 12 Test C	ases	Running			
D / 12 Test C	ases	Running		20.00	Province Ar
0 / 12 Test C Details Name /	starte	Running	Finished	Result	Comment
0 / 12 Test C Details Name /	ses Starte	Running	Finished	Result	Comment

Figure 270 – Stop Scheduler

Locked by: Scheduler Start Time: 31.12.2012 13:00 Current State: Finished 4 / 4 Test Cases Details Name Started Finished Result Comment Comment Comment Tr.12.2012 14: failed Create Player 17.12.2012 14: failed Create Player 17.12.2012 14: failed Create Player 17.12.2012 14: failed Record_test 17.12.2012 14: failed	Name:	Scheduler			
Scheduler Start Time: 31.12.2012 13:00 Image: Start Time: 31.12.2012 13:00 Image: Start State: Finished A/ 4 Test Cases Finished Details Finished Name / Started / Finished Result Comment Comment Image: Started / Finished Record_test 17.12.2012 14: Image: Record_test 17.12.2012 14:	.ocked by:				
Current State: Finished 4 / 4 Test Cases	Scheduler Start Tim	e: 31.12.2012 1	3:00		
Details Started Finished Result Comment Image: Create Player 17.12.2012 14 17.12.2012 14 failed Image: Create Player 17.12.2012 14 failed Image: Create Player Image: Create Player 17.12.2012 14 failed Image: Create Player Image: Create Player <td< th=""><th>Current State:</th><th>Finished</th><th></th><th></th><th></th></td<>	Current State:	Finished			
Create Player 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed Create Playe 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed Edit Person 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed Record_test 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed	4 / 4 Test Cases				
Create Playe 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed Edit Person 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed Record_test 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed	4 / 4 Test Cases Details Name /	Started /	Finished	Result	Comment
Edit Person 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed Record_test 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed	4 / 4 Test Cases Details Name /	Started / 17.12.2012 14:	Finished 17.12.2012 14:	Result	Comment
Record_test 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: failed	A / 4 Test Cases	Started / 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14:	Finished 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14:	Result failed failed	Comment
	4 / 4 Test Cases Details Name / Create Player Create Playe E Edit Person	Started / 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14:	Finished 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14: 17.12.2012 14:	Result failed failed failed	Comment

Figure 271 – Finished Scheduler

In **Details**, information about executed test cases are shown.

3.3.18.5 Protocol of Scheduler

All test case executions of a scheduler can be shown by pressing "Show Scheduler Protocol".

Scheduler					X
Name -	Started v	Finished	Result	Comment	
戅 New Test	15.06.2012	15.06.2012	not executed		
戅 New Test	15.06.2012	15.06.2012	not executed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	failed		=
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
🕺 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		
戅 New Test	01.06.2012	01.06.2012	passed		-
			Save as.	Car	icel

Figure 272 – Scheduler Protocol

3.3.19Task lists

After **Test Structure > Apply requirement updates...**, a task list is generated. It can be viewed via menu **Test Structure > Task Lists**

All the **changed**, **new** and **deleted** requirements are listed. The lists are represented by a tree structure. Each list consists of one or many entries. All entries are marked as open the first time they are stored in the DB. If the user clicks an entry, the test case (or test package) of this entry is selected in the test structure window.

ject Test Structure Edit Test Execution E	Evaluation Tools Windows Help	
Task lists - [ADIS Phase 1] - [V10]		
ADIS requirements Advanced Driving Ir Advanced Driving Ir New Requirement - New route requ Advanced Driving Ir Io41002 - Blue displayed route com to41716 - Blue displayed route com to41717 - Blue displayed route com	Inforr uiren taine tains tains General	e contains white arrows
	Type: Test Case	
	ID: tc41002	
	Requirement ID: 1450	
	Requirement Name: Blue displayed route contains white arrows after	each manoever.
	Description: TC will be marked as obsolete	
	Open	
	Tester: Closed	
	Closing Date:	
	OK since version:	
	Reason of Creation: Deleted Requirement	
111	ъ	Lock Apply Discard
	est) - [V10]	
Fest Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Te		
Fest Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Termed and the set of the s	Current car position / drive rou	undabout - tc41717
est Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Ter → → → → ☆ ☆ No filter → ADIS Phase 1 → ↓ 1. Bausteine → ↓ 2.1. Current position ↓ 2.1. Current car position red	General Attributes Test Steps Automation Requirements H	undabout - tc41717
est Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Ter ADIS Phase 1 Image: ADIS Phase 1 I	Current car position / drive rou General Attributes Test Steps Automation Requirements H User defined ID: tc41717	undabout - tc41717
Fest Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Tell	Current car position / drive rou	undabout - tc41717
Image: Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Termination of the second structure [ADIS Phase 1] ADIS Phase 1 Image: ADIS Phase 1 Image	drive	istory Plan Execution History
iest Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Ter Image: ADIS Phase 1	drive Current car position / drive rou General Attributes Test Steps Automation Requirements H User defined ID: to41717 Name: Current car position / drive roundabout Owner: Schlosser Dietmar	Updator:
Image: Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Termination of the set of	drive drive e rot	Updator: Updated: 15.06.2011 09:26:18
Test Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Tert ADIS Phase 1 ADIS Phase 1 1. Bausteine 2. Current position 2.1. Current car position red 2.2. Current car position red / d 2.3. Current car position / drive 2.4. New route 3. Destination 4. Along the route	drive Current car position / drive rou General Attributes Test Steps Automation Requirements H User defined ID: to41717 Name: Current car position / drive roundabout Owner: Schlosser Dietmar Created: 27.08.2010 14:24:14 Type: @ Manual O Automa	Updator: Updated: 15.06.2011 09-26:18 ted Test Case
Test Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Ter ADIS Phase 1 1 ADIS Phase 1 2. Current position 2.1. Current car position red 2.2. Current car position red / d 2.3. Current car position / drive 2.4. New route 3. Destination 4. Along the route	Ceneral Attributes Test Steps Automation Requirements H User defined ID: to41717 Name: Current car position / drive roundabout Ovine: Schlosser Dietmar Created: 27.08.2010 14:24:14 Type: Manual Test Goal:	Updator: Updator: Updated: 15.06.2011 09:26:18 ted Test Case
Test Structure [ADIS Phase 1] - [System Ter ADIS Phase 1 - 1. Bausteine - 2. Current position - 2.2. Current car position red / d - 2.3. Current car position red / d - 2.4. New route - 3. Destination - 4. Along the route	drive	Updator: Updated: 15.06.2011 09:26:18 ted Test Case

Figure 273 - Task due to deleted requirement

Task lists can be deleted in the task list window if all tasks are closed. The task list has to be selected and via the context menu item "Delete task list" a confirmation window comes up. Confirming with **OK** deletes the task list. Task lists can be exported to Excel for further working on it.

offer real structure cuit real execution cvaluation roots windows risp	
a Task lists - [ADIS Phase 1] - [V10]	
ADIS requirements Advanced Driving Information System VI⇒V2. Wew Requirement - New route requirement total 02 - Blue displayed route contains white arrows after e total 716 - Blue displayed route contains white arrows after e total 716 - Blue displayed route contains white arrows after e total 716 - Blue displayed route contains white arrows after e	ex ^{ist Delete} IIS requirements Advanced Driving Information Sys
E Lot1717 - Blue displayed route contains white arrows after each manoever.	General Name: ADIS requirements Advanced Driving Information System V1->V2 Created: 27.08.2010 Version update: V1 -> V2

Figure 274 – Task List

3.3.20Settings

TEMPPO differs between global and application specific settings.

3.3.20.1 Global settings

Global settings concern all TEMPPO applications – Test Manager, Requirement Manager, Administrator and Manager – i.e. when a global setting is changed, it's changed for all applications. If an application is running an a global setting is changed, the change will be visible after the next start of that application.

The global settings dialog can be opened via the menu **Global Settings** shortcut in the TEMPPO start menu.

Following settings are global:

- User Interface
- Logging

3.3.20.1.1 User Interface

The user interface can be configure via following settings:

- Font size for multi-line fields
- Language
- Look & Feel

Settings		×
Logging	User Interface General Font size for multi line fields (Examples: description, instruction,) Language Comment German Look & Feel Com Metal Code/Motif C	
	OK Cancel Apply	

Figure 275 – Global Settings: User Interface

3.3.20.1.2 Logging

You can also change the location of TEMPPO's log directory. Default value is the user's profile.

Settings	X
User Interface	Logging Directory to store log files [C:\Documents and Settings\fuchsc\.temppo\log
	Restore Defaults
	OK Cancel Apply

Figure 276 – Global Settings: Logging

3.3.20.2 TEMPPO Test Manager Settings

Specific settings e.g. tree display, automation tools, etc. can be configured in the settings dialog in TEMPPO. This dialog is opened via **Windows > Settings**. On the left side, there is a tree where the user can select the setting group which

should be configured. On the right side all single settings can be edited (see Figure 277).

	User Interface
User Interface	
Tree	Expand the tree to edit settings.
Test Step Cells	
Analysis	
Newsboard	
Test Suite	
Database	
-Test Automation	
- Silk Test	
WinRunner	
Universal Socket	
QuickTest Pro	
Test Partner	
JUnit	
TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)	
Ranorex	
Commands	
New Command	
Java32	
Change Management	
Bugzilla	
Clear Quest	
Telelogic Change	
JIRA	
	Restore Defaults

Figure 277 – Settings

Via button **Restore Defaults** all settings of the selected setting group are restored to the default values.

Following settings can be configured in TEMPPO:

User Interface

•

- o **Tree**
- Test Step Cells
- Analysis
- Newsboard
- o Test suite
- Database settings
- Test automation:
 - o Silk Test
 - o WinRunner
 - Universal File
 - Universal Socket
 - QuickTest Pro
 - o Test Partner
 - o JUnit
 - TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)
 - Ranorex
- Commands
- Change Management
 - Bugzilla
 - o IBM Telelogic Change
 - IBM Rational Clearquest
 - o JIRA

3.3.20.2.1 Tree

Tree settings which can be changed are, see Figure 278.

Property	Default value	Description
Display automatic numbering	deactivated	Switches on/off to display the internal order of items in the tree.
Recursive	activated	Switches on/off to show the order recursive, e.g. 10.7.03.
Delimiter	•	Specifies the delimiter for order numbers (e.g. delimiter in 10.7.3 is .).
Base	1	Specifies the base for order numbers, i.e. the number added to the internal order, which is 0 based.

Figure 278 – Settings: Tree

Test Step Cells 3.3.20.2.2

For the test step cells some settings can be changed, see Figure 279.

Property	Default value	Description
Refresh when resizing	activated	Switches on/off refreshing the row heights in a multi line table when changing column widths or table bounds.
Multiline height	52	Sets the minimum height of the edited row (in pixels) in a multi line table.

		You cannot set the number of lines for the test step editor, but the pixels. 52 pixel correspond to 3 lines.
Image column – image width	-1	Maximum width of thumbnail of a user defined image field. If it's -1 its ignored.
Image column – image height	100	Maximum height thumbnail of a user defined image field. If it's -1 its ignored.

Settinas

Settings		x
Settings	Test Step Cells Multiline table Image columns Image columns	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 279 – Settings: Test Step Cells

Analysis 3.3.20.2.3

You can change the settings for analysis:

Property	Default value	Description
Color settings	slightly	For charts, analysis you can select different colors
Label length for progress chart	100	Limits the label length of the requirement names in order to keep the chart "readable"
Creation Progress Label	Version	Specifies the text to be displayed on creation progress chart labels.
Execution Progress Label	Date	Specifies the text to be displayed on execution progress chart labels.

Settings		X
	Analysis Color settings for analysis Color settings for analysis Normal Slightly Progress charts Label length for progress charts Creation Progress Label Specifies the text to be displayed on labels for creation progress chart Name Date Version Label Execution Progress Label Specifies the text to be displayed on labels for execution progress chart Name Date Version Label Execution Progress Label Specifies the text to be displayed on labels for execution progress chart Name Date Version Label Restore Defaults	
	OK	

Figure 280 – Settings: Analysis

3.3.20.2.4 Newsboard

You can configure, if Newsboard window is automatically opened, if a test structure is opened.
Newsboard Start automatic Tree Test Step Cells Analysis Newsboard Test Suite Display Newsboard automatically when opening a test structure
Test Automation Test Automation Universal File Universal Socket QuickTest Pro Test Partner JUnit TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Ranorex Commands

Figure 281 – Settings: Newsboard

3.3.20.2.5 Test suite

You specify, if test suites are sorted by name or date in the open dialog.



Figure 282 - Settings: Test suite

3.3.20.2.6 Database

For the settings of database see Figure 283.

Property	Default value	Description
Show DSN Chooser on Startup	deactivated	Switches on/off a DB chooser on TEMPPO startup.
DSN Chooser Timeout (seconds)	5	Sets the timeout (in seconds) for committing the chooser automatically.
Switches on/off to lock	deactivated	Lock whole test structure before checking-in in case of test suite creation.
Check new test structure version	deactivated	Check for new test structure version when saving an item in latest version
		This setting is used together with deactivated previous setting. Example:
		User1: edits a TC in latest version
		User1: creates new test suite
		structure version is reloaded.
Check Locks in Test Suite before Exporting	activated	Switches on/off check of locks in test suite before exporting it.
Locking mode	automatic	Sets the locking mode
Loading mode	Parallel (unlimited threads)	When opening or refreshing a test structure there is a possibility to speed up loading data. If you want to do that, you have to select Parallel . Parallel: If you work on a single client PC it is recommended to select the checkbox Unlimited number of threads . For loading time CPU usage goes up. If you work on a terminal server it is recommended to specify a number of threads. Please ask SiTEMPPO team to specify the best value for your test environment. Serial: Data is loaded serialized. Only recommended when a small amount
History entries	10	Number of history records loaded at
		once from DB. Further records can be loaded on demand.

Recommendations:

For parallel mode, the number of threads should be <code>2*number</code> of processors on database server.

The setting for closing unused database connections depends on usage of TEMPPO:

- If you are opening frequently different test structure or versions, then you should define a longer duration. Then opened database connections are reused and no additional resources are needed permanently for connecting/disconnecting to database. For example: 30 minutes
- If you are working only in one test structure version for a long time, then you can define a short duration. Opened database connections are closed and used resources are released. For example: 10 minutes

5ettings		×
User Interface Tree Trest Step Cells Analysis Newsboard Test Suite Ostabase Test Automation Silk Test WinRunner Universal File Universal File Universal Socket QuickTest Pro Test Partner Unit TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Ranorex Commands Change Management	Database □DSN Chooser Image: Switches on/off a database chooser window on TEMPPO startup. 10 Timeout in seconds displaying DSN chooser Locking Switches on/off to lock the whole test structure before checking in and to prevent check in if an item is locked. Check for new test structure version when saving an item in main latest version Switches on/off to check if the entire test suite is unlocked before exporting. Locking Mode Locking mode in test structure and test suite. Image: Serial Image: Serial	
	OK	

Figure 283 – Settings: Database

3.3.20.2.7 Test Automation

3.3.20.2.7.1 WinRunner and SilkTest

Settings		2
	Silk Test	
	Application Path: C:\Program Files\Segue\SilkTest\partner.exe	
Analysis Newsboard	Temporary Path: C:\Documents and Settings	
Test Suite Database	Result Path: C:\Documents and Settings	
⊡Test Automation <u>Silk Test</u>	Result Viewer: C:/notepad.exe	
	Arguments: -q -resexport -r "< <testfile>>"</testfile>	
JUnit TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Ranorex	delete temporary test automation files	
Bugzilla ClearQuest Telelogic Change		
LJIRA	Restore Defaults	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 284: Test Automation (SilkTest, WinRunner)

If you plan to manage automated test cases in TEMPPO, you define the automation settings here. First of all you have to choose the automation tool, which will run your test cases. For <u>WinRunner, SilkTest</u> the meaning of the settings is as follows:

- **Application Path**: Executable of the automation tool.
- **Temporary Path**: Directory for temporary automation files created by TEMPPO during the execution of automated test cases.
- **Result Path**: Directory for result files created by the automation tool. The created result files are read from TEMPPO for obtaining the automation results.
- **Result Viewer**: The result viewer is for opening and viewing the result files. It depends on the result file format, which viewer can be taken (use a text editor e.g. notepad for WinRunner result files, use QuickTest Professional Result Viewer for QuickTest, use SilkTest for SilkTest result files).
- Arguments: The automation tool is called via its command line interface. This field shows the arguments which are passed to the automation tool during the call. Normally the default arguments should fulfill your needs for test automation, but for special cases the arguments can be adapted (study the command line specification of the automation tool first!). For the definition of the argument you can use the parameters <<TestFile>> (automation file to execute), <<ResultBaseDir>> (= Result Path) and <<ResultDir>> (generated directory for results during automation). Attention: Not every tool supports all parameters!

Use the Default button to restore the default arguments

If the check box in the bottom of the tab is checked, the temporary automation files will be deleted after automation.

3.3.20.2.7.2 Universal File Automation Interface

For <u>UFAI (Universal File Automation Interface)</u> you have to activate the automation tab and select **Universal File**.

	Universal File			
⊡User Interface Tree	Drive Letter:	0:1		2
Test Step Cells Analysis Newsboard	Error Path:			2
Test Suite	Result Path:	C:tmp		2
l⊶Test Automation Silk Test		✓ Upload result files to database		
WinRunner <mark>Universal File</mark>	Result Viewer:	c:/winnt/notepad.exe		2
Universal Socket QuickTest Pro	Adapter:	temppo.test.tools.adapters.CDefaultAutoToolAdapter		•
- JUnit TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) 	Arguments:	> < <resultfile>> 2> <<errorfile>></errorfile></resultfile>		
Commands New Command				
Java32 Change Management				
Bugzilla Clear Quest				
JIRA			Restore Def	aults

Figure 285 – Settings: Universal File

The meanings of the parameters are as follows:

- **Drive Letter** is that letter, where path of all test executables start. For each test case a path has to be added without a letter drive. In this way it is possible to support scenarios, where test executables have to be started from varying drive letters. You only have to change the Drive Letter setting in the Administrator.
- **Result Path** (mandatory): This is the directory, where all the result files are stored.
- **Upload result files to DB:** if checked, the result files will be loaded into the db; if unchecked the result file are stored in the file system.
- Error Path: (mandatory): The directory where all error output files are stored.
- **Result Viewer (optional):** An editor which is best suited for viewing result and output files.
- **Arguments (optional):** Command line arguments which are valid for all test executables. Contrarily individual arguments can be specified separately for each test case. Note, that the test executable is called with both argument strings concatenated.

3.3.20.2.7.3 Universal Socket Automation Interface

This interface allows test automation via a socket connection. I.e. when starting a test execution, TEMPPO will establish a local socket connection on a specified port, send the path to the script to execute over this socket and read the test results from this socket. Via an adapter implementation it's possible to handle the tool specific format of the delivered result output.

For configuration of <u>USAI (Universal Socket Automation Interface)</u> you have to activate the automation tab and select **Universal Socket**.

ttings		
	Universal Socket	
∃User Interface Tree Test Step Cells	Drive Letter:	
Analysis Newsboard Test Suite	Application Path: IP Address:	C::Program Files\TEMPPO 5.5\Auto Tools\Proprietary\tester.bat
⊡ Database ∃ Test Automation	Port Number:	1492
Viik Test WinRunner Universal File	Connection delay: Adapter:	temppo.test.tools.adapters.CDefaultAutoToolAdapter
Charge Management Charge Management Comparison	Arguments: Result Viewer:	arg1 arg2 %tcid% %file% Upload result files to database c:wwinnt*notepad.exe
Telelogic Change JIRA		Restore Defaults
		OK Cancel

Figure 286 – Settings: Universal Socket

The meanings of the parameters are as follows:

- **Drive Letter** is that letter, where path of all test executables start. For each test case a path has to be added without a letter drive. In this way it is possible to support scenarios, where test executables have to be started from varying drive letters. You only have to change the Drive Letter setting in the Administrator.
- **Application path** must point to the executable, which will be launched by TEMPPO, if a socket connection is not possible when test execution was started. After starting the application, TEMPPO will wait a defined delay (to give the application enough time to startup), before retrying to open the socket connection. This delay is 5 seconds per default.
- The **IP address** from the host where the application is running has to be specified. If the host isn't the local host (127.0.0.1) the application path cannot be configured. The reason for this limitation is that it is not possible to launch an application on a remote computer without any additional software.
- At **port number** the socket connection for automation will be opened.
- **Adapter** is the tool specific implementation for the handling of results received via the socket, to convert it into a format understandable by TEMPPO. Select here the implementation for your tool. For more information on adapter implementations see 13.7.

• **Arguments** are the command line arguments for the automation application.

In the arguments, parameters car	be used for the configuration:
----------------------------------	--------------------------------

Parameter	Purpose
%dbtcid%	internal unique database id for the test case
%dbtsid%	internal unique database id for the test suite
%tcid%	user defined id of test case
%tca%	test case name
%tst%	test structure name
%tsu%	test suite name
%prj%	project name
%ver%	Version
%file%	automation file

- Example:
- Administrator configuration (Arguments):
- -tc %dbtcid% -ts %dbtsid% -f *%file% // -args
- _
- Test case configuration (Additional Arguments):
- atw108s2;3;xyz
- _
- Data sent over socket:
- tc 213 -ts 1158 -f "x:\test scripts\jlms_checkout.xml" -args "atw108s2;3;xyz"

3.3.20.2.7.4 QuickTest Pro

For QuickTest Pro you have to specify the following parameters:

- **Application Path**: path to QTPro.exe
- **Temporary Path**: path where temporary files are stored
- **Result Path**: path where all the result runs are stored
- **Result viewer**: path to QTReport.exe

Settings		2
	QuickTest Pro	
	QuickTest Pro Application Path: Temporary Path: Result Path: Result Viewer: Arguments:	D:\Program Files\HP\QuickTest Professional\bin\QTPro.exe
JIRA		Restore Defaults
		OK Cancel

Figure 287 – Settings: QuickTest Pro

_

– TEMPPO uses the data table iterations from the QTP test case:

Properties	Run
Run Resources Parameters Environment XML Warehouse Web Java Web Services Web Services Recovery Local System Monitor Log Tracking	Data Table iterations Bun gne iteration only Run on all rows Run from row 2 to row 4 When error occurs during run session: pop up message box Ubject synchronization timeout: 20 seconds Disable Smart Identification during the run session Save image of desktop when error occurs (if test is run by the second
	HP Business Process Monitorj

Figure 288 – QTP Run Settings

3.3.20.2.7.5 TestPartner

$\mathbf{\dot{U}}$ TestPartner requires .NET Framework 2.0

For Compuware TestPartner you have to activate the automation tab and select **TestPartner**.

Figure 289 – Settings: TestPartner

The meanings of the parameters are as follows:

- **User Name**: User name in TestPartner for executing the automated test cases.
- **Password**: The password for the user in TestPartner.
- **Database**: Name of database when logging in to TestPartner (see Figure 289)
- **Temporary Path**: Has to be set for storing TestPatner's temporary data. Use the Default button to restore the default arguments.

If the check box in the bottom of the tab is checked, the temporary automation files will be deleted after automation.

TestPartner Logon
TestPartner
User Name:
Admin
Password:

Database:
TestPartner Configure
Help OK Cancel

Figure 290 – TestPartner Login

3.3.20.2.8 JUnit

For Junit see chapter 6.

ettings	
	U haž
E-User Interface	
Tree	Test Collector: at.scch.panama.junittool.LoadingTestCollector
Test Step Cells	
Analysis	Arguments:
Newsboard	
Test Suite	
Database	
⊡ Test Automation	
Silk Test	
WinRunner	allow dunicate names in same hierarchical level
) allow duplicate names in same nierarchicanever
QuickTest Pro	
Test Partner	
TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)	
Ranorex	
ĖCommands	
New Command	
Java32	
🖻 Change Management	
Bugzilla	
Clear Quest	
····Telelogic Change	
ⁱ JIRA	
	Restore Defaults
	OK Cancel

Figure 291 – Junit configuration

3.3.20.2.9 TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)

	TEMPPO Designer (IDAT	[G)	
⊡-User Interface Tree Tast Sten Cells	Application Path:	c:\program files\idatg\bin\idatg.exe	2
Analysis	Connection time out:	8	sec
Test Suite	Communication time out:	60	sec
····Database]···Test Automation	Ping waiting time:	4	sec
Silk Test	Ping repeats:	5]
		Check-In before updating with data of TEMPPO Designer	
		Restore Def	aults
Telelogic Change		Restore Def	ault

Figure 292 – Settings: TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)

- Application path: Path to IDATG.exe
- **Connection time out**: Time for connecting successfully with TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)

- **Communication time out:** Time out for an existing connection without any activities. After that time out TEMPPO sends a ping / heart beat and waits the Ping waiting time
- **Ping waiting time**: Maximal time to wait for an answer on a ping / heart beat.
- **Ping repeats**:Number of pings / heart beats sent to TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)

3.3.20.2.10 Ranorex

- **Result path**: Path to directory of the result file(s)
- **Result viewer**: Application to open result file(s)

	Ranorex
User Interface Tree Trest Step Cells Analysis Newsboard Test Suite Database Test Suite Database Test Suite WinRunner Universal File Universal File Universal Socket QuickTest Pro Test Partner JUnit TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Ranorex 	Result Path: C:tmp Result Viewer: C:\Program Files\UltraEdit\uedit32.exe
UINA	Restore Defaults

Figure 293 – Settings: Ranorex

3.3.20.2.11 Commands

Commands are used for hyperlinks with parameters.

By pressing the **New Command** on the right side you can create a new command (see Figure 294). Then a new tree node is created with the new command (see Figure 295). A command is defined by its name, path and arguments. The name has to be unique.

Settings		×
	Commands	
 ─User Interface ─Tree ─Test Step Cells ─Analysis ─Newsboard ─Test Suite ─Database □Test Automation 	New Command	
Gava2 □-Change Management 	Restore Defaults	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 294 – Settings: Command

	New Comm	and
User InterfaceTreeTest Step CellsAnalysisNewsboardTest SuiteDatabaseTest AutomationSilk TestWinRunnerUniversal FileUniversal FileUniversal SocketQuickTest ProTest PartnerJUnitTEMPPO Designer (IDATG)RanorexCommandsNew CommandJava32Change ManagementBugzillaClearQuestTelelogic ChangeJIRAJIRA	Name: Path: Arguments:	New Command C:\Office.exe test.doc Delete Restore Defaults

Figure 295 – New Command

3.3.20.2.12 Change Management

Select the change management tool which is used in TEMPPO for adding bugs to test steps.

Figure 296 – Settings: Change Management

3.3.20.2.12.1 Bugzilla

The following parameters have to be specified if using Bugzilla:

- **Basic Authentication**: If the checkbox is activated, a proxy server authentication (user, password) can be used.
- **URL**: The http address of your Bugzilla server.
- **User**: User name who will post the bug
- Password: Password of user

ettings		
	Bugzilla	
User Interface Tree Test Step Cells Analysis Newsboard Test Suite	Basic Authentication activate: User: internal	
Database ⊡Test Automation	Password:	
Silk Test WinRunner Universal File Universal Socket	Bugzilla URL: http://atlnzp10qa:2849/bugs_temppo_internal	
QuickTest Pro Test Partner JUnit	User: testmanger@atos.net Password: *******	
TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Ranorex Commands New Command Java32 Change Management	Test	
Bugzilla Clear Quest Telelogic Change JIRA	Restore Defaults	1
Telelogic Change JIRA	Restore Defaults OK Cancel	

Figure 297 – Settings: Bugzilla

3.3.20.2.12.2 IBM Rational Clearquest

The following table shows the parameter matching of TEMPPO and Clearquest:

ТЕМРРО	Clearquest	
URL	Web address of Cleaquest for login	
Connection	Database	
User Repository	Schema repository	
User	User name	
Password	Password	

Settings		×
Settings	ClearQuest URL: http://192.168.146.7/ Path to HTTPS Certificate: Connection: cq_aktx User repository: tpo Authentication User: admin Password: Test	×
JIRA	Restore Defaults	

Figure 298 – Settings: IBM Rational Clearquest



Figure 299 – Login to Clearquest

3.3.20.2.12.3 IBM Telelogic Change

The following parameters have to be specified if using Telelogic Change:

- **Server**, **Port**: IP address or server name, where Telelogic Change is running.
- **Context**: If your Telelogic Change is located at context, you have to add it here.
- **Database**: only the name of the database
- File of list box entries: path to the config-file of list boxes with its dependencies.

- **User**, **Password**: User name who will post a bug, and password of the user.
- **Role**: Role of the user in Telelogic Change

Example: If the web address of your Telelogic Change is located at http://158.92.135.211/change, it has to be separated like in the following screen shot:

	Telelogic Change	
User Interface		
Tree	Telelogic Change	
Test Step Cells	Server: 158.92.135.211	
Analysis	361061. [100.32.113.211	
Newsboard	Port: 8644	
Emilian Test Suite	Contrast	
Database		
- Test Automation	Database: tutorial65	
Silk Test		
WinRunner	File of list box entries:	i 🗃
Universal File		
Universal Socket	File of default values:	<u>a</u>
Quick lest Pro		
lest Partner		
TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)		
Ranorex	User: atw108s2	
New Command	Decoword: #########	
Java32	Passworu.	_
	Role: user	
Bugzilla		
ClearQuest	1	
Telelogic Change	lest	
JIRA		
	Restore (Defaults

Figure 300 – Telelogic Change

4 **TEMPPO Manager**

The following TEMPPO configurations are done with the TEMPPO Manager tool:

- Database connection
- User management (create a TEMPPO super user
- Database migration

4.1 Database Connection

📝 TEMPPO Manager	- 0		<u> </u>
📔 Database 🖉 Us	ers 😽 Migration		
DSN:	I-User documentation		
Database:	Oracle		_
SID:	aktx Sche	ma: temppo_um	
Host:	atinzp10qa F	ort: 1521	
User:	atw112h9	🔽 Login manually	
			🜈 Test
User:	temppo_um		
Password:			
			Connect
Database Name:			
Database Version:			

Figure 301: Manager – Database (Oracle)

In this tab you can define various database connection configurations, where each is identified by a **DSN** (Data Source Name). A new DSN can be created using the \Box button, which will prompt you to enter a unique DSN. A DSN can be deleted by clicking the \checkmark button. A DSN can be renamed by clicking the \Box button. If you delete all DSNs, TEMPPO will not be able to connect to a database! For each DSN you have to specify several connection parameters, which are explained in the following.

TEMPPO supports two database management systems, selectable in the field database. Depending on the chosen one, you must specify several connection parameters:

 Access: For Access you just simply have to specify the path to Access mdb. TEMPPO automatically creates an ODBC entry.

📝 TEMPPO Manager	-0	
🚺 Database 🖉 Us	ers 👪 Migration	
DSN:	Default	
Database:	Access	~
File:	C:\Program Files\TEMPPO 6.0\temppo.mdb	2
		🜈 Test
User:		
Password:		
		Connect
Database Name:		
Database Version:		

Figure 302 – Manager – Database (Access)

 Oracle, MS SQL Server: You must specify the database name (SID), the schema name (ask your database admin), the name or IP address of the database server (Host) and the port number (Port) at which the database server is listening for incoming connections. Contact your database administrator for this information.

The currently selected DSN is the active one, i.e. TEMPPO uses its connection parameters to connect to a database.

Using button **Test** you can verify your settings. A message will inform about the result of the verification.

By clicking **Connect** the TEMPPO Manager will establish a connection to the database (user and password are required for Oracle). This will cause the tabs Users and Migration getting enabled. Information about the database will be displayed on the bottom of the tab.

4.2 User management

📝 TEMPPO Manager -	[temppo_um]		_ 🗆 🗵					
🧃 Database 🛚 💆 Use	rs 값 Migration							
	LDAP							
Lastname	Lastname Firstname Login							
2	Tester1							
2	🖸 tester2							
2		Testmanager						
🙎 Schema	Owner	temppo_um	-					

Figure 303: Manager – User management

This tab is only active, if the test manager is connected to the database (see <u>Database Connection</u>). Users are created, changed and deleted here. The list shows all currently existing users.

User management in TEMPPO Manager is used to create the first super user, who has afterwards the rights to do all the administrative work in TEMPPO Administrator without any database password.

SQLSERVER: if a superuser is created, the following procedure has to be executed via a console or EnterpriseManager by an sysadmin: exec sp_addsrvrolemember N'\$(sid)',N'sysadmin'

The first step is to create a super user, that can either be with MS Window login or a self created one with password.

1

(i)

It is not allowed to start TEMPPO twice with the same login. This could cause inconsistencies in the database

4.2.1 MS Window login

For creating a (super) user with MS Windows login, you have to connect to the database without activating the checkbox **Login manually**.

📝 TEMPPO Manager - [temppo_um]		
🚺 Database 🙎 Users 🎳 Migration		
DSN:	<u></u>	D 193 ×
Database: Oracle		T
SID: aktx	Schema: temppo_um	
Host: atinzp10qa	Port: 1521	
User: atw112h9	Login manually	
		📂 Test
User: temppo_um		
Password:		
		🙋 Disconnect
Database Name: Oracle		
Database Version: Oracle Database 10g Enterprise Edition F With the Partitioning, OLAP, Data Mining a	Release 10.2.0.3.0 - Production and Real Application Testing options	

Figure 304 – DB connect to create MS Window Login

When pressing the button **Connect**, Figure 303 is displayed. A new (super) user can be created by clicking the button **Create new user**. The input fields are explained in chapter 4.2.3.

D	User proper	ties	×
	General		_
	Login:	at123456	
	Login Type:	 automatic 	
		O manual	
	Last Name:	Mustermann	
	First Name:	Max	
	Comments:		
		V Superuser	
		OK Cancel	

Figure 305 – Create MS Window login

4.2.2 Login with password

For creating a (super) user with manual login, you have to choose the radio button **manual.** The input fields are explained in chapter 4.2.3. If you fill-in also **Last** and **First** name, they will be displayed in TEMPPO Test Manager instead of the **Login**.

User properties		×
General		
Login: Login Type:	TestManager	
	manual	
Password:	*****	
Retype Password:	*****	
Last Name:	Mustermann	
First Name:	Max	
Comments:		
	I▼ Superuser	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 306 – Create manual login

4.2.3 User Properties

For specifying a user the following data has to be entered:

- Login: MS Windows(NT, XP, 2000, 7) login or manual one
- Login Type: automatic or manual
- **Password**: In case of manual login the password
- **Retype Password**: Retyping the password
- Last name: <u>Will be shown in TEMPPO instead of login</u>

(i)

- First name: Will be shown together with last name in TEMPPO
- Comment: Text field (optional)
- Superuser: Check Box for the role Superuser, can only be assigned in TEMPPO Manager

At least one TEMPPO Superuser has to be defined.

4.3 Database migration

📝 TEMPPO Manage	r - [system]		
📔 Database 🗐 👤 L	sers 🐰 Migration		
Database Version:	5.8 Build 46		
Application Version:	6.0 Build 0		
	Database must be migrated! Attention: You may need administration privileges for mig	ration!	
Index Tablespace:	temppo01		
Data Tablespace:	sitemppoindex		
		Save	Migrate
Migration Log:			

Figure 307: Manager – Database migration

This tab is only active, if the Administrator is connected to the database (see <u>Database Connection</u>). Database migration due to version changes of TEMPPO is done here. If migration is needed, the buttons are active. **Migrate** processes the built in migration script, with button **Save** the migration script can be saved to a file (SQL-script for Oracle, VB-Script for Access). The saved script must then be executed outside of TEMPPO.

5 TEMPPO Administrator

The following configuration settings are defined with the TEMPPO Administrator tool:

- Database connection
- Test automation settings
- Roles
- User management (except TEMPPO Superuser)
- Metadata
- Projects

(i)

License server connection

(i) Configuration settings are written into the admin.properties file, which is read by TEMPPO on application startup. Therefore TEMPPO must be restarted, before any configuration changes take effect.

You may start more than one TEMPPO Administrator application. However: take into account that all Administrator applications write to the same admin.properties file.

5.1 Database Connection

E X
-
onnect

Figure 308: Administrator – Database (Oracle)

In this tab you can define various database connection configurations, where each is identified by a **DSN** (Data Source Name). A new DSN can be created

using the button, which will prompt you to enter a unique DSN. A DSN can be deleted by clicking the button. A DSN can be renamed by clicking the button. If you delete all DSNs, TEMPPO will not be able to connect to a database! For each DSN you have to specify several connection parameters, which are explained in the following.

TEMPPO supports two database management systems, selectable in the field database. Depending on the chosen one, you must specify several connection parameters:

 Access: For Access you just simply have to specify the path to Access mdb. TEMPPO automatically creates an ODBC entry.



Figure 309 – Administrator – Database (Access)

 Oracle, MS SQL Server: You must specify the database name (SID), the schema name (ask your database admin), the name or IP address of the database server (Host) and the port number (Port) at which the database server is listening for incoming connections. Contact your database administrator for this information.

Furthermore you can activate the checkbox **Login manually**, that activates the manual login window before displaying the TEMPPO main window.

The currently selected DSN is the active one, i.e. TEMPPO uses its connection parameters to connect to a database.

Using button **Test** you can verify your settings. A message will inform about the result of the verification.

By clicking **Connect** the TEMPPO Administrator will establish a connection to the database (user and password are required for Oracle). This will cause the tabs Users, Projects, Migration and Roles getting enabled (if the user logged in is allowed to do so by his assigned roles. Information about the database will be displayed in the bottom of the tab.

5.2 Roles

The access to TEMPPO functionality is managed by roles. In the following tab **Roles** the predefined TEMPPO roles are listed. On the one hand roles can be edited or adapted and on the other side new roles can be created.

TEMPPO Administrator - [Testmanager]							
📔 Database 😫 Roles 🙎 Users 🧐 M	etadata 🛛 📝 Projects 🗍 🔒 Locks 🖡 ć	ð License					
Name	Owner	Created					
Y TEMPPO Editor	Schema Owner	13.02.2012 13:04:02					
S TEMPPO Guest	Schema Owner	13.02.2012 13:04:06					
💱 TEMPPO Key Tester	Schema Owner	13.02.2012 13:04:04					
🤩 TEMPPO Key User	Schema Owner	13.02.2012 13:04:00					
Si TEMPPO Reporter	Schema Owner	13.02.2012 13:04:01					
🐓 TEMPPO Requirement Editor	Schema Owner	13.02.2012 13:04:03					
Strate TEMPPO Superuser	Schema Owner	13.02.2012 13:03:59					
💺 TEMPPO Tester	Schema Owner	13.02.2012 13:04:05					

Figure 310 – Roles

Adding, editing and deleting are allowed. In the tab **General** you can fill in the name and description or change the icon. In the tab **Details** the rights are listed.

📝 Role properties		×					
General Details							
Contor and Details 1		1					
SE TEMPPO Key Tester							
Created: 13.02.2012 13:04:04							
Creator: Schema Owner							
Type: RoleChange icor	n 16x16 Pixe	el					
Description:							
04	< Cancel						
📝 Role properties							×
Role properties							×
Ceneral Details Function	New	Change	Delete	Read	Ownership	User	×
Role properties General Details Function Update	New	Change	Delete	Read	Ownership	User	X
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package	New	Change	Delete	Read	Ownership	User	×
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories	New	Change	Delete	Read	Ownership	User	X
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit	New	Change	Delete	Read	Ownership	User	X
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit Link requirements		Change	Delete	Read	Ownership	User	X
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit Link requirements Merge		Change		Read	Ownership	User	
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit Link requirements Merge Test case	New	Change		Read	Ownership	User	×
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit Link requirements Merge Test case Assian test case attributes		Change		Read	Ownership	User	X
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit Link requirements Merge Test case Assign test case attributes Assign test case attributes		Change		Read	Ownership	User	
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit Link requirements Merge Test case Assign test case attributes Assign test levels Edit Edit Edit Edit Edit Edit Edit Edit		Change		Read	Ownership	User	
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit Link requirements Merge Test case Assign test case attributes Assign test levels Edit Link requirements		Change		Read	Ownership	User	
Role properties General Details Function Update Test package Assign test categories Edit Link requirements Merge Test case Assign test case attributes Assign test levels Edit Link requirements		Change		Read	Ownership	User	

Figure 311 – Role properties: General/ Details

The functions are predefined and cover the whole functionality of TEMPPO Administrator and TEMPPO.

Level of access of the function:

- New (or execute)
- Edit
- Delete
- Read
- Move Ownership
- Consider User (objects can only be deleted if the user is the owner of the object)

In the dialog only the possible checkboxes are shown. E.g. report: It only makes sense and is only possible to execute a report. Therefore only the checkbox **New** (or **execute**) can be selected.

By this way roles can be created and adapted due to user demands.

5.3 User management

_ 🗆 ×

Figure 312: Administration – User management

This tab is only active, if the connected user is allowed to by his assigned roles. Users are created, changed and deleted here. The list shows all currently existing users. By clicking the **New** or **Properties** button, the user properties dialog pops up, where you can change the user name. Clicking the **Delete** button will delete the selected user after you confirmed the verification message.

By selecting the checkbox **LDAP**, you can connect to a **LDAP server** and import or synchronize users.

In principal, it is possible to use 2 different logins, on the one hand user can login to TEMPPO automatically with their MS Windows account and on the other side you can create user logins named as you like. Such "manual" logins need a password.

The same functions with the exception of role assignment are offered in TEMPPO Manager, for details see chapter 4.2,

📝 User properties	×
General Roles & Rights	
TEMPPO Superuser	
Choose project: User docume	entation
TEMPPO Editor	TEMPPO Reporter
TEMPPO Guest	TEMPPO Requirement Editor
TEMPPO Key Tester	TEMPPO Tester
TEMPPO Key User	
	OK Cancel

Figure 313: User properties- Roles & Rights

To assign a defined role to a user, select tab Roles & Right and select a project. Then check the roles the user should get for the chosen project and press the button "apply". Choose another project and assign roles to the user by clicking the required checkboxes and pressing "apply". A user can have different roles in different projects.

1

The TEMPPO Superuser role can only be assigned in the TEMPPO Manager – Users tab.

If a new role is assigned to a user, the user has to restart TEMPPO to have access to the functionality provided by the newly assigned role.

5.3.1 LDAP

By selecting the checkbox LDAP a field for configuring LDAP connections is shown (see Figure 244). After a successful connect you can import users from a LDAP server or you can synchronize the existing TEMPPO users with the LDAP server.

For imported users you can see the LDAP server from which the user was imported. If a user was created manually, the value in the column LDAP server is not set.

5.3.1.1 LDAP Connection

n TEMPI	PO Administrato	or - [Testman	ager]							
🧐 Datal	base 🤰 😫 Roles	🙎 Users 🧃) Metadata	📝 Projects	🔒 Locks	s 🗟 Lice	nse			
	🖀 🗙 🔽 u	DAP								
	Lastname	:		Firstname			Lo	igin		
1						atw112h9				
£						Tester1				_
£						tester2				
2						tester3				
2						tester4				
2						tester5				
2						tester6				-
	DSN: Host:	Atos scdldap.atos.ne	et			•	Port: 3	89	rI.	×
	Base:									
Use	r (Domain\User):	ww930\atw112I	n9							
	Password:									_
								¢	Conne	ct
				4	🔮 Import u	sers	s 🙀 s	ynchroni	ze user	's

Figure 314: Connection to the LDAP server

You can define various LDAP connection configurations, where each is identified by a DSN (Data Source Name). A new DSN can be created using the \Box button, which will prompt you to enter a unique DSN. A DSN can be deleted by clicking the \checkmark button. A DSN can be renamed by clicking the \boxdot button. For each DSN

you have to specify several connection parameters, which are explained in the following.

You must specify the name of the server (**Host**), the port number (**Port**), the domain name (**Base**) and the user data (**User** and **Password**) to connect to the LDAP server. The login name must be specified in the form of Domain\User.

By clicking **Connect** the TEMPPO Administrator will establish a connection to the LDAP server. If the connect to the LDAP server was successful the buttons **Import users** and **Synchronize users** are enabled. You can import users by clicking the button **Import users**. By clicking the button **Synchronize users** you can synchronize the existing TEMPPO users with the LDAP server.

5.3.1.2 Importing users from LDAP

import users fr	om LDAP						
5earch							
Last Name:				 First Name	:		
Login:				Windows group	,		
cogiin [·]		
Department: P	5E SES MEC			Location	: Linz		
Country:							
,						d	ear Search
No 🗚	Lastname 🔬	Firstname	Login	Mail	Department	Location	Country
	Aigner	Judith	atw12083	judith.aigner@si	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
	Fuchs	Clemens	atw108s2	clemens.fuchs@	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
	Hainzl	Thomas	atw10by1	thomas.hainzl@	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
	Hametner	Andreas	atw10c16	andreas.hametn	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
	Hametner	Andreas	atw9f789	pse-vdo-core-te	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
	Hampel	Michael	atw113v4	michael.hampel	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
	Hofmann	Roland	atw114c5	hofmannroland	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
	Holzlechner	Manfred	atw126s2	manfred.holzlec	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
	Kronegger	Martin	atw12903	martin.kronegge	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
0	Mayrbaeurl	Max	atw10sf8	max.mayrbaeurl	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
1	Moritsch	Karin	atw9f426	psenllbespr1085	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
2	Moritsch	Karin	atw9f3c1	psekblbespr213	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
3	Moritsch	Karin	atw10tm8	karin.moritsch@	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
4	Niederwieser	Peter	atw10mc2	Peter.Niederwie	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
5	Obermueller	Peter	atw123w3	peter.obermuell	PSE SES MEC L	Linz	AUSTRIA
							Import
							Close

Figure 315: Importing users from LDAP

You can search for a last name, first name, login, windows group, department, location and a country. By clicking the button **Clear** you can delete the search preferences. Clicking the **Search** button will perform the search and the result is shown in the table below.

The search can be cancelled at any time by clicking the button **Cancel**.



Figure 316: Cancel a LDAP search

(i) If you are searching for a Windows group or if the search output is very large, the result of the search might not be complete, because the performance of the LDAP server varies. So if you are searching for a specific user, try to find him by searching for the department or other criterias.

After selecting one or several users in the table the button **Import** is enabled. By clicking this button you can import the selected users into TEMPPO. If you select a user that is already a TEMPPO user, the user is updated.

You can cancel the import at any time by clicking the button **Cancel**.

Import u	isers from LDAP	×
(į)	User cancelled importing users from L	DAP!
	OK	

Figure 317: Cancel the import from LDAP

5.3.1.3 Synchronizing users with LDAP

A LDAP search for all TEMPPO users is performed and if they were found the first name and the last name are updated.



The synchronization will be performed for each user from the current LDAP server or for manually created users. If a manually created user was found, the column LDAP server is set.

The synchronization can be cancelled at any time by clicking the button **Cancel**.



Figure 318: Cancel the synchronization with LDAP

If there are TEMPPO users with the current LDAP server as origin that could not be found in the LDAP server, a dialog shows these users. You can delete users by clicking the button **Delete**.

Lastname	Firstname	Login	LDAP server	
Hainzl	Thomas	xyz10by1	atinzp10pa	
Hametner	Andreas	xyz10c16	atinzp10pa	
Hametner	Andreas	xyz9f789	atinzp10pa	
Hampel	Michael	xyz113v4	atinzp10pa	
Hofmann	Roland	xyz114c5	atinzp10pa	
Holzlechner	Manfred	xyz126s2	atinzp10pa	
Kronegger	Martin	×yz12903	atinzp10pa	
Mayrbaeurl	Max	xyz10sf8	atinzp10pa	
Moritsch	Karin	xyz9f3c1	atinzp10pa	
Moritsch	Karin	xyz9f426	atinzp10pa	
			X Delete	1

Figure 319: Result of the synchronization with LDAP

5.4 Metadata

You can customize Metadata for the whole database, which provides a pool of data that can be used in various projects. If you want to use special metadata in a project, you have to assign them (see chapter 5.5.5).

The tab **Metadata** is divided into 6 tabs (if the tabs are not enabled, you do not have the right to see it). The following values are predefined:

- <u>Test Levels</u>: module test, integration test, system test, acceptance test, regression test
- <u>Test Categories</u>: state-based, GUI-layout, task-based, performance, resource, security, safety, portability, reliability, maintenance, reuse, usability.
- <u>Attributes</u>: none
- <u>Uploads:</u> none
- <u>Requirement Structure</u>: none
- <u>User Fields</u>: none

These tabs are described in the following chapters.

5.4.1 General Behavior

- Metadata are database wide.
- Metadata in a project can only be used, if they are assigned to the project.
- Metadata names have to be unique within all projects.

5.4.1.1 New Metadata Entries

How to create a new metadata in TEMPPO?

First select the corresponding tab (test level, test category, attributes, uploads, requirements user fields) and click \Box .

There are two possibilities now:

- Type the name of the Metadata, the description and press the button OK. TEMPPO verifies now, if the Metadata already exists. If the metadata is existing, you are asked, if you want to assign this metadata to your project. If the metadata does not exist, it is saved to the metadata pool and the assignment to the project is made.
- 2) Type in a match criterion of the metadata and click on the arrow of the combo box. All metadata entries that match the criterion are listed in the combo box. Choose one, press the button ok and confirm the assignment question.

5.4.1.2 Delete Metadata Entries

Choose the right metadata tab and click the button Delete. If the metadata is not referenced in any project, the metadata is deleted.

5.4.1.3 Move ownership

In the TEMPPO Administrator there is the possibility to move the ownership of a metadata. After pressing the button "Move Ownership" the following dialog comes up.

🛃 Mi	ove ownership to			×
	Lastname 🔺	Firstname	Login	Ι
2			atw112h9	
£			Tester1	
£			tester2	
£			tester3	
2			tester4	
£			tester5	
2			tester6	
2			tester7	
2			Testmanager	
2	Schema	Owner	temppo_um	
,				
			Move Cancel	

Figure 320: Move Ownership

The new owner of the metadata can be chosen.

5.4.2 Test Levels

Here you can add, delete, view and filter test levels. In Figure 321 all test levels are displayed with name, owner and creation date.

Database 😫 Roles 丘 Users	Metadata 📝 Projects	Locks 🛱 License
🗅 Test Levels 🛛 🔒 Test Categories	Mattributes 関 Uploads 📢	Requirement Structures
🗅 🖬 🗡 🍇 Filter:		
Name	Owner	Created
Acceptance Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00
Integration Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00
Module Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00
🛱 Regression Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00
🛱 System Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00

Figure 321 – Metadata: Test Levels

A new test level can be added by pressing the button **New** in the tab **Test levels** and Figure 322 is displayed.

Properties of New Entry	×	Properties of New Entry	×
Properties of New Entry J General Details Image: Sub system test J Created: 20.02:2012 16:14:48 Owner: Testmanager Type: Test Level Description: Image: Sub system test	×	Ceneral Details Additional Test Level Regression Test System Test	×
OK Cancel		OK Canc	el



In this window general information like name, creation date and owner and a **Description** of the test level can be entered. In the second tab (**Details**) additional test levels can be added. **(Additional) test levels** are related to a test level.

Furthermore, it is possible to add supplementary test levels for the purpose of using test cases in different test levels. For example, there is a test structure related with test level System Test, which contains the additional test levels Acceptance and Regression Test. Each test case in this test structure can now be assigned to one or both of the additional test levels (see 3.1.2.4).

(i) It's not possible to delete test levels, which are already used in projects (test structures or test cases).

5.4.3 Test Categories

Test categories are used to denote test packages that contain only test cases of a special type.

Database 😫 Roles £ User:	s 🕙 Metadata 📝 Projects 🔒	Locks 🖨 License	
🗅 Test Levels 🔒 Test Categories	S 🍋 Attributes 📵 Uploads 📢	Requirement Structures	ser Fie
🗅 🖆 🗡 🍇 Filter:			
Name	Owner	Created	
GUI-Layout Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	-
Maintenance Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	
Performance Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	
Portability Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	
Reliability Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	H
Resource Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	1
Reuse Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	
Safety Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	
Security Test	admin	21.02.2001 00:00:00	
State-Based Test	admin	21 02 2001 00:00:00	

Figure 323 – Metadata: Test Categories

Here you can add, delete, view and filter test categories. When pressing \Box , the window **Test Category Properties** is opened. A name must be entered, and user name and creation date are suggested automatically. The same window is shown when applying \Box for editing the test category properties.

Properties of New Entry
General
New Entry
Created: 20.02.2012.15:15:48
Owner: Testmanager
Type: Test Category
Description:
OK Cancel

Figure 324 – Test Category Properties

5.4.4 Attributes

Attributes are applied to test cases, test results and test suites.

They can be applied in addition to the standard attributes (owner, creation date, priority, and working state). Such attributes like working state, tester, sample phase etc. help the test manager to realize his objectives of the test plan.

Therefore it should be planned before creating a test structure or a test execution, which attributes are used.

Especially for pursuing the test objectives it is important to define these attributes in TEMPPO. During the test process you may be asked always the same questions like:

- How is the progress of test case development in comparison to the last day/week/month?
- How many test cases are ready for test execution?
- How many test cases are ready for regression testing?
- How many test cases of the current test suite are passed/failed?

Besides test case attributes, you can assign attributes to test suites and test case results, too. These attributes can be used for different issues. E.g., during test case execution the version of the SUT (= software under test) sometimes changes. But the test manager wants to know which test cases were executed with which SUT version or which SUT versions are used in the test suite.

Moreover, predefined attributes provides the users from making mistakes when writing the necessary information.

Attributes are also used for filtering, analyzing and reporting the test structure or the test suite.

Database 😫 R	oles 🖸 Users 🔮	Metadata 📝 Project	ts 🔒 Locks 🕲	License	
🗅 Test Levels 🔒	Test Categories 🔫	Attributes 🔋 Upload	ds 🔶 Requiremen	t Structures 🛄 User i	Fields
D 🖻 X 🕼 I		▼ Filter:			
Name	Owner	Created	Attribute Type	Creation Type	
🗢 Browser	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:46	Test Case	manually created	-
🛀 demo	Testmanager	12.09.2012 14:21:37	Test Package	manually created	
🕗 Demonst	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:45	Test Case	manually created	
🕙 Developer	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:43	Test Case	manually created	
Ist Schon Te	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:44	Test Case	manually created	=
🕙 Meilenstein	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:45	Test Case	manually created	-
🕶 Mile stone	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:47	Test Case	manually created	
🕙 New Entry	Testmanager	12.09.2012 14:21:01	Test Case	manually created	
🕙 New Entry3	Testmanager	12.09.2012 14:22:11	Test Suite	manually created	
🕘 Regressiontest	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:46	Test Case	manually created	
Sample	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:42	Test Case	manually created	
😶 Treiber	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:41	Test Case	manually created	-

Figure 325 – Metadata: Attributes

Here, you can add, delete, view and fiter attributes. In the master screen, the selection grouped by type can be changed by the box above.

When pressing \Box , the window **Attribute Properties** is opened. A name can be entered, and user name and creation date are suggested automatically. In addition, the attribute has to be categorized for a test case, test suite or/and test result. A test suite attribute may also be used for test execution attributes, but not for a test case's one.

This implies that the usage of an attribute can be changed after creation.

The boxes for categorizing are disabled, if the attribute is already used.

In tab **Details** the possible attribute values must be defined.

2	Properties of New Entry			×
	General Detaile			
	Ochorda Details			
	7 Browser			
	Created: 20.02.2012 15:18:12	For Use of:	▼ Test Case	
	Owner: Testmanager		Test Package	
	Type: Attribute		🗖 Test Suite	
			🗖 Test Result	
			Requirement	
	Description:			
				-
			OK Cancel	
	Descention of New Estate			
4	Propercies of New Entry			
	General Details			
			(
		Value		
	Browser - Chrome		Ē	
	Browser - Firelox		\times	
	Biowsci - opcia			
			OK Cancel	

Figure 326 – Attribute Properties

(i) An attribute cannot be deleted, if it's already used in a test case.

5.4.4.1 Copy and rename of UDA

For user defined attributes the possibility of copy and rename (copy an existing UDA with or without values and rename it) is offered.
🗿 Database 😫 Re	oles £ Users 🧐	Metadata Project	s 🔒 Locks හි	License	
🛱 Test Levels 🛛 🔒	Test Categories 🔲	Attributes 関 Upload	ls 🧶 Requiremen	t Structures 🔲 User i	Fields
🗅 📽 🗙 🙀	à ·	Filter:			
Name	Copy and rename	Created	Attribute Type	Creation Type	ľ
😔 Browser	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:46	Test Case	manually created	•
🛀 demo	Testmanager	12.09.2012 14:21:37	Test Package	manually created	
< Demonst	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:45	Test Case	manually created	
🔍 Developer	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:43	Test Case	manually created	
🕙 Ist Schon Te	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:44	Test Case	manually created	=
🝋 Meilenstein	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:45	Test Case	manually created	-
🕙 Mile stone	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:47	Test Case	manually created	
🕙 New Entry	Testmanager	12.09.2012 14:21:01	Test Case	manually created	
🕙 New Entry3	Testmanager	12.09.2012 14:22:11	Test Suite	manually created	
🖲 Regressiontest	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:46	Test Case	manually created	
🛀 Sample	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:42	Test Case	manually created	
🖳 Treiber	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:46:41	Test Case	manually created	-

Figure 327 – Copy of UDA

Rename the attribute by changing the name of the attribute (see Figure 328). If the checkbox **Copy values** is clicked, the values of the attribute to copy (example: values of "Milestone") are copied too. If the checkbox is not clicked, only the attribute is copied (not the values).

~	Treiber	
Created:	9.12.2013 17:13	31
Owner:	estmanager	
Type: 7	Attribute	Copy values
Description:		

Figure 328 – Copy and Rename

5.4.5 Uploads

If you activate the tab **Uploads** (Figure 329), you can

- Upload new files without any reference
- View uploads properties
- Delete uploads from the database
- Delete all non-referenced uploads

🕽 Database 😫 Roles £ Users 🧐 Metadata 📝 Pi	rojects 🔒 Locks	d License	
🛱 Test Levels 📕 Test Categories 🚧 Attributes 関 U	ploads Requi	rement Structures	User Fields
🗋 📸 🗡 🧔 🏷 🕮 Filter:			
Name	Owner	Created	Size
3e36d25bbb_1265288210525_1385124398879.jpg	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:	57.01 kB 🔺
ADIS Phase 1.xml	Testmanager	09.12.2013 17:	432.64 k 😑
Auto.xml	Testmanager	09.12.201 <mark>3</mark> 17:	443.45 k
B coverage_1273655456963_1385124396112.jpg	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:	84.29 kB
launcher.properties	Testmanager	12.09.2012 14:	2.10 kByte
Navigation Demo.xml	Testmanager	09.12.2013 17:	4.97 MB
esult coverage_1265288203103_1385124394534.jpg	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:	15.15 kB
screenshot_128283857250942838_1282838572962_13.	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:	26.13 kB
B screenshot_128283857250942838_1282838572962_13.	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:	26.13 kB
Screenshot_128283857250942838_1282838572962_13.	Testmanager	22.11.2013 13:	26.13 kB
Screenshot_136560483620619091_1365604836346_13.	Testmanager	22.1 <mark>1</mark> .2013 13:	6.49 kByte
Telematics.xml	Testmanager	09.12.2013 17:	7.70 kByte
UserManual.pdf	Testmanager	09.12.2013 17:	8 47 MB 🔻

Figure 329 - Metadata: Uploads

If you activate **Delete all non-referenced uploads**, a confirmation window (see Figure 330) is displayed, before deleting all non-referenced uploads.

Delete u	nreferenced uploads
?	Do you really want to delete all unreferenced uploads?
	<u>]a</u> Nein

Figure 330 – Confirmation window

5.4.6 Requirement Structures

With requirement structures you can assign requirements to test cases or test packages. In the list you see all existing requirement structures (see Figure 331).

You can create new requirement structures with TEMPPO Requirement Manager.

TEMPPO Administrator - [Testmanager]			
🗿 Database 😫 Roles 🛛 💆 Users 🧐 Meta	data 🔀 Projects	🔒 Locks 🖻 🗄 License	
🗅 Test Levels 🛛 🚍 Test Categories 🛛 🚈 Attrik	outes 🚺 😫 Uploads	🍪 Requirement Structures	User Fields
\$a × ₽			
Name 🔺	Owner	Created	Туре
Components	Testmanager	16.02.2012 11:24:18	Manual
Dustomer requirements	Testmanager	13.02.2012 16:50:26	Manual
lmport	Testmanager	14.02.2012 09:34:44	Manual
Learning Project - Use Cases 1	Testmanager	14.02.2012 14:54:30	IBM RequisitePro
Link test cases to requirement	Testmanager	14.02.2012 11:13:39	Manual
Notepad	Testmanager	13.02.2012 17:05:48	Manual
Notepad_1	Testmanager	14.02.2012 10:32:11	Manual
Requirements for user documentation	Testmanager	14.02.2012 09:20:13	Manual
≽ SW requirements	Testmanager	14.02.2012 09:20:49	Manual
≽ User requirements	Testmanager	14.02.2012 09:19:32	Manual

Figure 331 – Metadata: Requirement Structures

🕞 Test Levels 🛛 🔒 Test Categories 🛛 🗝 Attrik	outes 🛛 📵 Uploads	🛞 Requirement Structures	User Fields
🖕 🗙 🖀			
Show requirement attributes	Owner	Created	Туре
Scomponents	Testmanager	16.02.2012 11:24:18	Manual
😒 Customer requirements	Testmanager	13.02.2012 16:50:26	Manual
🔖 Import	Testmanager	14.02.2012 09:34:44	Manual
🔖 Learning Project - Use Cases 1	Testmanager	14.02.2012 14:54:30	IBM RequisitePro

Figure 332 – Show requirement attributes

With the button **Show requirement attributes** the assigned attributes are shown in a new window (see Figure 333). It's only possible to un/assign attributes, when the requirement structure is *not* imported.

Meta Data Editor		×
Requirement	Selected values 🛛	
Available values 🔉	→	
	<u>}</u>	
	44	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 333 – Requirement attributes

With a double click on an attribute (tab **attributes**) the properties of the attribute are shown (see Figure 334). It's not possible to change the requirement attribute, because it's imported from DOORS or RequisitePro.

Properties	of Property		:	×
General De	tails			1
7*•	Property			
Created:	14.02.2012 14:54:30	For Use of:	Test Case	
Owner:	Testmanager		🗖 Test Package	
Type:	Attribute		🗖 Test Suite	
			🗖 Test Result	
			Requirement	
Description:				
			OK Cancel	

Figure 334 – Properties of attribute

5.4.7 User Fields

Ø	TEMPPO Administrato	r - [Testmanager]			
	🗿 Database 😫 🛛 Roles 🗍	🙎 Users 🧐 Metada	ata 📝 Projects 🔓 🔒 Locks	🖨 License	
Ľ	🛱 Test Levels 🛛 🔒 Test	Categories 🛛 🝋 Attribu	tes 🛛 📵 Uploads 🗍 🚳 Require	ement Structures	User Fields
	Name 🔺	Owner	Created	Туре	Usage
	Action image	Testmanager	15.02.2012 16:14:56	Image	Test Structure
	Actual screen shot	Testmanager	20.02.2012 15:28:06	Image	Test suite
	Comment	Testmanager	15.02.2012 16:15:13	Text	Test Structure
	1				

Figure 335 – Metadata: User Fields

For test steps new columns can be defined for test structures and test suites. When pressing the button **New** (see Figure 336), you can select between a text and image column for test structure or suite.

Properties of New Entry	×
General	
New Entry	
Created: 13.10.2010 11:13:29	
Owner: Testmanager	
Type: Additional Test Step Column	
Usage	
Text C Test Structure	L
C Image C Test suite	L
OK	

Figure 336 – Additional test step column

5.5 Projects



Figure 337 – Administration of Projects

The **Project** tab is only active, if the user has a role with sufficient rights. A TEMPPO Superuser has access to all projects.

If allowed due to role privileges, you can **create and copy projects, delete test suites, labels, branches, test structures or even entire projects and assign metadata to projects**.

5.5.1 Creating a project

A new project can only be created in TEMPPO Administrator.

After pressing the button **New**, Figure 338 is displayed. The user specifies a unique name and a description. TEMPPO automatically supplies the creation date and owner, which is taken from the Windows account.

General 🤮	Roles		
	Demo		
Created: Owner:	11.10.2012 12:38:50 Strasser Johanna	Mandatory history comment	
Туре:	TEMPPO Project		
Description:	Demo Project		
	7.		

Figure 338 – Project Properties – New Project

User /	ID	Editor	Guest	Key	Key	Rep	Req	Test.
2 nn1 2 Schema Owner 2 Schosser Dietmar 2 Strasser Johanna 2 Trestmanager	nn1 sitemppo_61 atw112h9 atw10905 Testmanager							

Figure 339 - Project Properties: Roles

In the tab **Roles**, roles can be assigned to users (see Figure 339). By pressing **OK** the project is created. Then the project can be edited and worked on in TEMPPO.

5.5.2 Copying a project

A new project can only be copied in TEMPPO Administrator.

If a project selected and the button **Copy current project** is pressed, Figure 338 is displayed.

10020-00	
?	Do you really want to copy the project "Demo Notepad"? Only the assigned meta data (except requirement structures) and user roles are copied.
	Yes No

Figure 340 - Copy project confirmation

The user is asked whether he wants to copy the current selected project including all assigned **meta data** except requirement structures. If the user presses **Yes**, the project including assigned users plus meta data except requirement structures is copied.

5.5.3 Deletions

The delete button is active, if a node (project, test structure (version), test suite) in the tree is selected. By clicking it, the corresponding object is deleted after you confirmed the verification message.

(i) You cannot delete the main latest label or any latest label in a branch!

5.5.4 Test Suites: check consistency, unlock

The buttons **Check Consistency** of a selected test suite and **Unlock** selected test suite are active, if a test suite is selected.

Furthermore it is possible to unlock a whole test suite/structure. In case of problems during exporting and importing test suites it may happen that references remain in the central database. To solve these problems it is necessary to unlock the test suite. Figure 337 shows the locked test suite **Test Suite for export**. The **Lock** button becomes enabled when the test suite is selected.

(i) If you unlock a test suite/structure no more imports are possible. After that, exported test suites are of no more use and can be deleted from the Export Database.

5.5.5 Assign Metadata

For a chosen project all kinds of metadata (test level, test category, attributes, uploads, requirement structures, user fields) can be assigned to the project. Metadata is defined project spanning. The assignment is made per project.

📝 Meta Data Editor		×
Meta Data Editor Test Levels Test Categories Attribu Find: Gui-Layout Test Maintenance Test Performance Test Portability Test Reliability Test Resource Test Safety Test Subability Test Usability Test	Image: Second state of the second s	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 341 – Metadata Editor

Example: On the left side all available test categories are listed. By clicking the buttons >>, >, <, << the test categories can be moved to right list box. The assignments on the right are saved by pressing the button "Apply".

5.5.6 Move Ownership

In the TEMPPO Administrator there is the possibility to move the ownership of the whole project or of parts of it. A part of a project is a test structure or a test suite.

The button **Move Ownership** in the project tab (see Figure 337) is enabled, if a project (or a test structure or a test suite) is selected.

After pressing the button "Move Ownership" the following dialog comes up.

Lastname 🔺	Firstname	Login
2		atw112h9
2		Tester1
2		tester2
2		Testmanager

Figure 342 – Move Ownership

The new owner of the project (or part of it) can be chosen. By clicking "ok" and a project was selected, the owner of all items of the project (test structure, test package, test case, test suite) that have the same owner as the project and that are not locked by other users, is changed to the new selected one.

If a test structure was selected and the move ownership button is pressed, the test structure, the test packages and test cases with the same owner as the test structure are changed to the newly selected one.

If a test suite was selected, the owner of the test suite is changed.

5.5.7 Freeze, Unfreeze



Figure 343 – Freeze, Unfreeze

From the development process point of view it may be necessary for a test manager to "freeze" a test structure or a test suite for the purpose of providing and keeping it read-only.

In general, test structures and test suites can be frozen.

A frozen test structure cannot be edited any more. It can be opened in read-only mode. A freeze- action on a non-latest version means that it is not possible to create any branches.

If a test suite is selected and the freeze button is pressed, this test suite is frozen which means that the test suite is not editable any more. No results can be added or changed. The test suite can be opened in read-only mode. The precondition of freezing a test suite is that the corresponding test structure version is frozen.

Every frozen test suite can be unfrozen explicitly. This means that the frozen test suite is selected and the unfreeze button is clicked. After the unfreeze action is done, the test suite is editable again.

Every frozen test suite can be unfrozen implicitly too. This means that the test structure version has to be unfrozen first.

If the user pressed the unfreeze button for a test structure version, he is informed if there are frozen test suites and that these frozen test suites (and the test structure version) will be unfrozen, too. The user can unfreeze all or cancel the action.

If a frozen test structure or test suite is selected, the 'freeze' button changes its text in icon and bubble help to "unfreeze". By pressing the button the test structure or test suite can be made editable. The default TEMPPO Superuser and the Key User role get the rights to freeze / unfreeze test structure versions and/or test suites.

Frozen test structures can be exported. Frozen test suites cannot be exported. No import to frozen test structures/test suites is possible. A new test suite can

only be generated from a frozen test structure in any branch version, but not in the main version. If a main version is frozen and activated, a new test suite cannot be generated, the new test suite – menu item is not enabled.

If a branch version or latest version is frozen and activated, a new test suite can be generated and the new test suite – menu item is enabled.

If a version is checked in and is frozen, no branch can be generated and therefore no new test suite can be generated.

The frozen test structure/test suite cannot be edited. There is only the possibility to generate analysis or reports and filters.

5.6 Locks

This tab is only active, if a user with corresponding rights is connected to the database In TEMPPO Administrator it is also possible to find locks. When activating the tab **Locks** in the left part of the windows the projects together with test structure versions and test suites are displayed.



Figure 344 – TEMPPO Administrator – Locks

If you select any item of the tree and press the button **Find locks**, the corresponding locks are displayed in the table. Depending on the selected item (and of course the available locks) the table will be quite large.

📝 TEMPPO Administrator - [Testmanager] 📃 🗖 🔀								
😝 Database 😫 Roles 🙎 Users 😻 Metadata 🔀 Projects 🔒 Locks 💩 License								
C Suppress export locks								
🖃 📝 Demo Notepad	Project 🔬 Test Struc Test S	Suite Version	Label	Туре	Name	Test Case	Locked by Locked by	Locked si
Example for versioning	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Find	tp555	export dat.	. 20.02.201 🔺
Link test cases to requirements	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Search F	tp554	export dat.	. 20.02.201
Notepad - RTF Import	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Help Syst	tp557	export dat.	. 20.02.201
-1 editable version	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Replace	tp556	export dat.	. 20.02.201
🕀 🐤 Notepad - RTF Import with TCs	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Print Fun	tp551	export dat.	. 20.02.201
±	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Set Font	tp550	export dat.	. 20.02.201
-1 Test Suites for V2.1, 2012-(Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Print	tp663	export dat.	. 20.02.201
□ 1 editable version	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Page Setup	tp552	export dat.	. 20.02.201
Version 2 of T	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Select All	tp547	export dat.	. 20.02.201
± 2 Branch	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Delete	tp546	export dat.	. 20.02.201
Soundarie Version Soundarie Version Soundarie Version	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Word Wrap	tp549	export dat.	. 20.02.201
🗄 📝 User documentation 📃	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Time/Date	tp548	export dat.	. 20.02.201
	Demo Not Notepad	V2.1.1	editable v	Test Pac	Cut	tp543	export dat.	. 20.02.201 🗾

Figure 345 – TEMPPO Administrator – Large lock table

Additionally you have the possibility to start a more concrete find by activating the checkboxes **Exclude test suites** and **Suppress export locks**.

- Exclude test suites: If you want to see the locks of a project without test suites, activate that checkbox
- Suppress export locks: If a test suite is exported to XML or DB, each item is locked. This may cause an large amount of locked item. You hide those items by activating that checkbox.

Locked items can be unlocked by selecting any them and pressing the button **Unlock selected items**.

😫 Database 🔮 Roles 🖸 Users 🥥 Metadata 📝 Projects 🚔 Locks 🏠 License						
	😝 Database 🙎 Roles 🖸 Users 🚳 Metadata 📝 Projects 🔓 Locks 💩 License					
C C Exclude test suites Suppress export locks						
□ Demo Notepad Project ▲ Test Struc Test Suite Version Label Type Name Test Case Locked by Locked by Locked by						
Example for versioning Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Pac Performa tp562 export dat 20.02.20						
Env Eink test cases to requirements Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Pac Resource tp563 export dat 20.02.20						
Proceeda - generated Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Pac System in tp560 export dat 20.02.20						
1 editable version Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Pac Other pro tp561 export dat 20.02.20						
🕫 👽 Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 🔰 Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Pac External i tp558 export dat 20.02.20						
1 Test Suites for V21, 20124 Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Case Test Part tc702 export dat 20.02.20						
🖃 1 editable version 🖉 Demo Not Notepad Version 2 V2.1.1 editable v Test Suite Version 2 export dat 20.02.20						
Version 2 of 7 Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Case UAI tc703 export dat 20.02.20						
tet 2 Branch Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Case WinRunn tc701 export dat 20.02.20						
Oxtepad System & Acceptance T Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Pac Find up tp650 export dat 20.02.20						
🗄 🗹 User documentation 🛛 🔄 Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Pac Find down tp661 export dat 20.02.20						
Demo Not Notepad V2.1.1 editable v Test Pac Relations to521 export dat 20.02.20						

Figure 346 – Unlock

5.7 License Server Connection



Figure 347: License server connection

The licensing mechanism allows two ways of using TEMPPO:

- local license: a valid license file (license.dat) must be located in the TEMPPO installation directory (e.g. c:\programme\temppo 5.4).
- license server: an existing license server is specified in this tab (for installing a license server see chapter JLMS Installation in the TEMPPO Installation Guide). You must specify the name of the machine (or IP

address) and the port number (usually 2000) where the license server is running. When connected to it, you can see information about it in the sub-tabs Server info, License usage, Log.

5.7.1 Using a license server on a computer with several network interface cards

When working on a computer with several NICs (network interface cards) the connection to the license server might cause problems, because the wrong IP address is sent to the license server. This problem can be solved in two ways:

- 1. Reorder your network cards:
 - Open Control Panel Network Connections
- Menu Extended Extended Settings...
- The NIC connected to LAN must be the first in the list (see screenshot)



Figure 348: Order of network interface cards

- 2. Add TEMPPO start option:
- Open <Installation Directory>\launcher.properties with a text editor
- Add -Djava.rmi.hostname=<IP address> to TEMPPO.vmargs, e.g.

TEMPPO.vmargs = -Xms128m -Xmx256m -DentityExpansionLimit=1000000 -Djava.rmi.hostname=158.226.235.13

6 JUnit

Since TEMPPO V3.0, it is possible to manage and execute JUnit test methods with TEMPPO. The following paragraphs describe the scope of the JUnit extension.

6.1 Terms

Testing terms are used differently in the JUnit community and in TEMPPO. In order to clarify the meanings, the following table serves as a reference.

ТЕМРРО	Description	JUnit	Defined in JUnit by
Test structure	The entire tree of test packages and test cases	-	-
Test package	A hierarchy of test packages and test cases	test suite (not exactly the same meaning)	 a) <i>suite()</i> method in an arbitrary class b) the list of all test methods in a sub-class of <i>TestCase</i>
test suite	A subset of test cases from the test structure, intended for execution in a certain test. Contains recorded test results.	Test suite (not exactly the same meaning)	as above
test case	A set of test inputs, execution conditions, and expected results developed for a particular objective.	Test method	a method in a sub-class of <i>TestCase</i> . Naming convention: starts with "test".
Passed	Test result, indicating that the actual output matches the expected.	-	-
Failed	Test result, indicating that the actual output does not match the expected.	Failure	return code of test method invocation.
Blocked	Test result, indicating that an error or exception occurred during test execution; no comparison of actual and expected output was possible.	Error	return code of test method invocation.

Table 3 – Terms used in TEMPPO and JUnit

6.2 Configuration

Two configurations are necessary to use the JUnit extension: *test collector* and *classpath.* The configuration is done in the TEMPPO application via menu **Windows > Options**, once for the whole TEMPPO session. The *classpath* is entered in the "Arguments" field in the usual format:

```
-cp path1;path2;...
```

As in the JUnit framework, it must point to both the JUnit tests and the Java classes under test. The *test collector* is the part of the JUnit extension, which searches for JUnit test cases in the specified *classpath*. Following test collectors are available:

 SimpleTestCollector: searches for JUnit classes in files matching the pattern

```
classFileName.endsWith(".class") &&
classFileName.indexOf('$') < 0 &&
classFileName.indexOf("Test") > 0
```

LoadingTestCollector: searches for JUnit classes by instantiating all
 *.class files in the classpath and verifying if:

```
class.containsSuiteMethod() ||
(
class.extends(junit.framework.Test) &&
class.isPublic() &&
class.hasPublicConstructor()
)
```

Settings	×
	JUnit
	Test Collector: at scch papama junitool Loading Test Collector
Test Step Cells	
	Arguments' on DriTerron BVA)Teststellung, DVA)junit4 7
Newsboard	- Samerice:
Test Suite	
Database	
⊡ Test Automation	
Silk Test	
WinRunner	allow dunicate names in same hierarchical level
Universal File	
QuickTest Pro	
Test Partner	
JUnit	
TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)	
Ranorex	
⊡∼Commands	
New Command	
LJava32	
⊡ Change Management	
Bugzilla	
ClearQuest	
Telelogic Change	
JIRA	
	Hestore Defaults
	·

Figure 349 – Settings for import and execution of JUnit test cases

6.3 Import JUnit test cases

6.3.1 Description and steps

The import function reads JUnit test cases as well as their suite structure from a JUnit test class. It creates a new test package in TEMPPO, which contains further test packages and eventually test cases, according to the suite structure found in the JUnit test class. The generated test cases refer to JUnit test methods.

You can access the import function through the TEMPPO menu

Tools>JUnit>Import... This menu is activated only when an item in the test structure is selected that can host a new test package, i.e. a test package or the root node of the test structure.

A wizard guides you through the steps necessary to import the JUnit test cases. The following steps are encompassed:

- 1. *Introduction*: Explains the steps of the import procedure
- *Test Class Selection*: Provides the list of JUnit test classes you may import. Only classes found in the *classpath* are listed here (see 6.2).
- *Test Case Selection*: Provides the hierarchical structure of test cases in the suite defined by the selected JUnit class. Select those test cases that you want to import into TEMPPO.

Package Default Values: Allows to set default values for all new test packages *Test Case Default Values*: Allows setting default values for all new test cases.

Summary: Shows a list of your choices from previous steps.

Here is a sample import sequence.



Figure 350 – Starting the import procedure



Figure 351 – General description of the following steps.

In the next step, the JUnit test class can be selected. All classes with names that start with "All Tests" are shown with a folder icon, all other classes get a sheet icon. This is in conformance with the TestRunner of the original JUnit distribution. The icons are to some extent misleading because they suggest that only test classes with folder icons will be converted to TEMPPO test packages. However, each class that can be selected in this step will be converted to a (potentially hierarchically structured) test package.

📝 Import JUnit Tests			×
Steps	Test Class Selection		
 Introduction. Select a JUnit test class. Select a set of JUnit test cases. 	Select the JUnit test class to be imported. Select the test class:	Backane	
 Set package default values. Set test case default values. Summary. 	Active TestTest AllMembers Supplier Test All Tests JUnit Classpath: D:\Temp_PVA\Teststellung_PVA\junit4.7	junit tests extensions org junit tests experimental theories junit tests extensions org junit tests org junit tests junit tests junit tests runner junit tests framework	×
	Note: Only classes that are in the JUnit clas	sspath can be selected.	
TEMPPO - Extension JUnit		<< Prev Next >> Finish	Cancel

Figure 352 – Step 2: A JUnit test class can be selected, by which a JUnit test suite is defined.

After clicking *next*, the *test collector* specified in the Administrator (see 6.2) starts searching for JUnit test classes. JUnit allows having nested test suites (one test suite containing others) and it also allows naming two or more test suites having the same parent test suite identically, e.g.

```
All Junit Tests
junit.samples.VectorTest
junit.samples.money.MoneyTest
Framework Tests
Framework Tests
Framework Tests
Framework Tests
```

Since TEMPPO will create a Test Package for each JUnit test suite and TEMPPO does not allow identical names of items with the same parent, a warning message will be raised, if the test collector finds test suites named like described above (for further details see 6.3.2).



Figure 353: Warning of duplicate test suite names

The related test suites are marked accordingly and can't be selected for importing.

📝 Import JUnit Tests	×	I
Steps	Test Case Selection	
 Introduction. Select a JUnit test class. Select a set of JUnit test cases. 	Select all the JUnit test cases to be imported. Select test cases:	
 Set package default values. Set test case default values. Summary. 	Image: Sector All Sector	
TEMPPO - Extension JUnit	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel	

Figure 354 – Step 3: All or a subset of JUnit test cases can be selected.

🖥 Import JUnit Tests		
)teps	Package Default Values	
1. Introduction. 2. Select a JUnit test class.	Enter default values for the new test packages in TEMPPO.	
 Select a set of JUnit test cases. 	General Details	
4. Set package default values.	Name <generated></generated>	
). Set test case default values.). Summary.	Creator Testmanager	
	Created generated>	
	Type Test Package	
	Test Category	•
	Description	
	Add to description "	
EMPPO - Extension JUnit	<< Prev Next >> Finish Can	cel
Import JUnit Tests		
eps	Package Default Values	
. Introduction.	Enter default values for the new test packages in TEMPPO.	
. Select a JUnit test class. . Select a set of JUnit test		
cases.	General Details	
. Set package default values. . Set test case default values.		
Summary.	Name	
	Chapter	
		_
	Precondition	

Figure 355 – Step 4: Test package default values can be entered.

In the next step, default values for JUnit test methods (i.e. TEMPPO test cases) can be entered. Note that the same tabs as for TEMPPO test cases are presented in the wizard. However, it is not possible to enter values in the "General" tab. The reason is that the only possible input field would be "Test Goal", and there is no meaningful text that could be entered there. Since the test goal must be specific for each individual test case, it does not make sense to define one common (and therefore abstract) goal for all test cases.

📝 Import JUnit Tests	<u>c</u>
Steps	Test Case Default Values
 Introduction. Select a JUnit test class. Select a set of JUnit test class. Set paokage default values. Set test case default values. Summary. 	Enter default values for the new test cases in TEMPPO. General Attributes Preconditions Regular Priority Top State Designed Additional Test Levels Additional Test Levels Additional Test Regressiontest - yes
TEMPPO - Extension JUnit	

Figure 356 – Step 5: Test case default values can be entered.

📝 Import JUnit Tests	×
Steps	Summary
 Introduction. Select a JUnit test class. Select a set of JUnit test cases. Set package default values. Set test case default values. Summary. 	Review your settings. You choose to import the JUnit test class junit tests.extensions.AllTests, into the TEMPPO test package JUnit Items to import: 8 new test cases will be added. 4 new test packages will be added.
TEMPPO - Extension JUnit	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel

Figure 357 – Step 5: The summary of the import wizard.



Figure 358 -: Step 5: The result of the import wizard.

6.3.2 References to JUnit test cases

Structuring of test packages: After importing, a hierarchy of test packages and test cases according to the hierarchy of the suites defined in the JUnit test class is created. The new test packages and test cases are named according to the JUnit items, and a reference to a JUnit class and method is recorded in each test case.

Naming of test packages: If the JUnit suite object is created by defining a test class (e.g. ...new TestSuite(SimpleTest.class);), the test package is named according to this JUnit class. The naming pattern is *package.subpackage.class*.

If a JUnit suite provides a descriptive name (e.g. ...new TestSuite("All JUnit Tests");), it is used instead.

If the JUnit suite object has no name and no defined test class (e.g. ...new TestSuite();), the test package gets the current java object name of the JUnit suite (e.g. junit.framework.Suite@12345). Notice that this name doesn't refer to the JUnit suite and thus the reference is lost. Since this will disable a proper update, the JUnit suite should be always created either by giving it a name or by defining a test class.

It is highly recommended to create a JUnit suite by giving it a name or by defining a test class in the constructor. Otherwise the referenced Test Package in TEMPPO will get the temporary object name of the suite (e.g. junit.framework.Suite@12345). If this happens, the reference to the JUnit suite is lost and a later update won't work properly!

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	×
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	Tools <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp
System Test Structure [JUnit] - [System Test] - [V1]	
📕 🔹 🕨 📣 📣 💹 No filter 🔽	_
	junit.tests.extensions.Extension
E-••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Locked by Testmanager
🖻 🍓 1.1. junit.tests.extensions.ExtensionTest	General Attributes Details Requirements History Plan
1.1.1. testRunningErrorInTestSetup(junit.t	
E 1.2. junit.tests.extensions.ActiveTestTest	ID: [tp/83
1.2.1. testActiveTest(junit.tests.extension:	Name: junit tests extensions ExtensionTest
1.2.2. testActiveRepeatedTest0(junit.tests	
Ju 1.3.1. test Repeated Once (junit tests exten	Owner: Testmanager Updator: Testmanager
Julia 1.3.2. test Repeated More Than Once (junit.t	Created: 20.02.2012 15:57:27 Updated: 20.02.2012 15:57:28
1.3.3. testRepeatedZero(junit.tests.extens	Type: Test Package
1.3.4. test Repeated Negative (junit tests.ex	Number of TCs: 2
	Test Category:
	Description: Imported by TEMPPO from II Init Suite:
	junit.tests.extensions.AllTests
	Lock Apply Discard

Figure 359 – Step 5: Names of test packages (JUnit test suites).

Naming of test cases: A JUnit test case is implemented as a method of a subclass of *TestCase* and usually has a name starting with "test". The test cases in TEMPPO will be named according to the JUnit method name, followed by the class name in parentheses: *testMethod(SubClassOfTestCase)*.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]			
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows	<u>H</u> elp	
> Test Structure [JUnit] - [System Test] - [V1]			_ 8×
Image: Second	General Attribute User defined ID: Name: Owner: Created: Type: Test Goal:	Testmanager es Test Steps Automation Requirements tc784 testRunningErrorInTestSetup(junit.tests.extens) Testmanager 20.02.2012 15:57:27 Manual Automated Test Case	p(junit.tests.exte History Plan Execution History ions.ExtensionTest) Updator: Testmanager Updated: 20.02.2012 15:57:28
			Lock Apply Discard

Figure 360 – Step 5: Names of test cases (JUnit test methods).

(i) Basically you are free to edit and change the automatically created structure and the names of test packages and test cases. However, the update function (see below) relies on the names to maintain the relationship to the JUnit test classes.

Referencing the JUnit class file: In the *Automation* panel, each test case contains a reference to the file where its code is defined. This is a JUnit class file and its path is written like in Java. E.g., a reference that reads *junit.samples.VectorTest* refers to a class file .../junit\samples\VectorTest.class.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	<u>. </u>	그지
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation T	F <u>o</u> ols <u>Wi</u> ndows <u>H</u> elp	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Eyaluation T Test Structure JUnit Image: Structure JUnit Image: Structure JUnit Image: Structure JUnit Image: Structure Junit tests extensions. Extension Test Image: Structure Junit Image: Structure JUnit Image: Structure JUnit Image: Structure Image: Structure <thimage: structure<="" th=""> Image: Structu</thimage:>	gols Windows Help Image: Second S	
	Lock Apply Discard	
		9.7

Figure 361 – Step 5: Reference to the JUnit class file.

Referencing the JUnit test method: In addition, each TEMPPO test case knows the name of its JUnit test method. This information is kept in the *Script Data* field of the *Automation* panel (see above).

The values of the JUnit class file and the test method name are editable for each test case. However, if you change these values, TEMPPO will no longer be able to find the JUnit test method. In addition, the synchronization with a newer version of the JUnit class file will be considerably hampered (see update function below).

6.4 Update JUnit test cases

JUnit test suites and their test methods evolve over time. The update function makes it possible to synchronize these changes with the TEMPPO test structure contents. As mentioned above, the names of test packages and test cases are used as references to the corresponding JUnit suites and test methods. So in order to make the update work as you would expect it, do not change any of the following items:

- Names of test packages
- Names of test cases
- Entries in test case Automation tabs

6.4.1 Description and steps

The update function allows you to update the JUnit test cases as well as their hierarchical structure in accordance with changes in the corresponding JUnit test classes. There are two tasks for the update function:

- Add new test cases and test packages to the test structure
- Remove obsolete test cases and test packages

You can access the update function through the TEMPPO menu *Tools>JUnit>Update...* This menu is activated only when a test package is selected. There is no means to update the whole test structure at once.

A wizard guides you through the steps necessary to update a TEMPPO test package. The following steps are encompassed:

- 2. *Introduction*: Explains the steps of the update procedure
- *Test Class Selection*: Provides a list of JUnit test classes you may update. Only classes found in the *classpath* are listed here (see 6.2).
- Add New Test Cases: Provides the hierarchical structure of new test cases, i.e. such that were found in the suite defined by the selected JUnit class but not in the selected test package. Select all test cases that should be imported into TEMPPO.
- *Remove Obsolete Test Cases*: Provides the hierarchical structure of obsolete test cases, i.e. such that were found in the selected test package but not in the suite defined by the selected JUnit class. Select all test cases that should be removed from the selected test package.

Package Default Values: Allows to set default values for all new test packages

Test Case Default Values: Allows setting default values for all new test cases.

Summary: Shows a list of your choices from previous steps.

Here is a sample update sequence. To simulate some changes, we apply the following before the update procedure is started:

- remove test package *Framework Tests* (to simulate a new test package)
- create a new test case in package *junit.samples.VectorTest* (to simulate an obsolete test case)

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]		- 🗆 ×
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	n Tools Windows Help	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Test Structure (JUhit) - (System Test) - (V1) Test Structure (JUhit) - (System Test) - (V1) Test Structure (JUhit) - (System Test) - (V1) Test Structure (JUhit) - (System Test) JUhit Test Structure Structure Structure (JUhit) Test Structure (JUhit) - (System Test) Test Structure Structure Structure Structure (Intersection) Test Structure	n Tools Windows Help Tools Windows Help TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Update Framework Tests - tp782 Locked by Testmanager General Attributes Details Requirements History Plan ID: tp782 Name: Framework Tests Owner: Testmanager Created: 20.02.2012 16:57:27 Type: Test Package Number of TCs: 8 Test Category: Description: Imported by TEMPPO from JUnit Suite: junit.tests.extensions.AllTests	
<u>د ا</u>	Lock Apply Disc	ard
		27

Figure 362 – Starting the update procedure

📝 Update JUnit Tests	×
Steps	Introduction
 Introduction. Select a JUnit test class. Select new JUnit test cases. Select obsolete TEMPPO test cases. Set package default values. Set test case default values. Summary. 	This wizard guides you through the steps necessary to update JUnit test cases stored in a TEMPPO test structure from a JUnit test class. Note: The update is based on name matching! The JUnit test class will be searched for the names of the test packages and test cases stored within the TEMPPO test package you choose to update.
TEMPPO - Extension Panama	<< Prev Next >> Finish Cancel

Figure 363 – Step 1: General description of the following steps.

📝 Update JUnit Tests			×
Steps	Test Class Selection		
 Introduction. Select a JUnit test class. Select new JUnit test cases. Select obsolete TEMPPO test cases. Set package default values. Set test case default values. Summary. 	Select the JUnit test class to update from. Select the test class: Class A Active TestTest AllMembers Supplier Test AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests AllTests	Package junit.tests.extensions org.junit.tests.experimental.theories junit.tests.extensions org.junit.tests junit.tests junit.tests runner junit.samples junit.tests.framework	
	D:\Temp_PVA\Teststellung_PVA\junit4.7	ssnath can be selected	
TEMPPO - Extension Panama		<< Prev Next >> Finish	Cancel

Figure 364 – Step 2: The correct JUnit test class is automatically selected.

In the next step, new test packages and test cases will be detected. Since we removed two test cases in the import step (see Fig. 90), they will be detected as new. We also removed test package *Framework Tests* (see above), so it will also be detected as a new JUnit test suite.

📝 Update JUnit Tests					×
Steps	Add New Test Cases				
 Introduction. Select a JUnit test class. Select new JUnit test cases. Select obsoltete TEMPPO test cases Set package default values. Set test case default values. Summary. 	Select the new JUnit test cases to Select test cases:) (Test)			Select All Deselect All
TEMPPO – Extension Panama	<<	Prev	Next >>	Finish	Cancel

Figure 365 – Step 3: Two new test cases and a new test package are detected automatically.

Now, the test case *ObsoleteTestCase* that we created just before (see above) will be detected as obsolete, because it is not contained in the JUnit test class *junit.samples.VectorTest*.



Figure 366 – Step 4: An obsolete test case was detected and we mark it for being removed.

In the next steps, default values for JUnit test suites and test methods can be entered, just like in the import procedure.

📝 Update JUnit Tests				×
Steps	Package Defaul	t Values		
Introduction. Select a JUnit test class. Select new JUnit test cases. Select obsolete TEMPPO	Enter default General Details	t values for the	: new test packa	ges in SiTEMPPO.
6. Set package default values. 6. Set test case default values. 7. Summary.	Owner: at Created og Type Te	vr108s2 generated> est Package		
	Test Category	nis description ap 7 Add description "Upda	plies to all new ; ted by TEMPPO from .	VIUnit test suites
TEMPPO - Extension Panama			< Prev Next >>	Finish Cancel

Figure 367 – Step 5: Test package default values can be entered.

In step 6 Test case values can be entered.



Figure 368 – Step 5: The summary of the update wizard.

TEMPPO - [atw108s2] - [JUnit extension tests]		-O×
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools	Windows Help	
Test Structure - [Sample JUnit tests] - [Module Test] - [Y	1	-9×
Image: Sample Unit tests Image: Stample Unit tests Image: Stample Unit samples. Vector Test Image: Stample Stample Stample Stamples. Vector Test Image: Stample Stample Stample Stamples. Vector Test Image: Stample S	Sample JUnit tests General Name: Sample JUnit tests Owner: atw108s2 Created: 10.12.2002 13.41:07 Type: Test Structure Test Levet: Module Test Description:	Xscard

Figure 369 – Step 5: The result of the update wizard.

6.4.2 References to JUnit test cases

The structure of test packages and test cases as well as their names are the same as with the import procedure. Updating behaves in conformance with importing and relies on the naming patterns described above.

6.5 Test Execution

6.5.1 Description and Steps

Execution allows you to run the JUnit test cases from TEMPPO and to collect the test execution results in the TEMPPO database for further analysis.

Like any other automated test cases, you can execute JUnit test cases by creating a test suite and running the selected test cases or whole test packages (from context menu or menu: *Test Execution/Run automated*).

TEMPPO - [atw108s2] - [JUnit extension tests] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Too	ols Windows Hel	elp	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Too Test Suite - [Sample JUnit execution] - [V1.1.1] K Sample JUnit execution Sample JUnit Tests Multi Samples Vect At estCapacity(k A testCapacity(k A testElementAt A testElementAt A testElementAt A testElementAt A testClone(junit A testRemoveAll(junit.samples.VectorTest) [no D junit.samples.money MoneyTest	s Windows Hel	eb t.samples.VectorTest s punt samples.VectorTest t atw108s2 t 10.12.2002 14:21:01 t Test Package Timported by SiTEMPPO from JUnit Suite: junit.samples.AllTests	
<u> </u>			

Figure 370 – Executing JUnit test cases.

Running a JUnit test case involves three levels of execution: (1) **TEMPPO**, where the JUnit test case class is instantiated and the corresponding method is called, (2) **JUnit**, where the actual result is compared to the expected result in the test method, and (3) the classes of the **program under test** that is executed during the test. To run the tests, TEMPPO provides its own *TestRunner* that calls the JUnit test methods and collects their results. Thus, for executing JUnit tests, TEMPPO can be used interchangeably with other JUnit test runners, like junit.swingui.TestRunner.



(i) Note: To execute the JUnit tests, the classpath has to contain not only contain the JUnit test classes but also the classes of the program under test.

6.5.2 Interpreting the Test Results

The execution of JUnit test cases yields one of the three results listed in Table 4. In case of a failure or blockage, a description of the reason and the stack trace showing the position where the failure occurred is given in the *Result Output* field in the panel *General* of the test case as shown in Fig. 108.

lcon	TEMPPO Result	JUnit Result	Description	
Œ	PASSED	-	The test case was executed and the actual result returned by the program under test matched the expected result as specified in the JUnit test case.	
	FAILED	Failure	The test case was executed and the actual result returned by the program under test did <i>not</i> match the expected result as specified in the JUnit test case.	
A	BLOCKED	Error	The execution of the test case had errors and no results could be compared. There are basically two possibilities: The call from TEMPPO to the JUnit test class failed. E.g. because the JUnit class did not exist in the classpath, the specified test method did not exist, or the class/method were not implemented according to the JUnit interface The execution of the JUnit test case had errors. E.g. the JUnit test case or the program under test threw an (uncaught) exception or even the whole program under test crashed.	

Table 4 – Possible test execution results



Figure 371 – Failed test case: result message and stack trace

6.6 Known Issues

Unsupported JUnit extensions

Currently, only standard JUnit test classes are supported, i.e. JUnit test cases are expected to be an instance of junit.framework.TestCase and JUnit suites are expected to be an instance of junit.framework.TestSuite.

Performance of removing obsolete test cases

When a larger number (more than 10) of obsolete test cases was selected for removing in the *Update* wizard, you may experience a delay of more than 30 seconds after finishing the wizard dialog.

Malicious JUnit test cases

Executing a malicious test case may have a negative effect on the TEMPPO application, which runs in the same VirtualMachine as the JUnit test execution. Currently no means are provided for setting an execution timeout or to manually cancel the test execution.

Reloading JUnit classes

Once the unit test classes were loaded by the Java VM (e.g. when they are executed), they will not be reloaded until TEMPPO is restarted.

Classpath for JUnit test cases

The classpath containing the JUnit test cases can only be set once for each TEMPPO session and not separately for each test structure or TEMPPO project.

If the classpath contains two class files with the same fully qualified name the file with the newest build date will be loaded.

Anonymous inner classes

By statically creating the tests using anonymous inner classes that are not public, the tests from this suite will not be executeable by TEMPPO. With a JUnit TestRunner, this construction works because there JUnit suites are executed as a whole whereas TEMPPO tries to instantiate and execute each test case by itself. Sample code:

```
public class MyTestPkgWithStatSuite extends TestCase {
  public MyTestPkgWithStatSuite(String name) {super(name);}
  public static Test suite() {
    TestSuite suite= new TestSuite("MyTestPkgWithStatSuite");
    suite.addTest( new MyTestPkgWithStatSuite("testSomethingRight") {
      protected void runTest() { testSomethingRight(); }
    } );
    return suite;
    }
    public void testSomethingRight() {assertTrue(true)}
}
```

7 TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)

TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) is your gateway to professional and cost-efficient test automation. While up to now test teams had to spend a huge effort for the implementation and maintenance of automated test cases, TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) aims at generating test cases based on a simple model of the application. The advantage is obvious: Instead of having to write test scripts from scratch and manually adapt each of them whenever there is a change in the tested application, all that is needed now is keeping the model up-to-date. The costs for test maintenance are reduced dramatically thus leading to shorter test cycles and better product quality.

The unique TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) tool combines user-friendly test specification editors with a patented test case generator that employs a wide range of systematic test methods. TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) supports a number of popular GUI testing tools but can also generate scripts for other test interfaces.

For using TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) from TEMPPO, it is necessary to tick the checkbox **TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)** on tab **General** of the test structure's root.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]		<u> </u>
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System T	est] - [V3]	_ 뭔 凶
Notepad - RTF Import with TCS Notepad - RTF Import with TCS 1. TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Tasks 2. Introduction 4. Detailed description of the product 4. Detailed description of the required product fead 5. Specifications for project management 6. Obligations of the client 7. Literature 8. Annex	Seneral Plan Requirements Notepad - RTF Import with CS Name: Notepad - RTF Import with TCS Owner: Testmanager Created: 16.02.2012 16:36:29 Type: Test Structure TEMPPO Designer (IDATG): Test level: System Test Description:	TCs Updator: Testmanager Updated: 20.02.2012 16:40:10
<u> ۲</u>		Lock Apply Discard
		<u>Si</u>

Figure 372 – TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)

As a preparation for designing test cases in TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) it is necessary to create so-called **Task Packages** in TEMPPO. A task package is a special type of test package that has got an ID and the same attributes as a test case. You can create any kind of task package hierarchy.

7.1 Creating Task Packages

Task packages only can be created below the folder TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Tasks by activating the menu item **New->Task Package** or **New->Task Package before**.



A task package contains all properties of a test case: ID (fixed), name, owner, created, updator, updated, test category (optional), description.



Figure 373 – Task Package – Tab general

In addition, attributes can be set which are later inherited and used for test cases generated by TEMPPO Designer (IDATG). It is necessary to assign attributes to task packages and not to test cases because test cases may be generated more than once. Each time test cases are generated again, all the previous information will be lost. Therefore the meta information of test cases generated by TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) is stored in task packages.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]		
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation	T <u>o</u> ols <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp	
STest Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System T	est] - [V3]	- 8 ×
Notepad - RTF Import with TCs Notepad - RTF Import with TCs 1. TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Tasks 1. TEMPPO Task Package 2. Introduction 3. General description of the product 4. Detailed description of the required product feal 5. Specifications of project management 5. Obligations of the client 7. Literature 8. Annex	Attributes General Attributes Inherit attributes Regular Validation Frror Validation Verification State: Designed Additional Test Levels Attribute Values Image: Additional Test Levels Image: Attribute Values Image: Attribute Values Image: Attritest Attritest Attrit	Discard
		9

Figure 374 – Task Package – Tab attributes

7.2 Design Test Cases

If you have finished creating some task packages, you can design and generate test cases by selecting the node "TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Tasks" and call the menu item **Tools->TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)->Design Test Cases**.

📝 TEMPPO - [Testmanager] - [Demo Notepad]	
Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation Tools Windows Help	
🏷 Test Structure [Notepad - RTF Import with TCs] - [System 🗍 🖑 JUnit	٩×
🖌 🔹 🕨 🕼 🕼 🕅 Ko filter 🚽 🖉 TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) 🕨 Design Test Cases	
E C 1. TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) Tasks Locked by Testmanager	
General Attributes Details Requirements History Plan	
A. Detailed description of the required product feal	
6. Obligations of the client C Regular C Validation Priority: Top	- I
7. Literature	<u> </u>
8. Annex State: Designed	-
Additional Test Levels	
X TP Type - User case	\times
Lock Apply Disca	rd
	©

Figure 375 - Design Test cases

After activating the menu item **Design Test Cases** the window **Connection Status** (Figure 376) and TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) itself are displayed.



Figure 376 – Connection Status

TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) offers a huge number of features for test design, test generation, and applying several test design methods. For detailed information see the TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) User's Guide.

The following screen shots illustrate a simple example of designing a task flow with several steps. When TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) is opened, it displays the task packages defined in TEMPPO and automatically creates a use case for each leaf in the task package hierarchy The user has now the possibility of creating task flows consisting of several steps.

The following figure shows a modeled task flow consisting of some steps. A (task) step consists of several attributes like name, description, expected result, commands for test script, conditions etc. All this information will be used in the generated test cases. Figure 378 displays a sample step.



Figure 377 – Design Test Cases
Task Step Enter_name		<u>? ×</u>
Name Enter_name	Delay (mSec) Priority 0 1	Conditions
Event		Actions
Start Window Destination Window		User-Defined Fields
		Browse Designators
Commands for Lest Script	Description	
Input data "New file name]	Enter name	
	Expected Result	
	Name entered	
		OK Cancel

Figure 378 – Task Flow Step

If the user has finished the modeling process, he can start TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)'s test case generator. Depending on the selected options, TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) will automatically generate test cases until the desired coverage is reached. For instance, 2 test cases would be generated for the task flow above if "Step Coverage" is selected. To import these test cases into TEMPPO, the user just has to press the "Save" button.

Send or S	ave			×
?	The data can now be Yes: Send data to Si No: Save data as XM	transmitted to TEMPPO 1L file	SITEMPPO - Proceed	? [Qxxxx]
	<u>]</u> a	<u>N</u> ein	Abbrechen	

Figure 379 – Save dialog

(i) It can be configured in settings for TEMPPO Designer, if test structure is checked-in with data of TEMPPO Designer. The file used by TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) is saved in TEMPPO for each test structure version.

For **manual** test cases, the generated steps are displayed in TEMPPO. TEMPPO fields are mapped to TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) fields as follows:

- Instruction = Description
- Input = Commands for Test Script
- Expected = Expected Result

For **automated** test cases, only the path to the generated test script is displayed. A test case is treated as automated, if it has at least once been exported by TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) as a test script for an automation tool (e.g. TestPartner).

TEMPPO - [Schlosser Dietmar] - [Notepad] Project Test Structure Edit Test Execution Evaluation To	jols <u>W</u> indo	ows <u>H</u> elp Util			<u>_ </u>
System & Acceptance Test] - [System & Acceptance Test] - [System Test] - [V	V2]				_ 8 ×
Image: System & Acceptance Test Image: DATG Tasks Image: Decase "File-> New"	General	ubusecaseNe sked by Testmanager Attributes Test Steps	ewcompletely	/new_1 - ida ts [History Plan]	itgtc
□ = Sub use case "New" (areau) (peneu) □ = Sub use case "New" (completely new)	Nr.	Instruction	Input	Expected	P+
Subusecase Newcompletelynew 1	€ 1	Call menu	Input	menu opened	
■ Use case "File->Open" ■ 3 Detailed description of the required product feature	€ ≸ 2	Enter name	Input data" New file name"	Name entered	<u> </u>
	€≸ 3	Press_OK	Input	Closed	
				Lock Apply	Discard
					S 7

tbd

Figure 380 – Test cases generated by TEMPPO Designer (IDATG)

7.3 Updating Test Cases

Chapter 7.2 describes the creation of task packages and the design and generation of test cases with TEMPPO Designer (IDATG).

Of course, it is possible to change the existing task packages or to add new ones by calling TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) again.

7.4 Restore Designed Test Cases

If the connection between TEMPPO and TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) is lost (e.g. because the user aborts it by pressing the button **Cancel** in the window **Connection Status**), it is possible to avoid data loss by storing the current TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) project as XML file.

To restore this data and transfer it to TEMPPO, the menu item **Restore Designed Test Cases** can be used. This will cause TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) to open, to load the XML file and to synchronize it with the task package structure received from TEMPPO. By pressing "Save" the data can be transferred back to TEMPPO.

8 Command Line

TEMPPO offers following command line parameters:

	Remark:	No	blanks	are	allowed	between	commas!
--	---------	----	--------	-----	---------	---------	---------

<pre>-open <project,test structure,[version],[test="" suite]=""></project,test></pre>	 , separated list of values, where the names for project, test structure must be specified and TEMPPO is opened with the latest version of the test structure. Optionally a special version and a test suite can be entered in order to open immediately a test structure version or a test suite.
<pre>-run <project,test structure,version,test="" suite=""> [-exit]</project,test></pre>	, separated list of values, where the names for project, test structure, version and test suite must be specified. All automated test cases in the specified test suite will be executed. Optionally TEMPPO is closed with the –exit parameter.
<pre>-export_teststructure <project,test file="" structure,version,export=""></project,test></pre>	, separated list of values, where the names for project, test structure, version and export file must be specified. The whole test structure is exported to the denoted file (XML format).
<pre>-export_testsuite <project,test file="" structure,version,test="" suite,export=""></project,test></pre>	, separated list of values, where the names for project, test structure, version, test suite and export file must be specified. The whole test suite is exported to the denoted file (XML format).
-check_locks	Checks, if there are locks by current user. Considered in conjunction with option "export_teststructure" and "export_testsuite"
<pre>-copy_testsuite <project,test actual="" bugid="" name,flag="" result,flag="" structure,version,existing="" suite="" suite,new="" test=""></project,test></pre>	, separated list of values, where the names for project, test structure, version, existing test suite, new test suite name and flag 'actual result' and 'bug id' must be specified with 'true' or 'false'. A new test suite is created with settings of existing test suite. Optionally you can configure, if you want to get 'actual result' and 'bug ID' of source test suite for retesting bug fix more efficiently.
-profile <user,password> [-file <file>]</file></user,password>	, separated list of values, where the user and password must be specified. The user profile is exported to standard out

User Manual Edition January 2014	TEMPPO V6.1 Command Line
	or to an XML-file (parameter –file).
-results <xml-file></xml-file>	updates the results of test cases which are described in the xml-file. For the xml-file the DTD has to be used, see 13.3.
<pre>-report < project,test structure,[version],[test suite],[filter],report setting,file></pre>	 , separated list of values, where the names for project, test structure, version, test suite name, filter, report setting, file must be specified and TEMPPO is opened with the specified version of the test structure (and optional a filter and test suite) and writes a report based on a report setting to the specified file. Remark: If there are a personal and project setting with the same name, the personal one is taken. If there are a personal and project filter with the same name, the personal one is taken.
	The file is specified only by name. The extension is specified by report type.
-file <file></file>	specifies a file (path + name). Only considered in conjunction with option "profile".
-exit	closes TEMPPO after test execution. Only considered in conjunction with option "run"
-help	print this message
-hide	hides TEMPPO during test execution. Only considered in conjunction with option "run"
-license	print information for license request

Use the batch file TEMPPO.bat in the installation directory for running TEMPPO with command line options:

TEMPPO.bat -export_teststructure "my project,the test structure,V12,export.xml"

9 Plug-ins

TEMPPO offers a plug-in mechanism which automatically loads the implemented Java interface packed into a jar file. Each plug-in must be deployed in its own jar file and must be installed in the directory <TEMPPO installation directoy>\plugins.

A jar file always contains a manifest file which must contain at least the property Plugin-Class, which must provide the fully qualified name of the class implementing the plug-in. It's needed for loading the class.

Example for content of a manifest file:

Manifest-Version: 1.0 Plugin-Name: My First Plugin Plugin-Version: 0.1 Plugin-Author: Muster Max Plugin-Class: temppo.plugin.api.MyPlugin

9.1 Plug-in: Version Change Listener

A TEMPPO plug-in must implement the ${\tt Plugin}$ interface or one of its sub-interfaces.

Plugin is the super-interface for all plug-ins. It serves methods for basic plug-in information and load and unload handling (e.g. loading and saving plug-in settings).

VersionListenerPlugin is the interface for a concrete plug-in which can be used. It extends Plugin and serves as a hook for version change notification. The plug-in developer has to implement a class-file packed into a jar file which extends VersionListenerPlugin. This class-file has to be implemented in the package temppo.plugin.api.

After starting TEMPPO the listener is registered and the actions of the plug-in are executed when the version is changed in TEMPPO (e.g. by activating another version of test structure, by creating a new test suite ...).

10 Literature

/1/ Installation Guide TEMPPO V6.0 installation and startup guide March 2012

/2/ Glenford J. MyersThe Art of Software testingUSA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 1979ISBN: 0-471-04328-1

11 Terms

Administration unit

This term denotes any object/data that is managed in a configuration management tool. Typical administration units are files or directories.

Branch

A linear sequence of versions is called a branch. It is possible to split off the main branch and create a new sequence of versions, independent from the main branch.

Check In / Out

As soon as an administration unit has been entered into the CM tool, it may only be changed, if a new version is created for it. The act of making it editable is called checking out. After an administration unit is checked out, any editing operations are allowed for it.

A new version is created when the unit is checked in. No further edition on this version is possible.

СМ

Configuration Management: "Configuration is the process of identifying and defining the items in the system, controlling the change of these items throughout their lifecycle, recording and reporting the status of items and change requests, and verifying the completeness and correctness of items" [IEEE Std-729-1983]

Label

In virtually any CM tool, it is possible to attach a name to a version number. By doing so, it is possible to make the version history of administration units usable. Even after many successive versions, these important states can be easily found and restored by means of their descriptive label.

Main line / Main branch

The linear sequence of versions starting at the initial version.

Merge

Merging from version V1 to V2 means to take over changes in V1 to V2.

Test Case

",A set of test inputs, execution conditions, and expected results developed for a particular objective, such as to exercise a particular program path or to verify compliance with a specific requirement." [IEEE Std-610.12-1990]

Test Case Design

Constructing test cases according to special methods (e.g. equivalence class) in a way such that from the description of the test package and from the requirement specification test cases can be derived independently.

Test Category Category *Test Level* Level of the test: e.g. system test, acceptance test. *Test Package* Set of test packages and test cases. *Test Step* Single instruction for testing (usually with expected result).

Test Structure

The entire tree of test packages and test cases.

Test Suite

A subset of test cases from the test structure, intended for execution in a certain test + their recorded test results.

Version

A version denotes a certain state of an administration unit at a certain time.

There are two kinds of versions: (i) checked in version, which can't be changed any more, and (ii) checked out versions.

Usually, versions follow a decimal notation scheme, starting with "0" or "1". For each new version, the version number is incremented.

Version Tree

A tree representation of all versions (including all branches) of an administration unit.

12 Abbreviations

DB	Database
HW	Hardware
TD	Test Director
GUI	Graphical User Interface
SW	Software
DSN	Data Source Name
ODBC	Open Database Connectivity
UAI	Universal Automation Interface
CLI	Command Line Interface

13 Appendix 13.1 DTD-Schema for XML-Import (Test Structure)

<!ELEMENT TEMPPO EXCHANGE (PROJECT | TS | TP*) > <!-- NOTE: these attributes will not be part of the TEMPPO exchange format: creator CDATA #IMPLIED - too many error possibilities, creator will be importer created CDATA #IMPLIED - date will be taken from import NOTE: following elements we currently ignore PROJECT ТS --> <!-- Common PCDATA elements --> <!ELEMENT DESCRIPTION (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT PRECONDITION (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT POSTCONDITION (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT TESTGOAL (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT INSTRUCTION (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT INPUT (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT EXPECTED (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT VALUE (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT PROJECT (DESCRIPTION, REQUIREMENTSTRUCTURE*, TS*) > <!-- currently IGNORED --> <!ATTLIST PROJECT name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- the TEMPPO project must already exist !! --> $<\!\!!$ ELEMENT TS (DESCRIPTION, TP*) ><!-- currently IGNORED --<!ATTLIST TS name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST TS test_level CDATA #IMPLIED > <!-- if it does not exist, autom. create it --> <!ATTLIST TS version CDATA #IMPLIED > <!-- Added 31.5.2004 --> <!ELEMENT TP (DESCRIPTION, PRECONDITION, POSTCONDITION, REQUIREMENT*, (TP | TC)*) > <!ATTLIST TP name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- if zero-length then name "New Testpackage" generated --><!-- if it already exists, add "_1", "_2", ... --> <!ATTLIST TP test category CDATA #IMPLIED > <!-- if it does not exist, autom. create it for the test level of the containing test structure --> <!ATTLIST TP document CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TP doc name CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TP chapter CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TP inherit_requirements (true | false) "false" > <!ELEMENT TC (TESTGOAL, PRECONDITION, POSTCONDITION, REQUIREMENT*, STEP*, AUTOMATION? , ADD_TEST_LEVEL*, USER_DEFINED_ATTRIBUTE*) > <!-- if zero-length then name "New Testcase" generated --><!-- if it already exists in containing test package, add " 1", " 2!, --> <!ATTLIST TC situation (Error | Regular) "Error" > <!ATTLIST TC val_ver (Validation | Verification) "Validation" > <!ATTLIST TC priority (Top | High | Medium | Low) "Top" > <!ATTLIST TC state (Designed | In Work | Ready for Review | Ready | Approved) "Designed" > <!ATTLIST TC inherit_requirements (true | false) "false" >

<! ELEMENT REQUIREMENT (DESCRIPTION, REQUIREMENTSTRUCTURE) > <!ATTLIST REQUIREMENT id CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot be zero-length string--</pre> ><!-- if it does not exist, it will be automatically created --> <!ELEMENT REQUIREMENTSTRUCTURE (DESCRIPTION) > <!ATTLIST REQUIREMENTSTRUCTURE CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot be name zero-length string--> <!ATTLIST REQUIREMENTSTRUCTURE version CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot be zero-length string--> <!ELEMENT STEP (INSTRUCTION, INPUT, EXPECTED, USR FIELD*) > <!ELEMENT USR FIELD (VALUE)> <!ATTLIST USR FIELD name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST USR_FIELD type (text | image) "text" > <!ELEMENT AUTOMATION EMPTY > <!ATTLIST AUTOMATION tool (SilkTest | WinRunner | UniversalFile | UniversalSocket |</pre> JUnit | QuickTestPro | TestPartner) "UniversalFile" > <! ATTLIST AUTOMATION $\$ file <code>CDATA</code> <code>#IMPLIED</code> ><!ATTLIST AUTOMATION data CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ELEMENT ADD TEST LEVEL EMPTY > <!ATTLIST ADD TEST LEVEL name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot be zero-length string--><!--if it does not exist, it will be automatically created --> <!ELEMENT USER DEFINED ATTRIBUTE EMPTY > <!ATTLIST USER DEFINED ATTRIBUTE name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot be zerolength string--><!-- if it does not exist, it will be automatically created --> <!ATTLIST USER DEFINED ATTRIBUTE value CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot be zero-</pre> length string--><!-- if it does not exist, it will be automatically created -->

13.2 DTD-Schema for XML-Import (Test Suite)

<!ELEMENT TEMPPO EXCHANGE (PROJECT, TS, EXPORT ID, TEST SUITE) > <!-- Common PCDATA elements --> <!ELEMENT DESCRIPTION (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT PRECONDITION (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT POSTCONDITION (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT TESTGOAL (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT RESULTOUTPUT (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT INSTRUCTION (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT INPUT (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT EXPECTED (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT ACTUALRESULT (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT BUGID (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT VALUE (#PCDATA)> <!ELEMENT PROJECT (DESCRIPTION)> name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST PROJECT <!ELEMENT TS (DESCRIPTION) > <!ATTLIST TS name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST TS test_level CDATA #IMPLIED > <!-- if it does not exist, autom. create it --> <!ATTLIST TS version CDATA #IMPLIED >

<!ATTLIST TS lastupdate CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TS lastupdateby CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ELEMENT EXPORT ID EMPTY> value CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST EXPORT ID <!element test_suite (description, tp*, user_defined_attribute_tsuite*) > <!ATTLIST TEST_SUITE id CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST TEST_SUITE name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST TEST_SUITE lastupdate CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TEST SUITE lastupdateby CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ELEMENT TP (DESCRIPTION, PRECONDITION, POSTCONDITION, REQUIREMENT*, (TP | TEST RESULT)*) > <!ATTLIST TP name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- if zero-length then name "New Testpackage" generated --><!-- if it already exists, add "_1", "_2", ... --> <!ATTLIST TP test_category CDATA #IMPLIED > <!-- if it does not exist, autom. create</pre> it for the test level of the containing test structure --> <!ATTLIST TP document CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TP doc_name CDATA #IMPLIED >
<!ATTLIST TP chapter CDATA #IMPLIED >
<!ATTLIST TP inherit_requirements (true | false) "false" >
<!ATTLIST TP lastupdate CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TP lastupdate CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TP lastupdateby CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ELEMENT TEST_RESULT (TESTGOAL, PRECONDITION, POSTCONDITION, RESULTOUTPUT, REQUIREMENT*, TEST_STEP_RESULT*, AUTOMATION? , ADD_TEST_LEVEL*, USER_DEFINED_ATTRIBUTE*, USER DEFINED ATTRIBUTE TRESULT*) > <!ATTLIST TEST_RESULT tc_id CDATA #REQUIRED> <!ATTLIST TEST RESULT user defined id CDATA #IMPLIED > <!-- if it already exists in containing test structure, add " 1", " 2!, ... --> <!-- if zero-length then name <!ATTLIST TEST RESULT name CDATA #REQUIRED > "New Testcase" generated --><!-- if it already exists in containing test package, add " 1", _2!, ... --> type (Manual | Automated) "Manual"> <!ATTLIST TEST RESULT <!ATTLIST TEST RESULT tester CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST TEST_RESULT tested CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST TEST_RESULT situation (Error | Regular) "Error" > <!ATTLIST TEST_RESULT val_ver (Validation | Verification) "Validation" > <!ATTLIST TEST_RESULT priority (Top | High | Medium | Low) "Top" > <!ATTLIST TEST_RESULT state (Designed | In_Work | Ready_for_Review | Ready | Approved) "Designed" > <!ATTLIST TEST RESULT inherit requirements (true | false) "false" > <!ATTLIST TEST RESULT result (Failed | Passed | Not executed | Blocked | Not completed | Not implemented | On hold) "Not executed" > <!ATTLIST TEST_RESULT lastupdate CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ATTLIST TEST RESULT lastupdateby CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ELEMENT REQUIREMENT (DESCRIPTION) > <!ATTLIST REQUIREMENT REQUIREMENTID CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot be zerolength string--><!-- if it does not exist, it will be automatically created --> <!ELEMENT TEST_STEP_RESULT (INSTRUCTION, INPUT, EXPECTED, ACTUALRESULT, BUGID, USR_FIELD*) > <!ATTLIST TEST_STEP_RESULT test_step_id CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ATTLIST TEST_STEP_RESULT result (Failed | Passed (Failed | Passed | Not executed | Blocked | Not implemented | On hold) "Not executed" > <!ELEMENT USR FIELD (VALUE)> <!ATTLIST USR FIELD name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!ELEMENT AUTOMATION EMPTY > <!ATTLIST AUTOMATION tool (SilkTest | WinRunner | UniversalFile | UniversalSocket |</pre> JUnit) "UniversalFile" > <!ATTLIST AUTOMATION file CDATA #IMPLIED >
<!ATTLIST AUTOMATION data CDATA #IMPLIED > <!ELEMENT ADD TEST LEVEL EMPTY > name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot be zero-length</pre> <!ATTLIST ADD_TEST_LEVEL string--><!--if it does not exist, it will be automatically created -->

<pre><!--ELEMENT USER_DEFINED_ATTRIBUTE EMPTY --></pre>	CDATA #REQUIRED > cannot be zero-<br be automatically created> CDATA #REQUIRED > cannot be zero-<br be automatically created>
<pre><!--ELEMENT USER_DEFINED_ATTRIBUTE_TRESULT EMPTY --></pre>	<pre>name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot<br-->it will be automatically created> value CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot<br-->it will be automatically created></pre>
<pre><!--ELEMENT USER_DEFINED_ATTRIBUTE_TSUITE EMPTY --></pre>	<pre>name CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot<br-->it will be automatically created> value CDATA #REQUIRED > <!-- cannot<br-->it will be automatically created></pre>

13.3 DTD-Schema for XML-Import (Results) with CLI

<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8"?>

13.4 DTD-Schema for XML-Export (User Profile) with CLI

13.5 Predefined Functions

Cannot be changed.

13.6 Predefined Roles

The following roles are predefined in TEMPPO:

- TEMPPO Super user: All functions activated
- TEMPPO Key User: Most important or used functions activated
- TEMPPO Key Tester: Important function concerning Test Suite
- TEMPPO Tester: Most important functions concerning Test Suite
- TEMPPO Requirement Editor: All functions in Requirement Manager plus all functions concerning requirements in TEMPPO and TEMPPO Administrator
- TEMPPO Editor : All functions for creating Test Packages and Test Cases
- TEMPPO Reporter :All functions for creating reports and analysis
- TEMPPO Guest: All functions for viewing and exporting data

Those roles can be changed – except TEMPPO Super user.

13.6.1Functions to be applied to a role

An "X" means that it can be (de)activated for a role.

		Right						
Application	Function	New / Execute	Change	Delete	Read	ownership	Consider user	Comment
ТЕМРРО								
Administrator	Administrate locks	Х						
	Administrate projects	Х	Х	Х	Х			
	Administrate roles	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Change includes assignment of roles to users
	Administrate test structures				Х			
	Administrate test suites				Х		Х	
	Assign Requirements	Х		Х				
	Assign Test category	Х		Х				
	Assign Test level	Х		Х				
	Assign UDA	Х		Х				
	Assign Uploads	Х		Х				
	Assign User Fields	Х		Х				
	Consistency checker	Х						
	Freeze Test Structure	Х						
	Freeze Test Suite	Х						
	Move ownership	Х						
	Unfreeze Test Structure	Х						
	Unfreeze Test Suite	Х						
	Unlock test suites	Х						
Administrator	Dequiremente	v	v	v	v	v	v	
meladata		X V		X V	X	X V	X	
	l est categories	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	

User Manual Edition January 2014

	Test levels	Х	X	Х	Х	X	X	
	Uploads	X	X	X	X	X	X	
	User fields	X	X	X	X	X	X	
	User defined attributes	X	X	X	X	X	X	
TEMPPO Test								
structure	Apply requirement updates	Х						
								Read test structure means any version, not only
	Edit	Х	Х			Х		main/LATEST
	Export	Х						
	Import	Х						
	JUnit Interface	Х						
	Unlock items	Х					Х	Test structure root, TP, TC
TEMPPO Test package	Assign requirements	Х		Х				
	Assign test categories	Х						
	Edit	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	
								Consider User: deleting requirement assignment is
TEMPPO Test case	Assign requirements	Х		Х				only allowed if user is TC editor
	Assign test level	Х		Х				
	Assign test case attributes	Х		Х				
	Edit	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Consider User concerns only the deleting
								Consider User: merging to main/LATEST is only
	Merge	Х					Х	allowed if user is editor of main/LATEST version
TEMPPO Test suite	Assign test suite attributes	Х		Х				
								Delete is only allowed, if test suite has no test
	Edit	Х	Х			Х		results
	Export	Х						
	Export To Doors	Х						
	Import	Х						
	Remove from export	v						
		X					V	
	Unlock exported test suite	X					X	
	Unlock items	X					X	
TEMPPO Test result	Assign test result attributes	X		Х				
	Edit	Х	Х					Implies "Run automated" and "Set results (multi)"

User Manual Edition January 2014

TEMPPO V6.1 Appendix

	Morgo actual execution							
	time	v						
TEMPPO Evaluation	Analyse	X						
	Analyse by bug ID	X						
	Creation progress	× ×						
	Evolution progress							
	Dereanal report cotting		V	V	V	V		
	Personal report setting	 	 	^ V	 	^ V		
	Project report setting	X	X	X	X	X		
	Report	X						
	Requirement analysis	Х						
TEMPPO Requirement								
Manager	Export to XML	Х						
	Import from CSV	Х						
	Import from RM Tool	Х						
	Import from XML	Х						
	Open	Х						
	Requirement	Х	Х	Х	Х			
	Requirement Structure	Х	Х					
	Split	Х						
	Update	Х						
	Versions	Х						
TEMPPO Others	Multi Selection	Х						
	Сору	Х						
	Copy All	Х						
	Export / Import filter	Х						
	Filter	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		New implies applying a filter
	Order	Х					Х	
	Task list	Х	Х	Х	Х			
	Versions	Х	Х	Х				

13.7 UAI Adapters

An adapter is used to convert the results returned from an automation tool into a format, which can be processed by TEMPPO. Currently 2 adapters are provided.

13.7.1CDefaultAutoToolAdapter

The result string returned after a test case has been executed must have following format:

```
line 1 result=(passed|failed|blocked|not implemented|on hold)
line 2 summary_begin
....
....
line n summary end
```

13.7.2CAPOXIAdapter

Taken from APOXI user's guide:

"After finishing the test, an exit code is returned to the client, which is 1 if the test was successful, 2 if the test failed and 3 if the test was not completed. Additionally, the client gets also a string, which contains the detailed test result (passed/failed, number of errors and warnings)."

13.7.3How to implement an adapter

13.7.3.1 Classes

temppo.test.tools.adapters



Figure 381: Class diagram of an adapter implementation

Interface: temppo.test.tools.adapters.IAutoToolAdapter

An adapter must implement this interface.

public IResult getResult(Reader returnedFromAutoTool) throws Exception This method is called during test execution for each test case. Via returnedFromAutoTool the adapter must extract the result and return it as an IResult implementation.

```
Interface: temppo.test.tools.IResult
```

The result returned by the

adapter must implement this interface.

```
public int getResult()
```

Must return one of following results (defined in IResult): PASSED, FAILED, BLOCKED, NOT_EXECUTED, NOT_COMPLETED, NOT_IMPLEMENTED, ON_HOLD

public String getSummary

Must return the summary for the test result.

13.7.3.2 Code Snippet

The code snippet below can be used as body for an adapter implementation. It has to extended by parsing the result handed over from the automation tool:

```
package ext;
import java.io.Reader;
import temppo.test.tools.adapters.IAutoToolAdapter;
import temppo.test.tools.adapters.IResult;
/**
 * Implementation of adapter for universial automation interface.
 * /
public class MyAdapter implements IAutoToolAdapter {
 public IResult getResult (Reader returnFromAutoTool) throws Exception {
    Result ret = new Result();
    /*
   TODO: add parsing of returnFromAutoTool here and set result and summary
    Example:
    // use buffered reader to process returnFromAutoTool line per line
    BufferedReader br = new BufferedReader(returnFromAutoTool);
    // read all lines and search for result and summary
    String line = null;
    StringBuffer summary = new StringBuffer();
    while ((line = br.readLine()) != null) {
      if (line.startsWith("Result: ")) {
        // process result here
        if (line.equals("Result: FAILED")) {
          ret.result = IResult.FAILED;
        } else if (line.equals("Result: PASSED")) {
          ret.result = IResult.PASSED;
```

```
} else {
      // rest is for summary
      summary.append(line);
      summary.append(System.getProperty("line.separator"));
  ret.summary = summary.toString();
 return ret;
}
/**
 * Implementation of result interface.
 * /
class Result implements IResult {
  String summary = "";
  int result = BLOCKED;
  public String getSummary() {
   return summary;
  }
 public int getResult() {
    return result;
  }
}
```

13.7.3.3 Implementation and integration steps

1. Create following subdirectories in your TEMPPO installation directory

```
%INSTDIR%\dev\src\ext
%INSTDIR%\dev\bin
```

- 2. Create the file %INSTDIR%\dev\src\ext\MyAdapter.java and implement the adapter.
- For compilation a JDK 1.5 is needed. Execute following command in %INSTDIR%\dev:

javac -classpath ...lib

\temppo.jar -d bin src

kMyAdapter.java

4. Pack the adapter into a jar file. Execute following command in %INSTDIR%\dev:

```
jar -cf adapter.jar -C bin ext
```

5. Add adapter.jar to the classpath for TEMPPO and TEMPPO Administrator via extending common.classpath in %INSTDIR%\launcher.properties:

```
lib\\temppo.jar;lib\\lib.jar;lib\\commons-codec.jar;\
lib\\commons-httpclient.jar;lib\\commons-logging.jar;\
lib\\commons-cli.jar;lib\\junit.jar;lib\\registry.jar;\
lib\\sqljdbc.jar;lib\\oracle.jar;lib\\pgjdbc.jar;\
```

lib\\jcommon.jar;lib\\jfreechart.jar;dev\\adapter.jar

- 6. The adapter is now available in TEMPPO Administrator for Universal
- 7. Socket configuration.
- 8. For configuration of UniversalFile, admin.properties has to be adapted:

automation.UniversalFile.adapter=ext.MyAdapter

14 Index

Α

Administration Database Connection 234, 239 Database Migration 238 User Management 235, 243 Analysis 94 Bug ID (project) 101 Bug ID (test suite) 102 Previous test suites 96 Requirement analysis based on several test suites 110 several test suites 105 Several test suites 104 Apply 180 Attribute 10 activation 174 customize See Metadata, Attributes

В

Baseline 10

С

Command Line 291

D

Database connection See Administration, Database Connection, See Administration, Database Connection Discard 180

Ε

Evaluation 8, 94 Excel import Test Cases 22, 33 Execution progress Standard 105 Export test suite to DOORS 199

F

Filter 188 change 190 criterion 192 delete 191 Edit filter criterion 194 export 195 import 195 Predefined 188 Find and Replace 177 Freeze, unfreeze 262

Η

Hyperlink Download an upload 167 Edit 167 existing upload 162 File 161 new upload 162 Remove 167 to description 160 to fields of test case in test suite 160 to instruction, expected, input 160 to precondition 160 to test goal 160 to to postcondition 160 Web 161 Hyperlinks and Uploads 160

I

Implementation Phase 8 Import

Characters from other fonts 199 from Excel 22, 33

J

JUnit 266 Test execution 280 Update 275

Κ

Keyboard Quick navigation 49

L

LDAP 244 License Server See Administration, License Server Connection Locks 263 Find 135 Login with password 237

Μ

Main Window 13 Merge Multi selection of changed TPs and TCs 150 Multi selection of unchanged TPs and TCs 145 Metadata 247 Attributes 250 copy 177 Requirement Structure 254 Test Categories *See Metadata, Test Categories* Test Levels 248 Uploads 253 User Field 257 Migration *See Administration, Database Migration* Move ownership 176 Multi selection Delete 158 Move ownership 157 Multi selection mode 139 Multi user ability 134

Ν

Newsboard 180

Ρ

Plug-ins 293 Progress charts 102 Creation 102 Execution 104 Requirement analysis based on several test suites 110 Project 11 copy 260 create 11, 258 open 12 properties 12 Test case template 169 Projects 258 Assign metadata 260 delete 260 Freeze, unfreeze 262 Move ownership 261 Test Result template 173

R

Refresh 138 recursively 138 Reload whole tree 138 Report Export to XML 133 Import from XML / trp file 134 Import Templates 133 New 114 Several test suites 124 Templates 133 Reports 113 Chart Settings 128 General Settings 115 preview 129 samples 131 save 129 Textual Settings 117 Requirement Analysis 97 delete 36 Test package 35, 37 **Requirement Structure**

activation 175 Requirements Import 10 Roles 240 Predefined 302

S

Settings 211 Bugzilla 230 Change 232 Change Management 229 Clearquest 231 Global 211 JUnit 226 QuickTestPro 224 Ranorex 228 TEMPPO Designer 227 TEMPPO Test Manager 212 Test Automation settings 220 TestPartner 225 UAI 222

Т

Task lists 209 TEMPPO Administrator 239 LDAP 244 License Server Connection 264 Locks 263 Metadata 247 Projects 258 Requirement structures 254 Roles 240 Uploads 253 **TEMPPO** Designer Restore designed test cases 290 TEMPPO Manager 234 Test Automation Ranorex 55 Universal Automation Interface (UAI) 56 WinRunner, Quicktest Professional, SilkTest, TestPartner 53 Test Automation settings 220 Test case Additional test levels 41 Attributes TR 78 Execution History 45 Link Requirements 35 Set test results 159 Tab History 42 Tab Plan 44 Unlink requirement 36 Test Case 5, 77, 78 Adding more columns 49 attribute 5 Compare 186 design 38 Import from Word 19 Merge 87 Postconditions 46 Preconditions 46 results 74 tab Attributes 39 tab Automated 52

tab General 39 Tab Requirement 42 tab Test Steps 47 Test Case Execution 8, 58 Test Case Implementation 46 Test case template 169 Filter 173 Test Categories See Test Package, categorize customize See Metadata, Test Categories Test Creation Assistant 48 Test Design 7, 10 Test execution add test package 88 Test Execution 75 add test case 88 automated 83 continue 85, 89 finish 90 manual 73 start 59 Test Level 7 customize See Metadata, Test Levels Test Package 7 categorize 30 create 27 Test Plan 7 Test Planning 7, 9 Test Result template 173 Test step Copy Upload 51 Delete Upload 51 Paste Upload 51 Pictures in columns 51 Reference to Upload 51 Upload 51 Uploads 51 Test Step See Test Case, tab Test Steps results 73 Test structure delete 260

Extend 27 Freeze, unfreeze 262 Transfer 26 Transfer to other database 26 Version 15 XML export 195 XML update 195 Test Structure 7, 13 create 13 generate test cases 19 generate test packages 16 import RTF document 16, 24 open 15 properties 13, 15 reopen 16 Test suite based on a predescessor 67 Based on previous results 72 copy 71 delete 260 Export 197 Freeze, unfreeze 262 Import 92, 198 tab Attributes 66 tab Details 66 **Test Suite** 8, 78 create 59 Tools TEMPPO Designer (IDATG) 285

U

User Management See Administration, User Management, See Administration, User Management

V

Versioning 182